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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including the following:
•
•
•
•

certain statements, including possible or assumed future results of operations, in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations”;
any statements regarding the prospects for our business or any of our services;
any statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words “may,” “will,” “should,” “seeks,” “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,”
“intends,” “continue,” “estimate,” “plans,” “future,” “targets,” “predicts,” “budgeted,” “projections,” “outlooks,” “attempts,” “is scheduled,” or
similar expressions; and
other statements regarding matters that are not historical facts.

Our business and results of operations are subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our ability to control or predict. Because of these risks
and uncertainties, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements, and investors are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on such statements, which speak only as of the date thereof. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our
expectations and may adversely affect our business and results of operations, include, but are not limited to, those items described herein or set forth in Item
1A. “Risk Factors” appearing in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 and this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2018. Unless otherwise noted in this report, any description of "us," "we," or "our," refers to StarTek, Inc. ("STARTEK") and its
subsidiaries.

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2018

Revenue

$

2017

69,114

$

77,652

Warrant contra revenue

(2,500)

Net revenue

66,614

77,652

Cost of services

61,156

67,638

Gross profit

5,458

10,014

Selling, general and administrative expenses

8,558

7,882

Transaction related fees

1,887

—

Impairment losses and restructuring charges, net

4,453

Operating income (loss)

(9,440)

Interest and other expense, net

(438)

Income (loss) before income taxes

(9,878)

Income tax expense (benefit)

148

Net income (loss)

$

(10,026) $

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

—

—
2,132
(367)
1,765
(28)
1,793
1

Foreign currency translation adjustments

137

Change in fair value of derivative instruments

(900)

Comprehensive income (loss)

$

Net income (loss) per common share - basic

$

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic

(10,789) $
(0.62) $
16,195

Net income (loss) per common share - diluted

$

Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted

(0.62) $
16,195

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(14)
446
2,225
0.11
15,815
0.11
16,995

STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)
March 31,

December 31,

2018

2017

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Trade accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets

1,196

$

53,052

2,166

2,351

591

Total current assets

$

Property, plant and equipment, net

1,456

54,087

58,040

1,290
$

58,149

17,508

19,943

Intangible assets, net

2,993

5,557

Goodwill

9,077

9,077

Other long-term assets

3,533

3,272

Total assets

$

91,151

$

95,998

$

6,589

$

7,019

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities:
Accrued employee compensation and benefits
Other accrued liabilities
Other current debt
Other current liabilities

10,217

12,850

3,157

2,105

2,556

2,725

1,553

Total current liabilities

$

Line of credit
Other debt
Other liabilities

24,072

1,249
$

24,720

19,078

2,482

3,128

775

Total liabilities

$

Commitments and contingencies

25,948

52,049

905
$

—

49,059
—

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, 32,000,000 non-convertible shares, $0.01 par value, authorized; 16,207,297 and
16,175,351 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively

$

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit

162

$

162

85,547

82,594

621

1,384

(47,228)

(37,201)

Total stockholders’ equity

$

39,102

$

46,939

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

91,151

$

95,998

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2018

2017

Operating Activities
Net income (loss)

$

(10,026) $

1,793

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

2,643

Impairment losses

3,386

—

262

229

2,500

—

Share-based compensation expense
Warrant contra revenue

2,962

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable

(1,001)

Prepaid expenses and other assets

5,545

88

Accounts payable

(214)

326

Accrued and other liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

18

(1,796)

(3,150)

(3,618)

7,183

Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of assets

—

342

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

(1,944)

(1,113)

Net cash used in investing activities

(1,944)

(771)

Financing Activities
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock
Proceeds from line of credit
Principal payments on line of credit
Principal payments on other debt
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

190

98

83,532

79,675

(77,890)

(84,980)

(733)

(868)

5,099

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

(6,075)

203

(12)

(260)

325

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

$

1,456

$

1,039

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

1,196

$

1,364

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2018
(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America ("GAAP") for interim financial information and instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not
include all information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. These financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting only
of normal recurring entries, except as noted) which, in the opinion of management, are necessary for fair presentation. Operating results for the three months
ended March 31, 2018 are not necessarily indicative of operating results that may be expected during any other interim period of 2018 or the year ending
December 31, 2018.
The consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017, included herein was derived from the audited financial statements as of that date, but does not
include all disclosures including notes required by GAAP. As such, the information included in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2017.
Unless otherwise noted in this report, any description of "us," "we," or "our," refers to StarTek, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Financial information in this report is
presented in U.S. dollars.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts included in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of
revisions are reflected in the period they are determined to be necessary.
Revenue Recognition
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, (Topic 606). Topic 606 replaces
numerous industry specific requirements and converges the accounting guidance on revenue recognition with International Financial Reporting Standards 15
(IFRS 15). Topic 606 utilizes a five-step process, for revenue recognition that focuses on transfer of control, rather than transfer of risks and rewards. It also
provided additional guidance on accounting for contract acquisition and fulfillment costs.
For more information, refer to Note 12, "Revenue Recognition."
Common Stock Warrant Accounting
We account for common stock warrants as equity instruments, based on the specific terms of our warrant agreement. For more information, refer to Note 13,
"Warrants."
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2018-02, Income Statement - Reporting
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220) (“ASU 2018-02”), Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, which
allows for stranded tax effects in accumulated other comprehensive income resulting from the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act to be reclassified to retained
earnings. The guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted.
We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting the new standard.
In August 2017, FASB issued ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) ("ASU 2017-12"), Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging
Activities. The amendments in this ASU better align an entity’s risk management activities and financial reporting for hedging relationships through changes
to both the designation and measurement guidance for qualifying
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hedging relationships and the presentation of hedge results. To meet that objective, the amendments expand and refine hedge accounting for both nonfinancial
and financial risk components and align the recognition and presentation of the effects of the hedging instrument and the hedged item in the financial
statements. The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim reporting periods within those annual
reporting periods. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2017-12 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In July 2017, FASB issued a two-part ASU, No. 2017-11, I. Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Features and II. Replacement of
the Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable
Noncontrolling Interests with a Scope Exception ("ASU 2017-11"). Part I of this ASU addresses the complexity of accounting for certain financial instruments
with down round features. Down round features are features of certain equity-linked instruments (or embedded features) that result in the strike price being
reduced on the basis of the pricing of future equity offerings. Current accounting guidance creates cost and complexity for entities that issue financial
instruments (such as warrants and convertible instruments) with down round features that require fair value measurement of the entire instrument or
conversion option. Part II of this ASU addresses the difficulty of navigating Topic 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, because of the existence of
extensive pending content in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification®. This pending content is the result of the indefinite deferral of accounting
requirements about mandatorily redeemable financial instruments of certain nonpublic entities and certain mandatorily redeemable noncontrolling interests.
The ASU is effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. For all
other organizations, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2020. In conjunction with the Amazon transaction agreement, we adopted this ASU for the first quarter of 2018. Adoption resulted in treatment
of the warrants as equity in our consolidated financial statements.
In May 2017, FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) ("ASU 2017-09"), Scope of Modification Accounting. The
amendments in this ASU provide guidance about which changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply
modification accounting in Topic 718. An entity should account for the effects of a modification unless all the following are met: 1. The fair value of the
modified award is the same as the fair value of the original award immediately before the original award is modified. If the modification does not affect any
of the inputs to the valuation technique that the entity uses to value the award, the entity is not required to estimate the value immediately before and after the
modification; 2. The vesting conditions of the modified award are the same as the vesting conditions of the original award immediately before the original
award is modified; and 3. The classification of the modified award as an equity instrument or a liability instrument is the same as the classification of the
original award immediately before the original award is modified. The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017,
including interim reporting periods within those annual reporting periods. We adopted this ASU for the first quarter of 2018. A modification to the sharebased payment award plan also occurred during the first quarter of 2018; modification accounting was not required because the the modification to the plan
did not result in a material impact to our consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) ("ASU 2017-04"), Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment.
To simplify the subsequent measurement of goodwill, the amendments eliminate Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. The annual, or interim, goodwill
impairment test is performed by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An impairment charge should be recognized for the
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill
allocated to that reporting unit. In addition, income tax effects from any tax-deductible goodwill on the carrying amount of the reporting unit should be
considered when measuring the goodwill impairment loss, if applicable. The guidance is effective for annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates
after January 1, 2017. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 2017-04 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In October 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-16, Income Taxes (Topic 740) ("ASU 2016-16"), Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory. The
purpose of ASU 2016-16 is to simplify the income tax accounting of an intra-entity transfer of an asset other than inventory and to record its effect when the
transfer occurs. The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within those
annual reporting periods and early adoption is permitted. We adopted this ASU for the first quarter of 2018; since there have been no intra-entity transfers of
assets, there has been no impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In June 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) ("ASU 2016-13"), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments. The standard significantly changes how entities will measure credit losses for most
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financial assets and certain other instruments that aren't measured at fair value through net income. The standard will replace today's "incurred loss" approach
with an "expected loss" model for instruments measured at amortized cost. For available-for-sale debt securities, entities will be required to record allowances
rather than reduce the carrying amount, as they do today under the other-than-temporary impairment model. It also simplifies the accounting model for
purchased credit-impaired debt securities and loans. This ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods therein.
Early adoption is permitted for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods therein. We do not expect the adoption of ASU 201613 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”). These amendments require the recognition of lease assets and lease
liabilities on the balance sheet by lessees for those leases currently classified as operating leases under ASC 840 “Leases”. These amendments also require
qualitative disclosures along with specific quantitative disclosures. These amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018,
including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early application is permitted. Entities are required to apply the amendments at the beginning of the
earliest period presented using a modified retrospective approach. We are currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2016-02 will have on our
consolidated financial statements, and we anticipate that adoption of ASU 2016-02 will have an impact to the financial statement presentation of right of use
asset, lease liability, amortization expense, and lease expense.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) ("ASU 2014-09"). ASU 2014-09 amends the guidance for
revenue recognition to replace numerous, industry-specific requirements and converges areas under this topic with those of the International Financial
Reporting Standards. The ASU implements a five-step process for customer contract revenue recognition that focuses on transfer of control, as opposed to
transfer of risk and rewards. The amendment also requires enhanced disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash
flows from contracts with customers. Other major provisions include the capitalization and amortization of certain contract costs, ensuring the time value of
money is considered in the transaction price, and allowing estimates of variable consideration to be recognized before contingencies are resolved in certain
circumstances. The amendments in this ASU are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Entities can transition to the standard
either retrospectively or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. We have completed our assessment of the impact of Topic 606 and have
concluded that our historical revenue recognition practices are in compliance with the new standard. However, we have included additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosures about our revenues as is required by Topic 606. We will utilize the Modified Retrospective transition method. Please refer to Note 12
"Revenue Recognition" for additional information.
2. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill
Total goodwill of $9,077 is assigned to our Domestic segment. We perform a goodwill impairment analysis at least annually (in the fourth quarter of each
year) unless indicators of impairment exist in interim periods. We performed a quantitative assessment to determine whether it was more likely than not that
the fair value of the Domestic reporting unit exceeded its carrying value. In making this assessment, we evaluated overall business and economic conditions
as well as expectations of projected revenues and cash flows, assumptions impacting the weighted average cost of capital and overall global industry and
market conditions.
In 2017, we concluded that goodwill was not impaired. No indicators of impairment exist as of March 31, 2018.
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Intangible Assets
In February, we notified our RN's on Call clients that we would no longer be providing service after March. As a result, we fully impaired the remaining
customer relationship asset of $181.
In March, Sprint indicated their intent to wind down their business with us by June 2018. Accordingly, we recorded an impairment charge of $2,098 related to
the customer relationship asset.
The following table presents our intangible assets as of March 31, 2018.

Gross
Intangibles
Developed technology

$

390

Accumulated
Amortization
$

244

Impairment
$

—

Net Intangibles
$

Weighted
Average
Amortization
Period
(years)

146

2.25

Customer relationships

7,550

2,949

2,279

2,322

3.11

Trade names

1,050

525

—

525

2.34

2,993

2.93

$

8,990

$

3,718

$

2,279

$

Expected future amortization of intangible assets as of March 31, 2018 is as follows:
Year Ending December 31,
Remainder of 2018

Amount
$

524

2019

691

2020

688

2021

564

2022

422

Thereafter

104

3. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed based on our weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is
computed based on our weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the effect of dilutive stock options, non-vested restricted stock, and
deferred stock units, using the treasury stock method.
When a net loss is reported, potentially issuable common shares are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share as their effect would be antidilutive.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted shares for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2018
Shares used in basic earnings per share calculation:

2017
16,195

15,815

Stock options

—

1,085

Restricted stock/Deferred stock units

—

95

—

1,180

16,195

16,995

Effect of dilutive securities:

Total effects of dilutive securities
Shares used in dilutive earnings per share calculation:
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The following shares were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise price exceeded the value of the shares, or we
reported a net loss, and the effect would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2018

2017

Anti-dilutive securities:
Stock options
Restricted stock/Deferred stock units
Total anti-dilutive securities

2,311

10

55

—

2,366
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4. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND RESTRUCTURING CHARGES
Impairment Losses
During the first quarter of 2018, we closed our facility in Colorado Springs, Colorado. The closure resulted in an impairment loss of $1.1 million related to
the disposal of certain assets, primarily leasehold improvements.
In February, we notified our RN's on Call clients that we would no longer be providing service after March. As a result, we fully impaired the remaining
customer relationship asset of $181.
In March, Sprint indicated their intent to wind down their business with us by June 2018. Accordingly, we recorded an impairment charge of $2,098 related to
the customer relationship asset.
Restructuring Charges
The table below summarizes the balance of accrued restructuring costs, which is included in other accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets, and
the changes during the three months ended March 31, 2018:
Facility-Related and Employee-Related Costs
Domestic
Balance as of January 1, 2018

Nearshore

Offshore

Total

$

9

$

—

$

—

$

9

Expense (Reversal)

$

859

$

31

$

177

$

1,067

Payments

$

(151)

$

(31)

$

(11)

$

(193)

$

717

$

—

$

166

$

883

Balance as of March 31, 2018
Domestic Segment

In conjunction with the Colorado Springs closure, we established restructuring reserves for employee related costs of $43 when employees were notified and
facility related costs of $346 at the time the facilities were vacated. We expect to pay these expenses over the remainder of the lease term, through third
quarter 2019.
In the first quarter 2018. we eliminated a number of positions under a company-wide restructuring plan. We established reserves for employee related costs of
$320 for our Domestic segment. We recognized employee related expense as incurred of $149 for our Domestic segment in March 2018, and we expect to
pay the remaining costs by the end of second quarter 2018.
Nearshore Segment
In the first quarter 2018, we eliminated a number of positions under a company-wide restructuring plan. We recognized employee related expense as incurred
of $31 for our Nearshore segment in March 2018. All payments were complete by end of the first quarter 2018.
Offshore Segment
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In the first quarter 2018. we eliminated a number of positions under a company-wide restructuring plan. We recognized employee related expense as incurred
of $29 for our Offshore segment in March 2018. All payments were complete by end of the first quarter 2018.
In February 2018, we vacated a portion of the space under lease at our Angeles location in the Philippines, and established reserves for facilities related costs
of $166, offset by a reduction in facilities expense of ($18) upon reconciliation of the outstanding long and short term liabilities related to the lease. We expect
to pay these costs by the end of third quarter 2018.
5. PRINCIPAL CLIENTS
The following table represents revenue concentration of our principal clients:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2018
Revenue

2017

Percentage

Revenue

Percentage

T-Mobile

$ 18,188

27.3% $ 22,054

28.4%

Comcast

$

8,629

13.0% $

3,802

4.9%

AT&T

$

5,070

7.6% $

8,647

11.1%

Sprint

$

2,808

4.2% $ 10,256

13.2%

We enter into master service agreements (MSAs) that cover all of our work for each client. These MSAs are typically multi-year contracts that include autorenewal provisions. They typically do not include contractual minimum volumes and are generally terminable by the customer or us with prior written notice.
To limit credit risk, management performs periodic credit analyses and maintains allowances for uncollectible accounts as deemed necessary. Under certain
circumstances, management may require clients to pre-pay for services. As of March 31, 2018, management believes reserves are appropriate and does not
believe that any significant credit risk exists.
We have entered into factoring agreements with financial institutions to sell certain of our accounts receivable under non-recourse agreements. These
transactions are accounted for as a reduction in accounts receivable because the agreements transfer effective control over and risk related to the receivables
to the buyers. We do not service any factored accounts after the factoring has occurred. We utilize factoring arrangements as part of our financing for
working capital. The aggregate gross amount factored under these agreements was $8,749 and $28,742 for the three months ended March 31, 2018, and
March 31, 2017, respectively.
6. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
We use derivatives to partially offset our business exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. We enter into foreign currency forward and option contracts to
hedge our anticipated operating commitments that are denominated in foreign currencies, including forward contracts and range forward contracts (a
transaction where both a call option is purchased and a put option is sold). The contracts cover periods commensurate with expected exposure, generally three
to twelve months. The market risk exposure is essentially limited to risk related to currency rate movements. We operate in Canada, Jamaica, and the
Philippines, where the functional currencies are the Canadian dollar, the Jamaican dollar, and the Philippine peso, respectively, which are used to pay labor
and other operating costs in those countries. We provide funds for these operating costs as our client contracts generate revenues, which are paid in U.S.
dollars. In Honduras, our functional currency is the U.S. dollar and the majority of our costs are denominated in U.S. dollars. We have elected to designate our
derivatives as cash flow hedges in order to associate the results of the hedges with forecasted expenses.
Unrealized gains and losses are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (“AOCI”) and will be re-classified to
operations as the forecasted expenses are incurred, typically within one year. During the three months ended March 31, 2018
and 2017, our cash flow hedges were highly effective and hedge ineffectiveness was not material.
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The following table shows the notional amount of our foreign exchange cash flow hedging instruments as of March 31, 2018:
Local Currency
Notional Amount

Canadian Dollar
Philippine Peso

11,400

U.S. Dollar Notional
Amount

$

8,875

1,424,000

27,066
$

35,941

Derivative assets and liabilities associated with our hedging activities are measured at gross fair value as described in Note 7, "Fair Value Measurements," and
are included in the Other current assets and Other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets, respectively.
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy requires that the Company maximize the use
of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.
Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and
model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market.
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that cannot be supported by market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the asset, liability, or equity
such as the use of certain pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques that use significant assumptions. These unobservable
inputs reflect our own estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
Derivative Instruments
The values of our derivative instruments are derived from pricing models using inputs based upon market information, including contractual terms, market
prices and yield curves. The inputs to the valuation pricing models are observable in the market, and as such the derivatives are classified as Level 2 in the
fair value hierarchy.
The following tables set forth our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair value hierarchy. These balances are
included in Other current assets and Other current liabilities, respectively, on our balance sheet.

As of March 31, 2018
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets:
Foreign exchange contracts
Total fair value of assets measured on a recurring basis

$

—

$

157

$

—

$

157

$

—

$

157

$

—

$

157

$

—

$

604

$

—

$

604

$

—

$

604

$

—

$

604

Liabilities:
Foreign exchange contracts
Total fair value of liabilities measured on a recurring basis
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As of December 31, 2017
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Assets:
Foreign exchange contracts
Total fair value of assets measured on a recurring basis

$

—

$

566

$

—

$

566

$

—

$

566

$

—

$

566

$

—

$

175

$

—

$

175

$

—

$

175

$

—

$

175

Liabilities:
Foreign exchange contracts
Total fair value of liabilities measured on a recurring basis
8. DEBT
Secured Revolving Credit Facility
On April 29, 2015, we entered into a secured revolving credit facility with BMO Harris Bank N.A. ("Administrative Agent" or "Lender"); subsequently we
entered into amendments one through four (collectively, the "Credit Agreement"). The Credit Agreement is effective through March 2022 and we may borrow
the lesser of the borrowing base calculation and $50,000. As long as no default has occurred and with the Administrative Agent’s consent, we may increase
the maximum availability to $70,000 in $5,000 increments. We may request letters of credit under the Credit Agreement in an aggregate amount equal to the
lesser of the borrowing base calculation (minus outstanding advances) and $5,000. The borrowing base is generally defined as 85% of our eligible accounts
receivable less certain reserves as defined in the Credit Agreement.
Our borrowings bear interest at one-month LIBOR plus 1.50% to 1.75%, depending on current availability. We will pay letter of credit fees equal to the
applicable margin times the daily maximum amount available to be drawn under all letters of credit outstanding and a monthly unused fee at a rate per annum
of 0.25% on the aggregate unused commitment. As of March 31, 2018, outstanding letters of credit totaled $893.
The Credit Agreement contains standard affirmative and negative covenants that may limit or restrict our ability to sell assets, incur additional indebtedness
and engage in mergers and acquisitions. We are required to maintain a minimum consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.00:1.00, if a reporting trigger
period commences. We were in compliance with applicable covenants as of March 31, 2018.
As of March 31, 2018, we had $24,720 of outstanding borrowings and our remaining borrowing capacity was $18,618.
Other Debt
From time to time and when management believes it to be advantageous, we may enter into other arrangements to finance the purchase or construction of
capital assets. These obligations are included on our consolidated balance sheets in other current debt and other debt, as applicable.
9. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Our share-based compensation arrangements include grants of stock options, restricted stock units and deferred stock units under the StarTek, Inc. 2008
Equity Incentive Plan and our Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The compensation expense that has been charged against income for such awards for the three
months ended March 31, 2018 was $262, and for the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $229, and is included in selling, general and administrative
expenses. As of March 31, 2018, there was $697 of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested awards, which is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 1.78 years.
10. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (AOCI)
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Accumulated other comprehensive income consisted of the following items:
Foreign Currency
Translation
Adjustment
$

Balance at December 31, 2017

1,971

Derivatives
Accounted for as
Cash Flow Hedges
$

(1,441)

Defined Benefit
Plan
$

854

Total
$

1,384

Foreign currency translation

137

—

—

Reclassification to operations

—

(88)

—

(88)

(812)

—

(812)

Unrealized gains
$

Balance at March 31, 2018

2,108

$

(2,341)

$

854

137

$

621

Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows:
Details about AOCI components

Affected line item in the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income

Amount reclassified from AOCI
Three Months Ended March 31,
2018

2017

Losses on cash flow hedges
Foreign exchange contracts

$

Foreign exchange contracts
Total reclassifications for the period

(24)

$

134

(64)
$

(88)

10
$

Cost of services
Selling, general and administrative expenses

144

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION
We operate our business within three reportable segments based on the geographic regions in which our services are rendered. As of March 31, 2018, our
Domestic segment included the operations of twelve facilities in the U.S. and one facility in Canada. Our Offshore segment included the operations of four
facilities in the Philippines and our Nearshore segment included two facilities in Honduras and one facility in Jamaica.
We primarily evaluate segment operating performance in each reporting segment based on revenue and gross profit. Certain operating expenses are not
allocated to each reporting segment; therefore, we do not present income statement information by reporting segment below the gross profit level.
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Information about our reportable segments for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:
For the Three Months Ended March 31,
2018

2017

Revenue:
Domestic

$

41,587

Offshore

18,166

Nearshore

9,361

Total

$

44,363
21,123
12,166

$

69,114

$

77,652

$

2,527

$

1,509

Gross profit:
Domestic
Offshore
Nearshore
Total

$

Warrant Contra Revenue*

5,296

6,175

135

2,330

7,958

$

10,014

$

10,014

(2,500)
$

Total

5,458

—

* We did not allocate warrant contra revenue related to the Amazon agreement to the reportable segments. Allocation to reportable segments would have
resulted in distortion of the gross margins of the segments.
12. REVENUE RECOGNITION
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, (Topic 606). Topic 606 replaces
numerous industry specific requirements and converges the accounting guidance on revenue recognition with International Financial Reporting Standards 15
(IFRS 15). Topic 606 utilizes a five-step process, for revenue recognition that focuses on transfer of control, rather than transfer of risks and rewards. It also
provided additional guidance on accounting for contract acquisition and fulfillment costs.
We have completed our assessment of the impact of Topic 606 and have concluded that our historical revenue recognition, contract acquisition cost, and
fulfillment cost practices are in compliance with the new standard. However, we have included additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures about our
revenues as is required by Topic 606.
Contracts with Customers
All of the Company's revenues are derived from written contracts with our customers. Generally speaking, our contracts document our customers' intent to
utilize our services and the relevant terms and conditions under which our services will be provided. Our contracts do not contain minimum purchase
requirements nor do they include termination penalties. Our customers may generally cancel our contract, without cause, upon written notice (generally ninety
days). While our contracts do have stated terms, because of the facts stated above, they are accounted for on a month-to-month basis.
Our contracts give us the right to bill for services rendered during the period, which for the majority of our customers is a calendar month, with a few
customers specifying a fiscal month.
Performance Obligations
We have identified one main performance obligation for which we invoice our customers, which is to stand ready to provide care services for our customers’
clients. A stand-ready obligation is a promise that a customer will have access to services as and when the customer decides to use them. Ours is considered a
stand-ready obligations because the delivery of the underlying service (that is, receiving customer contact and performing the associated care services) is
outside of our control or the control of our customer.
Our stand-ready obligation involves outsourcing of the entire customer care life cycle, including:
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•
•

The identification, operation, management and maintenance of facilities, IT equipment, and IT and telecommunications infrastructure
Management of the entire human resources function, including recruiting, hiring, training, supervising, evaluating, coaching, retaining,
compensating, providing employee benefits programs, and disciplinary activities

These activities are all considered an integral part of the production activities required in the service of standing ready to accept calls as they are directed to us
by our clients.
Revenue Recognition Methods
Because our customers receive and consume the benefit of our services as they are performed and we have the contractual right to invoice for services
performed to date, we have concluded that our performance obligation is satisfied over time. Accordingly, we recognize revenue for our services in the month
they are performed. This is consistent with our prior revenue recognition model.
According to our contracts, we are entitled to invoice for our services on a monthly basis. We invoice according to the hourly and/or per transaction rates
stated in the contract for the various activities we perform. Some contracts include opportunities to earn bonuses or include parameters under which we will
incur penalties related to performance in any given month. Bonus or penalty amounts are based on the current month’s performance. Formulas are included in
the contracts for calculation of any bonus or penalty. There is no other performance in future periods that will impact the bonus or penalty calculation in the
current period. We estimate the amount of the bonus or penalty using the “most likely amount” method and we apply this method consistently. The bonus or
penalty calculated is generally approved by the client prior to billing (and revenue being recognized).
Disaggregated Revenue
In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by primary geographical market, vertical, and timing of revenue recognition.
Reportable Segments March 31, 2018
Domestic

Offshore

Nearshore

Reportable Segments March 31, 2017

Total

Domestic

Offshore

Nearshore

Total

Major Service Lines:
Communications

24,848

14,613

5,391

44,852

31,362

18,896

9,049

59,307

Retail

5,982

2,655

2,122

10,759

7,233

1,738

1,055

10,026

Healthcare

5,377

456

48

5,881

2,914

225

162

3,301

Gov't Services

3,286

—

—

3,286

—

—

—

—

252

272

1,269

1,793

614

—

1,569

2,183

1,563

—

—

1,563

1,361

—

—

1,361

Technology
Financial
Other
Total

279

170

531

980

880

264

330

1,474

41,587

18,166

9,361

69,114

44,364

21,123

12,165

77,652

13. AMAZON TRANSACTION AGREEMENT
On January 23, 2018, we entered into a Transaction Agreement (the “Amazon Transaction Agreement”) with Amazon.com, Inc. (“Amazon”), pursuant to
which we agreed to issue to Amazon.com NV Investment Holdings LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Amazon (“NV Investment”), a warrant (the
“Warrant”) to acquire up to 4,000,000 shares (the “Warrant Shares”) of our common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Common Stock”), subject to certain
vesting events. We entered into the Amazon Transaction Agreement in connection with existing commercial arrangements between us and Amazon pursuant
to which we provide and will continue to provide commercial services to Amazon. The vesting of the Warrant shares, described below, is linked to payments
made by Amazon or its affiliates (directly or indirectly through third parties) pursuant to the existing commercial arrangements.
The first tranche of 425,532 Warrant Shares vested upon the execution of the Amazon Transaction Agreement. The remainder of the Warrant Shares will vest
based on Amazon’s payment of up to $600 million to us in connection with Amazon’s receipt of
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commercial services from us. The exercise price for all Warrant Shares will be $9.96 per share. The Warrant Shares are exercisable through January 23, 2026.
The Warrant provides for net share settlement that, if elected by the holders, will reduce the number of shares issued upon exercise to reflect net settlement of
the exercise price. The Warrant provides for certain adjustments that may be made to the exercise price and the number of shares of common stock issuable
upon exercise due to customary anti-dilution provisions based on future events. Vested Warrant Shares are classified as equity instruments.
Because the Warrant contains performance criteria (i.e. aggregate purchase levels) which Amazon must achieve for the Warrant Shares to vest, as detailed
above, the final measurement date for each tranche of the Warrant Shares is the date on which performance is completed. Prior to the final measurement date,
when achievement of the performance criteria has been deemed probable, a reduction in revenue equal to the percentage of completion to date will be
recognized. The fair value of the Warrant Shares will be adjusted at each reporting period until they are earned.
At March 31, 2018, the initial tranche of 425,532 Warrant Shares has vested. The amount of contra revenue attributed to these Warrant Shares is $2.5 million.
14. AEGIS TRANSACTION AGREEMENT
On March 14, 2018 we entered into a Transaction Agreement (the “Aegis Transaction Agreement”) with CSP Alpha Midco Pte Ltd, a Singapore private
limited company (“Aegis”), and CSP Alpha Holdings Parent Pte Ltd, a Singapore private limited company (the “Aegis Stockholder”) pursuant to which we,
Aegis and the Aegis Stockholder agreed to, among other things: (1) the sale of all of the issued and outstanding shares of the common stock of Aegis by the
Aegis Stockholder to us; (2) the issuance of 20,600,000 shares, as may be adjusted for stock splits, consolidation and other similar corporate events, of our
common stock in consideration of such sale; (3) the amendment of our Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended from time to time, in order to effect
such issuance; and (4) in addition to the transactions set forth above, the purchase at the closing of 833,333 additional shares of our common stock by the
Aegis Stockholder, for $10 million at a price of $12 per share, subject to adjustment as set forth in the Aegis Transaction Agreement.
Immediately following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Aegis Transaction Agreement, Aegis will become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of us and the Aegis Stockholder will hold approximately 55% of our outstanding common stock. We, Aegis and the Aegis Stockholder have each
agreed to customary representations, warranties and covenants in the Aegis Transaction Agreement and the transactions contemplated by the Aegis
Transaction Agreement are subject to approval by our stockholders as well as other specified closing conditions.
We expect this transaction to close during the third quarter of 2018.
ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and the related notes included
elsewhere in this report, as well as the financial and other information included in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
BUSINESS DESCRIPTION AND OVERVIEW
STARTEK is a customer engagement business process outsourcing (BPO) services provider, delivering customer care solutions in a different and more
meaningful way. We use “engagement” design principles vs. traditional contact center methods, resulting in added value services that create deeper customer
relationships through better customer insights and interactions for our clients. Our unique approach to Omni Channel design and service, training innovation,
and analytics, allows STARTEK to deliver full life-cycle care solutions through our engagement centers around the world. Our employees, whom we call
Brand Warriors, are at the forefront of our customer engagement services and represent our greatest asset. For over 30 years, STARTEK Brand Warriors have
been committed to enhancing the customer experience, providing higher value and making a positive impact for our clients’ business results.
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Our vision is to be the most trusted global service provider to customer-centric companies who are looking for more effective ways to engage their customers
on their terms and preferred channels with solutions that are not always available via traditional “contact center” companies.
The STARTEK Advantage System, the sum total of our customer engagement culture, customized solutions and processes, allows us to always remain
focused on enhancing our clients’ customer experience, increasing customer lifetime value and reducing total cost of ownership. STARTEK has proven
results for the multiple services we provide, including sales, order management and provisioning, customer care, technical support, receivables management
and retention programs. We service client programs using a variety of multi-channel customer interaction capabilities, including voice, chat, email, social
media, interactive voice response and back-office support.
We operate our business within three reportable segments based on the geographic regions in which our services are rendered. As of March 31, 2018, our
Domestic segment included the operations of twelve facilities in the U.S. and one facility in Canada. Our Offshore segment included the operations of four
facilities in the Philippines, and our Nearshore segment included two facilities in Honduras and one facility in Jamaica.
We seek to become the trusted partner to our clients and provide meaningful, impactful customer engagement BPO services. Our approach is to develop
relationships with our clients that are truly collaborative in nature where we are focused, flexible and proactive to their business needs. The end result is the
delivery of the highest quality customer experience to our clients’ customers. To achieve sustainable, predictable, profitable growth, our strategy is to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

grow our existing client base by deepening and broadening our relationships;
diversify our client base by adding new clients and verticals;
improve our market position by becoming the leader in customer engagement services;
improve profitability through operational improvements, increased utilization and higher margin accounts;
expand our global delivery platform to meet our clients' needs;
broaden our service offerings through more innovative, technology-enabled and added-value solutions; and
develop talent and plan for succession.
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SIGNIFICANT DEVELOPMENTS
Amazon Transaction Agreement
On January 23, 2018, we entered into a Transaction Agreement (the “Amazon Transaction Agreement”) with Amazon.com, Inc. (“Amazon”), pursuant to
which we agreed to issue to Amazon.com NV Investment Holdings LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Amazon (“NV Investment”), a warrant (the
“Warrant”) to acquire up to 4,000,000 shares (the “Warrant Shares”) of our common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Common Stock”), subject to certain
vesting events. We entered into the Amazon Transaction Agreement in connection with existing commercial arrangements between us and Amazon pursuant
to which we provide and will continue to provide commercial services to Amazon. The vesting of the Warrant shares is linked to payments made by Amazon
or its affiliates (directly or indirectly through third parties) pursuant to the existing commercial arrangements.
The first tranche of 425,532 Warrant Shares vested upon the execution of the Amazon Transaction Agreement. The remainder of the Warrant Shares will vest
based on Amazon’s payment of up to $600 million to us in connection with Amazon’s receipt of commercial services from us. The exercise price for all
Warrant Shares will be $9.96 per share. The Warrant Shares are exercisable through January 23, 2026.
The Warrant provides for net share settlement that, if elected by the holders, will reduce the number of shares issued upon exercise to reflect net settlement of
the exercise price. The Warrant provides for certain adjustments that may be made to the exercise price and the number of shares of common stock issuable
upon exercise due to customary anti-dilution provisions based on future events.
Aegis Transaction Agreement
On March 14, 2018 we entered into a Transaction Agreement (the “Aegis Transaction Agreement”) with CSP Alpha Midco Pte Ltd, a Singapore private
limited company (“Aegis”), and CSP Alpha Holdings Parent Pte Ltd, a Singapore private limited company (the “Aegis Stockholder”) pursuant to which we,
Aegis and the Aegis Stockholder agreed to, among other things: (1) the sale of all of the issued and outstanding shares of the common stock of Aegis by the
Aegis Stockholder to us; (2) the issuance of 20,600,000 shares, as may be adjusted for stock splits, consolidation and other similar corporate events, of our
common stock in consideration of such sale; (3) the amendment of our Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended from time to time, in order to effect
such issuance and the other transactions contemplated by the Aegis Transaction Agreement; and (4) in addition to the transactions set forth above, the
purchase at the closing of 833,333 additional shares of our common stock by the Aegis Stockholder, for $10 million at a price of $12 per share, subject to
adjustment as set forth in the Aegis Transaction Agreement.
Immediately following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Aegis Transaction Agreement, Aegis will become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of us and the Aegis Stockholder will hold approximately 55% of our outstanding common stock. We, Aegis and the Aegis Stockholder have each
agreed to customary representations, warranties and covenants in the Aegis Transaction Agreement and the transactions contemplated by the Aegis
Transaction Agreement (the "Aegis Transaction") are subject to specified closing conditions.
We expect this transaction to close during the third quarter of 2018.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS — THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2018 AND 2017
The following table summarizes our revenues and gross profit for the periods indicated by reporting segment:
For the Three Months Ended March 31,
2018
(in 000s)

2017
(% of Total)

(in 000s)

(% of Total)

Domestic:
Revenue

$

41,587

62.4 %

$

44,363

57.1%

Gross profit

$

2,527

31.8 %

$

1,509

15.1%

Gross profit %*

6.1%

3.4%

Offshore:
Revenue

$

18,166

27.3 %

$

21,123

27.2%

Gross profit

$

5,296

66.5 %

$

6,175

61.7%

Gross profit %*

29.2%

29.2%

Nearshore:
Revenue

$

9,361

14.1 %

$

12,166

15.7%

Gross profit

$

135

1.7 %

$

2,330

23.3%

Gross profit %*

1.4 %

19.2%

Company Total:
Gross Revenue

$

69,114

$

(2,500)

103.8 %

$

77,652

100.0%

(3.8)%

$

—

—%

Contra Revenue Adjustment:
Warrant Contra Revenue*
Gross profit %*

(3.8)%

—%

Company Total:
Net Revenue

$

66,614

100.0 %

$

77,652

100.0%

Gross Profit

$

5,458

100.0 %

$

10,014

100.0%

Gross profit %*
8.2 %
12.9%
* We did not allocate warrant contra revenue related to the Amazon agreement to the reportable segments. Allocation to reportable segments would have
resulted in distortion of the gross margins of the segments. Accordingly, gross profit percentages for the segments are calculated using gross revenue, while
total company gross profit percentages are calculated using net revenue.
Revenue
Gross revenue decreased by $8.5 million, from $77.7 million to $69.1 million in the first quarter of 2018. The decrease was due to $11.3 million related to the
Company's margin improvement initiative, $1.4 million in lost programs and $5.0 million of volume softness in the communications vertical offset by $9.2
million of net growth from new and existing clients including a government services program and strong growth in the cable, retail, and healthcare verticals.
The Domestic segment decrease of $2.8 million was due to $10.7 million of volume reductions from the Company's margin improvement initiative, $1.0
million in lost programs, partially offset by $8.9 million of net growth from new and existing clients. Offshore revenues decreased by $3.0 million due to $2.6
million of net volume reduction from new and existing clients with the reduction primarily in the wireless communications vertical, $0.1 million of lost
programs and $0.3 million in reductions related to the Company's margin improvement initiative. The decrease in the Nearshore segment of $2.8 million was
due to $2.2 million of net volume reduction from new and existing clients primarily in the wireless communications vertical, $0.3 million of lost programs
and $0.3 million in reductions related to the Company's margin improvement initiative.
Gross profit
Gross profit as a percentage of net revenue decreased by 4.7% primarily due to the gross profit adjustment for the warrants issued upon execution of the
Amazon agreement in January 2018. Domestic gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 6.1% in 2018 from 3.4% in 2017 primarily due to growth
from new and existing clients, and the realized gains from the margin
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improvement initiative. The Offshore gross margin remained steady at 29.2%. The Nearshore decrease to 1.4% in 2018 from 19.2% in 2017 was primarily
due to volume reductions from existing customers primarily in the wireless communications vertical, non-billable ramp training related to a new customer,
and delays related to ramping additional new programs.
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $0.7 million during the first quarter of 2018 compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily
due to increased selling expenses. Such expenses as a percentage of gross revenue increased to 12.4% from 10.2% year over year.
Transaction related fees
Expenses totaling $1.9 million were incurred during the first quarter of 2018 for fees and expenses related to the Aegis and Amazon transactions.
Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges
During the first quarter of 2018, we recognized impairment losses of $3.4 million. We closed our facility in Colorado Springs, Colorado, resulting in an
impairment loss of $1.1 million related to the disposal of certain assets. Additionally, we notified our RN's on Call clients that we would no longer be
providing service after March 2018, resulting in an impairment loss of $0.2 million for write-off of the customer relationship intangible asset related to this
line of business. We also received notice from a large client in the first quarter of 2018 that they intended to terminate their business with us as of the end of
second quarter 2018. This resulted in an impairment loss of $2.1 million for the write-off of the customer relationship intangible asset related to the client. We
did not incur any impairment losses in the first quarter of 2017.
Restructuring charges totaled $1.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018. This is comprised of $0.4 million for the closure of the Colorado
Springs, Colorado facility; a total of $0.5 million related to the elimination of certain positions at various locations under a company wide restructuring plan;
and charges of $0.2 million resulting from early termination of a portion of the lease on one of our Offshore locations. There were no restructuring charges
during the three months ended March 31, 2017.
Interest and other income (expense), net
Interest and other income (expense), net for the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 of approximately ($0.4) million each quarter primarily consists
of interest expense associated with our line of credit, capital leases, and notes payable.
Income tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense during the first three months of 2018 was $0.1 million, primarily related to our Canadian operations. Income tax benefit was ($28)
thousand in the first three months of 2017. We have tax holidays in Honduras and Jamaica, and for certain facilities in the Philippines.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows generated by operating activities, available borrowings under our revolving credit facility, and factoring
agreements for certain accounts receivable. We have historically utilized these resources to finance our operations and make capital expenditures associated
with capacity expansion, upgrades of information technologies and service offerings, and business acquisitions. Due to the timing of our collections of
receivables due from our major customers, we have historically needed to draw on the line of credit periodically for ongoing working capital needs. We
believe our cash and cash equivalents, cash from operations and available credit will be sufficient to operate our business for the next twelve months.
As of March 31, 2018, working capital totaled $34.0 million and the current ratio was 2.41:1, compared to working capital of $32.2 million and a current ratio
of 2.24:1 as of December 31, 2017. The increase in 2018 was primarily driven by the reduction in accrued liabilities.
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2018 was ($3.6) million, compared to $7.2 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2017, primarily due to a net loss in first quarter 2018 compared to net income in first quarter 2017. Cash flows from operating
activities can vary significantly from quarter to quarter depending upon the timing of operating cash receipts and payments, especially accounts receivable
and accounts payable.
Net cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2018 of $1.9 million consisted of capital expenditures. This compares to net cash
used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 of $0.8 million, which primarily consisted of capital expenditures of $1.1 million,
offset by $0.3 million related to proceeds from asset sales.
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2018 of $5.1 million primarily consisted of $5.6 million drawn from
our line of credit offset by $0.7 million of principal payments on debt. Net cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2017 of
$6.1 million consisted of $5.3 million used to pay down our line of credit and $0.9 million of principal payments on debt.
Secured Revolving Credit Facility
For more information, refer to Note 8, "Debt," to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included in Item 1, "Financial Statements."
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
There were no material changes in our contractual obligations during the first quarter 2018.
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
We have no material off-balance sheet transactions, unconditional purchase obligations or similar instruments and we are not a guarantor of any other entities’
debt or other financial obligations.
VARIABILITY OF OPERATING RESULTS
We have experienced and expect to continue to experience some quarterly variations in revenue and operating results due to a variety of factors, many of
which are outside our control, including: (i) timing and amount of costs incurred to expand capacity in order to provide for volume growth from existing and
future clients; (ii) changes in the volume of services provided to principal clients; (iii) expiration or termination of client projects or contracts; (iv) timing of
existing and future client product launches or service offerings; (v) seasonal nature of certain clients’ businesses; and (vi) variability in demand for our
services by our clients depending on demand for their products or services and/or depending on our performance.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
In preparing our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP, management must undertake decisions that impact the reported amounts and
related disclosures. Such decisions include the selection of the appropriate accounting principles to be applied and assumptions upon which accounting
estimates are based. Management applies its best judgment based on its understanding and analysis of the relevant circumstances to reach these decisions. By
their nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. Accordingly, actual results may vary significantly from the estimates we have
applied.
Our critical accounting policies and estimates are consistent with those disclosed in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K, except for Common Stock
Warrant Accounting, outlined below. Please refer to Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2017 for a complete description of our critical accounting policies and estimates.
Common Stock Warrant Accounting
In conjunction with execution of the Amazon warrant agreement, we considered a number of factors to determine the appropriate income statement impacts
resulting from issuance of the first tranche of warrants at the time of execution. These factors included:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Whether the warrants are freestanding or embedded in another financial instrument;
◦ Conclusion: They are freestanding
Whether the warrants are indexed to the Company’s stock;
◦ Conclusion: The warrants are indexed to the Company's stock
Evaluate Settlements: whether the contract includes a provision that could require net cash settlement, and/or the type and quantity of the Company’s
stock available and required for settlement;
◦ Conclusion: Either physical or net share settlement is required, allowing equity treatment
Other conditions required for equity classification
◦ Conclusion: No circumstances exist that would require us to account classify the instrument as anything other than equity
Determination of basis of recognition of costs associated with the transaction
◦ Conclusion: Since fair value is readily determinable based on Company stock price, measurement of expense is based on fair value of the
equity instruments issued
Determination of basis of recognition of equity instruments associated with the transaction
◦ Conclusion: Equity in the amount of estimated probable performance completion to date (based on quarterly forecasts) will be recorded for
the fair value of the warrants earned to date, based on Monte Carlo pricing; adjustments will be made at each reporting period until
performance is complete

After evaluating these factors, we concluded that:
•

The warrants issued to Amazon will be classified as equity on the Company’s balance sheet;
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•
•
•

The offset will be recognized as contra-revenue on the statement of income;
Contra-revenue and equity will be estimated and recorded, using the Monte Carlo pricing model, when performance completion is probable, with
adjustments in each reporting period until performance is complete; and
We will prepare disclosures in conformance with the disclosure requirements in ASC 505 and ASC 718
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Foreign Currency Exchange Risks
Market risk relating to our international operations results primarily from changes in foreign exchange rates. To address this risk, we enter into foreign
currency forward and options contracts. The contracts cover periods commensurate with expected exposure, generally three to twelve months, and are secured
through a reserve on our availability calculation with our Lender. The cumulative translation effects for subsidiaries using functional currencies other than the
USD are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity. Movements in non-USD currency exchange rates may negatively or
positively affect our competitive position, as exchange rate changes may affect business practices and/or pricing strategies of non-U.S. based competitors.
We serve many of our U.S.-based clients in non-U.S. locations, such as Canada and the Philippines. Our client contracts are primarily priced and invoiced in
USD; however, the functional currencies of our Canadian and Philippine operations are the Canadian dollar ("CAD") and the Philippine peso ("PHP"),
respectively, which creates foreign currency exchange exposure.
In order to hedge our exposure to foreign currency transactions in the CAD and PHP, we had outstanding foreign currency forward and option contracts as of
March 31, 2018 with notional amounts totaling $35.9 million. If the USD were to weaken against the CAD and PHP by 10% from current period-end levels,
we would incur a loss of approximately $4.1 million on the underlying exposures of the derivative instruments. As of March 31, 2018, we have not entered
into any arrangements to hedge our exposure to fluctuations in the Honduran lempira or the Jamaican dollar relative to the USD.
If we increase our operations in international markets, our exposure to potentially volatile movements in foreign currency exchange rates would also increase.
The economic impact of foreign currency exchange rate movements is linked to variability in real growth, inflation, governmental actions and other factors.
These changes, if significant, could cause us to adjust our foreign currency risk strategies.
Interest Rate Risk
At March 31, 2018, we had a $50.0 million secured credit facility with BMO Harris Bank. The interest rate on our credit facility is variable based upon the
LIBOR index, and, therefore, is affected by changes in market interest rates. If the LIBOR increased 100 basis points, there would not be a material impact to
our unaudited consolidated financial statements.
During the three months ended March 31, 2018, there were no material changes in our market risk exposure.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. As of March 31, 2018, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of
our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of March 31, 2018, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were designed to ensure that all
information required to be disclosed by us in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Changes in internal controls over financial reporting. There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter
ended March 31, 2018, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
There have been no material changes in our risk factors from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017,
except for risks related to the Warrant and Aegis Transactions, outlined below.
Risk Related to the Warrant
If Amazon exercises its right to acquire shares of our common stock pursuant to the Warrant, it will dilute the ownership interests of our then-existing
stockholders and could adversely affect the market price of our stock.
If Amazon exercises its right to acquire shares of our common stock pursuant to the Warrant, it will dilute the ownership interests of our then-existing
stockholders and reduce our earnings per share. In addition, any sales in the public market of any common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Warrant by
Amazon could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock.
Amazon is not obligated to purchase services from us, and in the event Amazon chooses not to purchase services from us we will not achieve the benefits
associated with the Warrant.
We issued the Warrant to Amazon in the expectation that it would provide an incentive to Amazon to increase the amount of business that Amazon conducts
with us. However, Amazon is not obligated to purchase services from us. In the event Amazon chooses not to purchase services from us, we will not achieve
the associated benefits of such increased business.
Risks Related to the Aegis Transactions
The Aegis Transactions may not be completed on the terms or timeline currently contemplated, or at all, and failure to complete the Aegis Transactions
may result in material adverse consequences to our business and operations.
The Aegis Transactions are subject to several closing conditions. If any of these conditions is not satisfied or waived, the Aegis Transactions may not be
completed. There is no assurance that the Aegis Transactions will be completed on the terms or timeline currently contemplated, or at all.
If our stockholders do not approve the Aegis Transactions or if the Aegis Transactions are not completed for any other reason, we would be subject to a
number of risks, including the following:
•
•

we and our stockholders would not realize the anticipated benefits of the Aegis Transactions, including any anticipated synergies from combining
our business with Aegis' business; and
we may be required to pay a termination fee of up to $6.8 million if the Transaction Agreement is terminated under certain circumstances.
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We are also exposed to general competitive pressures and risks, which may be increased if the Aegis Transactions are not completed.
As a result of the Aegis Transactions, current stockholders’ ownership interest in the Company will be diluted from 100% to approximately 45%.
If the Aegis Transactions are approved and we issue 21,433,333 shares of our common stock (subject to adjustment) in connection with the Aegis
Transactions, our stockholders will incur significant dilution of their interests in the Company. Assuming the issuance of 21,433,333 shares of our common
stock (subject to adjustment), the Aegis Stockholder will own approximately 55% of our outstanding common stock. Stock outstanding as of the record date
will constitute approximately 45% of our outstanding common stock immediately after the closing. As a result, in such a scenario current stockholders would
experience substantial dilution of their ownership percentage and voting rights. In addition, holders of common stock do not have preemptive rights to
subscribe to additional securities that may be issued by us. This means that current shareholders do not have a prior right to purchase any new issue of our
common stock in order to maintain their proportionate ownership interest.
The issuance of the shares in the Aegis Transactions could have a negative effect on our stock price.
If the Aegis Transactions are approved, we will issue 21,433,333 shares of our common stock (subject to adjustment), representing approximately 55% of our
outstanding common stock following issuance, in exchange for all of the outstanding shares of common stock of Aegis. We can offer no assurance that th
combined company will generate the expected revenues or net income following the consummation of the Aegis Transactions. The issuance of common stock
could have a depressive effect on the market price of our common stock by increasing the number of shares of common stock outstanding. Such downward
pressure could encourage short sales by certain investors, which could place further downward pressure on the price of the common stock.
We have agreed to grant registration rights to the Aegis Stockholder with respect to the shares to be issued, requiring us to file a registration statement with
the SEC covering the resale of such shares, which means that such shares would become eligible for resale in the public markets shortly after the
consummation of the Aegis Transactions. Any sales of those shares, or the anticipation of the possibility of such sales, could create downward pressure on the
market price of our common stock.
As a result of the issuance of common stock in connection with the Aegis Transactions, the Aegis Stockholder will own a majority of our common stock
and will have the ability to control us.
As a result of the issuance of our common stock pursuant to the Aegis Transactions, the Aegis Stockholder is expected to own approximately 55% of our
common stock. Thus, the Aegis Stockholder would be able to exercise significant influence over our business and affairs if it chooses to do so. The Aegis
Stockholder would to be able to affect the outcome of all matters brought before the shareholders, including the approval of mergers and other business
combination transactions and will be able to designate and elect a majority of our directors. As a result of the Aegis Stockholder’s ownership of a majority of
the voting power of our common stock, we will be a “controlled company” as defined in NYSE listing rules and will, therefore, not be subject to certain
NYSE requirements that would otherwise require us to have (i) a majority of independent directors, (ii) a nominating committee composed solely of
independent directors, (iii) the compensation of its executive officers determined by a majority of the independent directors or a compensation committee
composed solely of independent directors, and (iv) director nominees selected, or recommended for the Board’s selection, either by a majority of the
independent directors or a nominating committee composed solely of independent directors. The Aegis Stockholder will designate a majority of our directors
at closing.
The integration of our business with Aegis following the closing will present challenges that may result in a decline in the anticipated benefits of the
Aegis Transactions.
The Aegis Transactions involve the combination of two businesses that currently operate as independent businesses. We will be required to devote
management attention and resources to integrating our business practices and operations, and prior to the completion of Aegis Transactions, management
attention and resources will be required to plan for such integration. The pursuit of the Aegis Transactions and the preparation for the integration of the
companies have placed, and will continue to place, a significant burden on the management and internal resources of both us and Aegis. There is a significant
degree of difficulty and management distraction inherent in the process of closing the Aegis Transactions and integrating the two companies, which could
cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the activities of each company’s existing businesses,
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regardless of whether the Aegis Transactions are eventually completed. Before and immediately following closing of the Aegis Transactions, our management
team and Aegis' will be required to devote considerable amounts of time to this integration process, which will decrease the time they will have to manage
their respective existing businesses, service existing customers, attract new customers and develop new products, services or strategies. One potential
consequence of such distractions could be the failure of management to realize other opportunities that could be beneficial to us or Aegis, respectively. If our
or Aegis’ senior management is not able to effectively manage the process leading up to and immediately following closing of the Aegis Transactions, or if
any significant business activities are interrupted as a result of the integration process, our business or Aegis' could suffer. Potential difficulties the combined
company may encounter in the integration process include the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the inability to successfully integrate the two businesses, including operations, technologies, products and services, in a manner that permits us to
achieve the cost savings and operating synergies anticipated to result from the Aegis Transactions, which could result in the anticipated benefits of
the Aegis Transactions not being realized partly or wholly in the time frame currently anticipated or at all;
lost sales and customers as a result of certain customers of either or both of the two businesses deciding not to do business with us;
the necessity of coordinating geographically separated organizations, systems and facilities;
potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen increased expenses, delays or regulatory conditions associated with the Aegis Transactions;
integrating personnel with diverse business backgrounds and business cultures, while maintaining focus on providing consistent, high-quality
products and services;
consolidating and rationalizing information technology platforms and administrative infrastructures as well as accounting systems and related
financial reporting activities; and
preserving important relationships of both us and Aegis and resolving potential conflicts that may arise.

Furthermore, it is possible that the integration process could result in the loss of key employees of ours and Aegis. In addition, the combined company could
be adversely affected by the diversion of management’s attention and any delays or difficulties encountered in connection with the integration of the
companies. If we are not able to successfully complete the combination of the business and fully realize the anticipated savings and synergies in a timely
manner, or the cost to achieve these synergies is greater than expected, we may not fully realize the anticipated benefits of the Aegis Transactions, or it may
take longer than expected to realize the benefits. The failure to fully realize the anticipated benefits could have a depressive effect on the market price of our
common stock.
Ownership interests will not be adjusted if there is a change in our value or Aegis and their respective assets before the Aegis Transactions are completed.
The shares to be issued in the Aegis Transactions will not be adjusted if there is a change in our value or assets, or Aegis's value or assets, prior to the
consummation of the Aegis Transactions. We will not be required to consummate the Aegis Transactions if certain material adverse effects occur with respect
to Aegis. However, we will not be permitted to terminate the Aegis Transaction Agreement because of any changes in the market prices of our common stock
or any changes in the value of Aegis that do not constitute a material adverse effect with respect to Aegis.
We will incur significant transition costs in connection with the Aegis Transactions, including all costs incurred by Aegis and the Aegis Stockholder in
connection with the Aegis Transactions.
We have incurred and expect to incur significant, non-recurring costs in connection with consummating the Aegis Transactions. We may incur additional
costs to retain key employees. Pursuant to the Aegis Transaction Agreement, we will, after the closing of the Aegis Transactions, pay, or reimburse Aegis or
the Aegis Stockholder for, all expenses incurred in connection with the Aegis Transaction Agreement and the Aegis Transactions by us, Aegis or the Aegis
Stockholder, including all legal, accounting, consulting, investment banking and other fees, expenses and costs.
The total transaction expenses that we expect to incur as a result of the Aegis Transactions, which include the transaction expenses that we expect to pay, or
reimburse Aegis or the Aegis Stockholder for, are currently estimated at approximately $12.5 million.
Aegis and the Aegis Stockholder are each Singapore incorporated companies and it may be difficult for us to enforce a judgment of U.S. courts against
Aegis or the Aegis Stockholder or their respective directors or officers in Singapore.
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Aegis and the Aegis Stockholder are incorporated under the laws of the Republic of Singapore, and all of their respective directors are
residents outside the United States. Moreover, a significant portion of Aegis and the Aegis Stockholder’s consolidated assets are located outside the United
States and, as a result, any judgment obtained in the United States against Aegis or the Aegis Stockholder may not be enforceable within the United States.
There is no treaty between the United States and Singapore providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial
matters and a final judgment for the payment of money rendered by any federal or state court. A final judgment for the payment of money rendered by any
federal or state court in the United States based on civil liability, would, therefore, not be automatically enforceable in Singapore.
We and Aegis will both be subject to business uncertainties and contractual restrictions while the Aegis Transactions are pending that could adversely
affect each of us.
Uncertainty about the effect of the Aegis Transactions on employees and customers may have an adverse effect on either or both of us and Aegis, regardless
of whether the Aegis Transactions are eventually completed, and, consequently, on the combined company. These uncertainties may impair our and Aegis’
ability to attract, retain and motivate key personnel until the Aegis Transactions are completed, or the Aegis Transaction Agreement is terminated, and for a
period of time thereafter, and could cause customers, suppliers and others that deal with us or Aegis to seek to change existing business relationships with us
or Aegis. Employee retention and recruitment may be particularly challenging for us and Aegis during the pendency of the Aegis Transactions, as employees
and prospective employees may experience uncertainty about their future roles with the combined company. For both us and Aegis, the departure of existing
key employees or the failure of potential key employees to accept employment with the combined company, despite our and Aegis’ retention and recruiting
efforts, could have a material adverse impact on our and the combined company’s business, financial condition and operating results, regardless of whether
the Aegis Transactions are eventually completed.
In addition, the Aegis Transaction Agreement restricts us and Aegis from making certain acquisitions and taking other specified actions without the consent
of the other until the Aegis Transactions are consummated or the Aegis Transaction Agreement is terminated. These restrictions may prevent us and Aegis
from pursuing otherwise attractive business opportunities and making other changes to their businesses before completion of the Aegis Transactions or
termination of the Aegis Transaction Agreement.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
INDEX OF EXHIBITS
Exhibit
No.

Incorporated Herein by Reference
Exhibit Description

2.1 Transaction Agreement dated as of March 14, 2018 by and among
StarTek, Inc., CSP Alpha Midco Pte Ltd and CSP Alpha Holdings
Parent Pte Ltd

Form

Exhibit

Filing Date

8-K

2.1

3/15/2018

4.1*+ Warrant to purchase up to 4,000,000 shares of StarTek, Inc. common
stock issued to Amazon.com NV Investment Holdings LLC on January
23, 2018
10.1* Transaction Agreement dated as of January 23, 2018 by and between
StarTek, Inc. and Amazon.com, Inc.
31.1* Certification of Chad A. Carlson pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2* Certification of Don Norsworthy pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1* Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002
101* The following materials are formatted in Extensible Business Reporting
Language (XBRL): (i) Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Three Months Ended March 31,
2018 and 2017 (Unaudited), (ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
March 31, 2018 (Unaudited) and December 31, 2017, (iii) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2018
and 2017 (Unaudited) and (iv) Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (Unaudited)
* Filed with this Form 10-Q.
+ Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions of this exhibit. These portions have been omitted and filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Form 10-Q to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.
STARTEK, INC.

By:

/s/ CHAD A. CARLSON

Date: May 8, 2018

Chad A. Carlson
President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

By:

/s/ DON NORSWORTHY

Date: May 8, 2018

Don Norsworthy
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(principal financial and accounting officer)
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Confidential Treatment Requested
EXHIBIT 4.1

WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK
THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS INSTRUMENT HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED, SOLD
OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER SUCH
ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION
UNDER SUCH ACT OR SUCH LAWS.
THIS INSTRUMENT IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER AND OTHER
PROVISIONS OF A TRANSACTION AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF JANUARY 23, 2018, BY AND BETWEEN THE ISSUER
OF THESE SECURITIES AND AMAZON.COM, INC., A DELAWARE CORPORATION, A COPY OF WHICH IS ON FILE
WITH THE ISSUER. THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS INSTRUMENT MAY NOT BE SOLD OR OTHERWISE
TRANSFERRED EXCEPT IN COMPLIANCE WITH SAID AGREEMENT. ANY SALE OR OTHER TRANSFER NOT IN
COMPLIANCE WITH SAID AGREEMENT WILL BE VOID.

WARRANT
to purchase
4,000,000
Shares of Common Stock of
StarTek, Inc.
a Delaware Corporation
Issue Date: January 23, 2018

1.
indicated.

Definitions. Unless the context otherwise requires, when used herein the following terms shall have the meanings

“30-Day VWAP” means, as of any date, the volume weighted average price per share of the Common Stock, or any
successor security thereto, on the Principal Trading Market (as reported by Bloomberg L.P. (or its successor) or, if not available, by
another authoritative source mutually agreed by the Company and Amazon) from 9:30 a.m. (New York City time) on the Trading
Day that is thirty (30) Trading Days preceding such date to 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the last Trading Day immediately
preceding such date.
“Affiliate” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Transaction Agreement.
“Aggregate Consideration” has the meaning set forth in Section 12(ii).
“Amazon” means Amazon.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
“Applicable Law” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Transaction Agreement.

[***] Information has been omitted and submitted separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portions.

“Appraisal Procedure” means a procedure whereby two independent, nationally recognized appraisers, one chosen by the
Company and one by the Warrantholder, shall mutually agree upon the determinations then the subject of appraisal. Each party
shall deliver a notice to the other appointing its appraiser within 15 days after the Appraisal Procedure is invoked. If within 30 days
after appointment of the two appraisers they are unable to agree upon the amount in question, a third independent, nationally
recognized appraiser shall be chosen within 10 days thereafter by the mutual consent of such first two appraisers or, if such two
first appraisers fail to agree upon the appointment of a third appraiser, such appointment shall be made by the American Arbitration
Association, or any organization successor thereto, from a panel of arbitrators having experience in appraisal of the subject matter
to be appraised. If any appraiser initially appointed shall, for any reason, be unable to serve, a successor appraiser shall be
appointed in accordance with the procedures pursuant to which the predecessor appraiser was appointed. In such event, the decision
of the third appraiser so appointed and chosen shall be given within 30 days after the selection of such third appraiser. If three
appraisers shall be appointed and the determination of one appraiser is disparate from the middle determination by more than twice
the amount by which the other determination is disparate from the middle determination, then the determination of such appraiser
shall be excluded, the remaining two determinations shall be averaged and such average shall be binding and conclusive upon the
Company and the Warrantholder; otherwise, the average of all three determinations shall be binding and conclusive upon the
Company and the Warrantholder. The costs of conducting any Appraisal Procedure shall be borne 50% by the Company and 50%
by the Warrantholder.
“Assumed Payment Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 12(iv).
“Attribution Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 13(i).
“Beneficial Ownership Limitation” has the meaning set forth in Section 13(ii).
“Board of Directors” means the board of directors of the Company.
“Business Combination” means a merger, consolidation, statutory share exchange, reorganization, recapitalization or similar
extraordinary transaction (which may include a reclassification) involving the Company.
“Business Day” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Transaction Agreement.
“Cashless Exercise Ratio” with respect to any exercise of this Warrant means a fraction (i) the numerator of which is the
excess of (x) the 30-Day VWAP as of the day immediately preceding such exercise date over (y) the Exercise Price, and (ii) the
denominator of which is the 30-Day VWAP as of the day immediately preceding such exercise date.
“Change of Control Transaction” means, except as set forth on Schedule 1, (a) any transaction or series of related
transactions as a result of which any Person or group within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act (excluding the
Warrantholder or any of its Affiliates) becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 40% or more of the Equity Interests
(measured by either voting power or economic interests) of the Company, (b) any transaction or series of related transactions in
which the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such transaction or series of related transactions cease to beneficially
own, directly or indirectly, at least 60% of the outstanding Equity Interests (measured by either voting power or economic interests)
of the Company; provided that this clause (b) shall not apply if such transaction or series of related transactions is an acquisition by
the Company effected, in whole or in part, through the issuance of Equity Interests of the Company, (c) any Business Combination
as a result of which at least 40% of the ownership of the Company is transferred to another Person or group of

[***] Information has been omitted and submitted separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portions.

persons within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act (excluding the Warrantholder or any of its Affiliates), (d)
individuals who constitute the Continuing Directors, taken together, ceasing for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the
Board of Directors, (e) any sale or lease or exchange, transfer, license or disposition of a business, deposits or assets that constitute
40% or more of the consolidated assets, business, gross revenues, net income, assets or deposits of the Company or (f) any action,
transaction or series of related transactions as a result of which the Common Stock is no longer traded on the New York Stock
Exchange or, unless otherwise agreed in writing by Amazon and the Company, the Public Float of the Company constitutes less
than 40% of the outstanding Common Stock.
“Chosen Courts” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.
“Commercial Arrangements” means any commercial arrangements between the Company and/or any of its Affiliates, on the
one hand, and Amazon and/or any of its Affiliates on the other, including, but not limited to, the Amended and Restated Master
Services Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2015, by and between the Company and AMZN wvcs LLC.
“Commission” has the meaning set forth in Section 13(i).
“Common Stock” means the Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share of the Company.
“Company” means Startek, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
“Continuing Directors” means the directors of the Company on the date hereof and each other director, if, in each case, such
other director’s nomination for election to the Board of Directors is recommended by more than 50% of the Continuing Directors or
more than 50% of the members of the Nominating and Governance Committee of the Board of Directors that are Continuing
Directors.
“conversion” has the meaning set forth in Section 12(ii).
“Convertible Securities” has the meaning set forth in Section 12(ii).
“Distribution” has the meaning set forth in Section 12(iii).
“Equity Interests” means any and all (a) shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of capital
stock or other voting securities of a corporation, any and all equivalent or analogous ownership (or profit) or voting interests in a
Person (other than a corporation), (b) securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares, interests, participations or other
equivalents (however designated) of capital stock or voting securities of (or other ownership or profit or voting interests in) such
Person, and (c) any and all warrants, rights or options to purchase any of the foregoing, whether voting or nonvoting, and, in each
case, whether or not such shares, interests, participations, equivalents, securities, warrants, options, rights or other interests are
authorized or otherwise existing on any date of determination.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor statute, and the rules and
regulations promulgated thereunder.
“Exercise Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.
“Exercise Price” means $9.96.
“Expiration Time” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.

[***] Information has been omitted and submitted separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portions.

“Fair Market Value” means, with respect to any security or other property, the fair market value of such security or other
property as determined by the Board of Directors, acting in good faith and evidenced by a written notice delivered promptly to the
Warrantholder (which written notice shall include certified resolutions of the Board of Directors in respect thereof). Unless
otherwise agreed to in writing, if the Warrantholder objects in writing to the Board of Directors’ calculation of fair market value
within 10 Business Days after receipt of written notice thereof and the Warrantholder and the Company are unable to agree on the
fair market value during the 10-day period following the delivery of the Warrantholder objection, the Appraisal Procedure may be
invoked by either the Company or the Warrantholder to determine Fair Market Value by delivering written notification thereof not
later than the 30th day after delivery of the Warrantholder objection. For the avoidance of doubt, the Fair Market Value of cash shall
be the amount of such cash.
“Initial Number” has the meaning set forth in Section 12(ii).
“Market Price” means, with respect to the Common Stock or any other security, on any given day, the last sale price, regular
way, or, in case no such sale takes place on such day, the average of the closing bid and asked prices, regular way, of Common
Stock or of such security, as applicable, on the New York Stock Exchange on such day. If the Common Stock or such security, as
applicable, is not listed on the New York Stock Exchange as of any date of determination, the Market Price of the Common Stock
or such security, as applicable, on such date of determination means the closing sale price on such date as reported in the composite
transactions for the principal U.S. national or regional securities exchange on which the Common Stock or such security, as
applicable, is so listed or quoted, or, if no closing sale price is reported, the last reported sale price on such date on the principal
U.S. national or regional securities exchange on which the Common Stock or such security, as applicable, is so listed or quoted, or
if the Common Stock or such security, as applicable, is not so listed or quoted on a U.S. national or regional securities exchange,
the last quoted bid price on such date for the Common Stock or such security, as applicable, in the over-the-counter market as
reported by Pink Sheets LLC or similar organization, or, if that bid price is not available, the Market Price of the Common Stock or
such security, as applicable, on that date shall mean the Fair Market Value per share as of such date of the Common Stock or such
security. For the purposes of determining the Market Price of the Common Stock or any such security, as applicable, on the Trading
Day preceding, on or following the occurrence of an event, (a) that Trading Day shall be deemed to commence immediately after
the regular scheduled closing time of trading on the applicable exchange, market or organization, or, if trading is closed at an earlier
time, such earlier time and (b) that Trading Day shall end at the next regular scheduled closing time, or if trading is closed at an
earlier time, such earlier time (for the avoidance of doubt, and as an example, if the Market Price is to be determined as of the last
Trading Day preceding a specified event and the closing time of trading on a particular day is 4:00 p.m. and the specified event
occurs at 5:00 p.m. on that day, the Market Price would be determined by reference to such 4:00 p.m. closing price).
“NV Investment Holdings” means Amazon.com NV Investment Holdings LLC, a Nevada limited liability company.
“Permitted Transactions” has the meaning set forth in Section 12(ii).
“Person” has the meaning given to it in Section 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act and as used in Sections 13(d)(3) and 14(d)(2)
of the Exchange Act.
“Pricing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 12(ii).

[***] Information has been omitted and submitted separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential treatment has been
requested with respect to the omitted portions.

“Principal Trading Market” means the trading market on which the Common Stock, or any successor security thereto, is
primarily listed on and quoted for trading, and which, as of the Issue Date is the New York Stock Exchange.
“Public Float” means the outstanding Common Stock beneficially owned by stockholders of the Company other than (a)
any Person or group within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act beneficially owning more than ten percent (10%)
of all outstanding Common Stock, (b) directors or executive officers of the Company and any members of their immediate family
and (c) other Affiliates of the Company, with no share of Common Stock being counted more than once; provided, however, that
the Common Stock beneficially owned by any stockholder in excess of ten percent (10%) of the outstanding Common Stock as set
forth in the beneficial ownership table in the Company’s most recent proxy statement filed with the SEC and who continues to own
in excess of ten percent (10%) of the outstanding Common Stock as of the date of the Transaction Agreement shall be included in
the definition of Public Float for so long as such stockholder does not increase such stockholder’s beneficial ownership of Common
Stock through the acquisition of Equity Interests from or after the date of the Transaction Agreement in an aggregate amount that
exceeds two percent (2%) of all outstanding Common Stock. For the avoidance of doubt, in the calculation of Public Float, but not
for purposes of determining whether or not the shares of a Person beneficially owning in excess of ten percent (10%) of the
outstanding Common Stock are included in the calculation of Public Float, shares of Common Stock underlying stock options or
other equity awards issued to directors or executive officers shall not be treated as beneficially owned by such directors or
executive officers unless and until such options or other equity awards are exercised or settled.
“Repurchases” means any transaction or series of related transactions to acquire by purchase or otherwise Equity Interests
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Company or any subsidiary thereof for a purchase price greater than Fair Market
Value, whether pursuant to any tender offer or exchange offer (whether or not subject to Section 13(e) or 14(e) of the Exchange Act
or Regulation 14E promulgated thereunder), open market transactions, private negotiated transactions or otherwise, and, in each
case, whether for cash, Equity Interests of the Company, other securities of the Company, evidences of indebtedness of the
Company or any other Person or any other property or assets (including Equity Interests, other securities or evidences of
indebtedness of a subsidiary), or any combination thereof, effected while this Warrant is outstanding.
“Subject Adjustment” has the meaning set forth in Section 12(vii).
“Subject Record Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 12(vii).
“subsidiary” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Transaction Agreement.
“Trading Day” means a day on which the Principal Trading Market is open for trading.
“Transaction Agreement” means the Transaction Agreement, dated as of January 23, 2018, as it may be amended from time
to time, by and between the Company and Amazon, including all annexes, schedules and exhibits thereto.
“Transaction Documents” has the meaning ascribed to it in the Transaction Agreement.
“Vesting Event” means (i) with respect to 425,532 Warrant Shares, the execution of this Warrant and the other Transaction
Documents and (ii) with respect to 3,574,468 Warrant Shares, at the times and
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in the increments described on Schedule 2. For the avoidance of doubt, the number of Warrant Shares that will vest pursuant to a
Vesting Event are subject to adjustments as provided herein.
“Warrant” means this Warrant, issued pursuant to the Transaction Agreement.
“Warrant Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.
“Warrantholder” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.
2.
Number of Warrant Shares; Exercise Price. This certifies that, for value received, NV Investment Holdings or its
permitted assigns (the “Warrantholder”) is entitled, upon the terms hereinafter set forth, to acquire from the Company, in whole or
in part, up to an aggregate of 4,000,000 fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock (the “Warrant Shares”), at a
purchase price per share of Common Stock equal to the Exercise Price with respect to such shares. The Warrant Shares and
Exercise Price are subject to adjustment as provided herein, and all references to “Common Stock,” “Warrant Shares” and
“Exercise Price” herein shall be deemed to include any such adjustment or series of adjustments.
3.

Exercise of Warrant; Term; Other Agreements; Cancelation.

Promptly following the occurrence of a Vesting Event, the Company shall deliver to the Warrantholder a
Notice of Vesting Event in the form attached as Annex A hereto; provided that neither the delivery, nor the failure of the Company
to deliver, such Notice of Vesting Event shall affect or impair the Warrantholder’s rights or the Company’s obligations hereunder.
(i)

Subject to Section 2, Section 12(v) and Section 13, as well as the approvals required pursuant to the
applicable rules of the New York Stock Exchange, including but not limited to, New York Stock Exchange Rule 312.03(c), each if
applicable, the right to purchase Warrant Shares represented by this Warrant is exercisable, in whole or in part by the
Warrantholder, at any time or from time to time from and after the applicable Vesting Event, but in no event later than 5:00 p.m.,
New York City time, on January 23, 2026 (such time, the “Expiration Time” and such period from and after the applicable Vesting
Event through the Expiration Time, the “Exercise Period”), by (a) the surrender of this Warrant and the Notice of Exercise attached
as Annex B hereto, duly completed and executed on behalf of the Warrantholder, to the Company in accordance with Section 17 (or
such other office or agency of the Company in the United States as it may designate by notice in writing to the Warrantholder), and
(b) payment of the Exercise Price for the Warrant Shares thereby purchased by, at the sole election of the Warrantholder, either:
(i) tendering in cash, by certified or cashier’s check payable to the order of the Company, or by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to an account designated by the Company or (ii) without payment of cash, by reducing the number of Warrant
Shares obtainable upon the exercise of this Warrant (either in full or in part, as applicable) and payment of the Exercise Price in
cash so as to yield a number of Warrant Shares obtainable upon the exercise of this Warrant (either in full or in part, as applicable)
equal to the product of (x) the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant (either in full or in part, as
applicable) (if payment of the Exercise Price were being made in cash) and (y) the Cashless Exercise Ratio; provided that such
product shall be rounded to the nearest whole Warrant Share.
(ii)

(iii)
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if at any time during the Exercise Period the Warrantholder has not
exercised this Warrant in full as a result of there being insufficient Warrant Shares available for issuance or the lack of any required
regulatory, corporate or other approval (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Initial Antitrust Clearance and Requisite
Stockholder Approval (each, as defined in the Transaction Agreement)), the Expiration Time shall be extended until sixty (60) days
after
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such date as the Warrantholder is able to acquire all of the vested Warrant Shares without violating Applicable Law.
(iv)
If the Warrantholder does not exercise this Warrant in its entirety, the Warrantholder shall be entitled to
receive from the Company, upon request, a new warrant of like tenor in substantially identical form for the purchase of that number
of Warrant Shares equal to the difference between the number of Warrant Shares subject to this Warrant and the number of Warrant
Shares as to which this Warrant is so exercised.

This Warrant, including with respect to its cancelation, is subject to the terms and conditions of the
Transaction Agreement. Without affecting in any manner any prior exercise of this Warrant (or any Warrant Shares previously
issued hereunder), if (a) the Transaction Agreement is terminated in accordance with Section 8.1 thereof or (b) the Warrantholder
delivers to the Company a written, irrevocable commitment not to exercise this Warrant, the Company shall have no obligation to
issue, and the Warrantholder shall have no right to acquire, the unvested portion of any Warrant Shares under this Warrant.
(v)

4.
Issuance of Warrant Shares; Authorization; Listing. The Company shall issue a certificate or certificates for Equity
Interests issued upon exercise of this Warrant on or before the third Business Day following the date of exercise of this Warrant in
accordance with its terms in the name of the Warrantholder and shall deliver such certificate or certificates to the Warrantholder.
The Company hereby represents and warrants that any Equity Interests issued upon the exercise of this Warrant in accordance with
the provisions of Section 3 will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free of any liens or encumbrances (other than
liens or encumbrances created by the Transaction Documents, transfer restrictions arising as a matter of U.S. federal securities laws
or created by or at the direction of the Warrantholder or any of its Affiliates). The Equity Interests so issued shall be deemed for all
purposes to have been issued to the Warrantholder as of the close of business on the date on which this Warrant and payment of the
Exercise Price are delivered to the Company in accordance with the terms of this Warrant, notwithstanding that the stock transfer
books of the Company may then be closed or certificates representing such Equity Interests may not be actually delivered on such
date. The Company shall use reasonable best efforts to obtain the Requisite Stockholder Approval (as defined in the Transaction
Agreement) in accordance with the terms set forth in the Transaction Agreement and shall at all times reserve and keep available,
out of its authorized but unissued Equity Interests, solely for the purpose of providing for the exercise of this Warrant, the aggregate
Equity Interests issuable upon exercise of this Warrant in full (disregarding whether or not this Warrant is exercisable by its terms at
any such time). The Company shall, at its sole expense, procure, subject to issuance or notice of issuance, the listing of any Equity
Interests issuable upon exercise of this Warrant on the principal stock exchange on which such Equity Interests are then listed or
traded, promptly after such Equity Interests are eligible for listing thereon.
5.
No Fractional Shares or Scrip. No fractional Warrant Shares or other Equity Interests or scrip representing
fractional Warrant Shares or other Equity Interests shall be issued upon any exercise of this Warrant. In lieu of any fractional share
to which a Warrantholder would otherwise be entitled, the fractional Warrant Shares or other Equity Interests shall be rounded up to
the next whole Warrant Share or other Equity Interest and the Warrantholder shall be entitled to receive such rounded up number of
Warrant Shares or other Equity Interests.
6.
No Rights as Stockholders; Transfer Books. Without limiting in any respect the provisions of the Transaction
Agreement and except as otherwise provided by the terms of this Warrant, this Warrant
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does not entitle the Warrantholder to (i) receive dividends or other distributions, (ii) consent to any action of the stockholders of the
Company, (iii) receive notice of or vote at any meeting of the stockholders, (iv) receive notice of any other proceedings of the
Company, or (v) exercise any other rights whatsoever, in any such case, as a stockholder of the Company prior to the date of
exercise hereof.
7.
Charges, Taxes and Expenses. Issuance of this Warrant and issuance of certificates for Equity Interests to the
Warrantholder upon the exercise of this Warrant shall be made without charge to the Warrantholder for any issue or transfer tax
(other than taxes in respect of any transfer occurring contemporaneously therewith) or other incidental expense in respect of the
issuance of such certificates, all of which taxes and expenses shall be paid by the Company.
8.

Transfer/Assignment.
This Warrant and the Warrant Shares may be transferred only in accordance with the terms of the
Transaction Agreement. Subject to compliance with the legend as set forth on the cover page of this Warrant and the terms of the
Transaction Agreement, this Warrant and all rights hereunder are transferable, in whole or in part, upon the books of the Company
by the registered holder hereof in person or by duly authorized attorney, and a new Warrant shall be made and delivered by the
Company, of the same tenor and date as this Warrant but registered in the name of one or more transferees, upon surrender of this
Warrant, duly endorsed, to the office or agency of the Company described in Section 3. If the transferring holder does not transfer
the entirety of its rights to purchase all Warrant Shares hereunder, such holder shall be entitled to receive from the Company a new
Warrant in substantially identical form for the purchase of that number of Warrant Shares as to which the right to purchase was not
transferred. All expenses (other than stock transfer taxes) and other charges payable in connection with the preparation, execution
and delivery of the new Warrant pursuant to this Section 8 shall be paid by the Warrantholder.
(i)

If and for so long as required by the Transaction Agreement, this Warrant Certificate shall contain a legend
as set forth in Section 4.2 of the Transaction Agreement.
(ii)

9.
Exchange and Registry of Warrant. This Warrant is exchangeable, subject to applicable securities laws, upon the
surrender hereof by the Warrantholder to the Company, for a new warrant or warrants of like tenor and representing the right to
purchase the same aggregate number of Warrant Shares. The Company shall maintain a registry showing the name and address of
the Warrantholder as the registered holder of this Warrant. This Warrant may be surrendered for exchange or exercise, in
accordance with its terms, at the office of the Company, and the Company shall be entitled to rely in all respects, prior to written
notice to the contrary, upon such registry.
10.
Loss, Theft, Destruction or Mutilation of Warrant. Upon receipt by the Company of reasonable evidence of the
loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Warrant, and in the case of any such loss, theft or destruction, upon receipt of a bond,
indemnity or security reasonably satisfactory to the Company, or, in the case of any such mutilation, upon surrender and
cancellation of this Warrant, the Company shall make and deliver, in lieu of such lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Warrant, a new
Warrant of like tenor and representing the right to purchase the same aggregate number of Warrant Shares as provided for in such
lost, stolen, destroyed or mutilated Warrant.
11.
Saturdays, Sundays, Holidays, etc. If the last or appointed day for the taking of any action or the expiration of any
right required or granted herein shall not be a Business Day, then such action may be taken or such right may be exercised on the
next succeeding day that is a Business Day.
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12.
Adjustments and Other Rights. The Exercise Price and Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant
shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as follows; provided that if more than one subsection of this Section 12 is
applicable to a single event, the subsection shall be applied that produces the largest adjustment and no single event shall cause an
adjustment under more than one subsection of this Section 12 so as to result in duplication.
(i)
Stock Splits, Subdivisions, Reclassifications or Combinations. If the Company shall at any time or from
time to time (a) declare, order, pay or make a dividend or make a distribution on Common Stock in additional shares of Common
Stock, (b) split, subdivide or reclassify the outstanding shares of Common Stock into a greater number of shares or (c) combine or
reclassify the outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon
exercise of this Warrant at the time of the record date for such dividend or distribution or the effective date of such split,
subdivision, combination or reclassification shall be proportionately adjusted so that the Warrantholder immediately after such
record date or effective date, as the case may be, shall be entitled to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock which such
holder would have owned or been entitled to receive in respect of the shares of Common Stock subject to this Warrant after such
date had this Warrant been exercised in full immediately prior to such record date or effective date, as the case may be
(disregarding whether or not this Warrant had been exercisable by its terms at such time); provided that such product shall be
rounded to the nearest whole Warrant Share. In the event of such adjustment, the Exercise Price in effect at the time of the record
date for such dividend or distribution or the effective date of such split, subdivision, combination or reclassification shall be
immediately adjusted to the number obtained by dividing (x) the product of (1) the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon the
exercise of this Warrant in full before the adjustment determined pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence (disregarding
whether or not this Warrant was exercisable by its terms at such time) and (2) the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to the
record or effective date, as the case may be, for the dividend, distribution, split, subdivision, combination or reclassification giving
rise to such adjustment by (y) the new number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrant in full determined pursuant
to the immediately preceding sentence (disregarding whether or not this Warrant is exercisable by its terms at such time); provided
that such product shall be rounded to the nearest whole Warrant Share.
(ii)
Certain Issuances of Common Stock or Convertible Securities. If the Company shall at any time or from
time to time issue shares of Common Stock (or rights or warrants or any other securities or rights exercisable or convertible into or
exchangeable for shares of Common Stock (collectively, a “conversion”)), including through distributions on outstanding securities
(collectively, “Convertible Securities”) (other than in Permitted Transactions or transactions to which the adjustments set forth in
Section 12(i) are applicable), without consideration or at a consideration per share (or having a conversion price per share) that is
less than the Exercise Price (the date of such issuance, the “Pricing Date”) then, in such event:

the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant immediately prior to the Pricing
Date (the “Initial Number”) shall be increased to the number obtained by multiplying the Initial Number by a fraction (I) the
numerator of which shall be the sum of (x) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Pricing
Date and (y) the number of additional shares of Common Stock issued (or into which Convertible Securities may be converted)
and (II) the denominator of which shall be the sum of (x) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to
the Pricing Date and (y) the number of shares of Common Stock (rounded to the nearest whole share) which the Aggregate
Consideration in respect of such issuance of shares of Common Stock (or Convertible Securities) would purchase at the Market
Price of Common Stock immediately prior to the Pricing Date; and
(A)
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(B)
the Exercise Price payable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be adjusted by multiplying such Exercise
Price in effect immediately prior to the Pricing Date by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of shares of
Common Stock issuable upon exercise of this Warrant in full immediately prior to the adjustment pursuant to clause (A) above
(disregarding whether or not this Warrant was exercisable by its terms at such time), and the denominator of which shall be the
number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of this Warrant in full immediately after the adjustment pursuant to
clause (A) above (disregarding whether or not this Warrant is exercisable by its terms at such time).

For purposes of the foregoing, (1) the “Aggregate Consideration” in respect of such issuance of shares of Common Stock
(or Convertible Securities) shall be deemed to be equal to the sum of the gross offering price (before deduction of any related
expenses payable to third parties, including discounts and commissions) of all such shares of Common Stock and Convertible
Securities, plus the aggregate amount, if any, payable upon conversion of any such Convertible Securities (assuming conversion in
accordance with their terms immediately following their issuance (and further assuming for this purpose that such Convertible
Securities are convertible at such time)); (2) in the case of the issuance of such shares of Common Stock or Convertible Securities
for, in whole or in part, any non-cash property (or in the case of any non-cash property payable upon conversion of any such
Convertible Securities), the consideration represented by such noncash property shall be deemed to be the Market Price (in the case
of securities) and/or Fair Market Value (in all other cases), as applicable, of such non-cash property as of immediately prior to the
Pricing Date (before deduction of any related expenses payable to third parties, including discounts and commissions); (3) if the
Exercise Price and the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant shall have been adjusted upon the issuance
of any Convertible Securities in accordance with this Section 12, no further adjustment of the Exercise Price and the number of
Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be made for the actual issuance of shares of Common Stock upon the
actual conversion of such Convertible Securities in accordance with their terms; and (4) “Permitted Transactions” shall include (a)
issuances of shares of Common Stock (including upon exercise of options) to directors, advisors, employees or consultants of the
Company pursuant to a stock option plan, employee stock purchase plan, restricted stock plan, other employee benefit plan or other
similar compensatory agreement or arrangement approved by the Board of Directors and (b) the Common Stock issuable upon
exercise of this Warrant. For the avoidance of doubt, except in connection with any transaction described in Section 12(i), no
adjustment pursuant to this Section 12(ii) shall be made to an applicable Exercise Price or number of related Warrant Shares in the
case of the issuance of Common Stock or Convertible Securities at a consideration per share (or having a conversion or exercise
price per share) that is equal to or greater than such Exercise Price. Any adjustment made pursuant to this Section 12(ii) shall
become effective immediately upon the date of such issuance. For the avoidance of doubt, no increase to the Exercise Price or
decrease in the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be made pursuant to this Section 12(ii).
(iii)
Distributions. If the Company, at any time while this Warrant is outstanding, declares or makes any
dividend or distributes to holders of shares of Common Stock (and not to the Warrantholder) evidences of its indebtedness or assets
(including cash and cash dividends or property) or rights or warrants to subscribe for or purchase any security (including, without
limitation, any distribution of cash, stock or other securities, property or options by way of a dividend, spin off, reclassification,
corporate rearrangement, scheme of arrangement or other similar transaction other than dividends or distributions pursuant to
Section 12(i)) (a “Distribution”), then the Warrantholder will be entitled to participate in such Distribution to the same extent that
the Warrantholder would have participated therein if the Warrantholder had held the number of shares of Common Stock acquirable
upon exercise of the
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Warrant solely to the extent exercisable immediately before the date as of which a record is taken for such Distribution, or, if no
such record is taken, the date as of which the record holders of shares of Common Stock are to be determined for the participation
in such Distribution.
Repurchases. If the Company shall at any time or from time to time effect Repurchases, then the Exercise
Price shall be reduced to the price determined by multiplying the Exercise Price in effect immediately prior to the first purchase of
Equity Interests comprising such Repurchases by a fraction of which the numerator shall be (a) the product of (1) the number of
shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the first purchase of Equity Interests comprising such Repurchases and
(2) the Market Price per share of Common Stock on the Trading Day immediately preceding the first public announcement by the
Company of the intent to effect such Repurchases, minus (b) the Assumed Payment Amount, and of which the denominator shall be
the product of (x) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the first purchase of Equity Interests
comprising such Repurchases minus the number of shares of Common Stock so repurchased and (y) the Market Price per share of
Common Stock on the Trading Day immediately preceding the first public announcement by the Company of the intent to effect
such Repurchases. In such event, the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant shall be increased to the
number obtained by multiplying such number of Warrant Shares by the quotient of (A) the Exercise Price in effect immediately
prior to the first purchase of Equity Interests comprising such Repurchases divided by (B) the new Exercise Price determined in
accordance with the immediately preceding sentence. For the avoidance of doubt, no increase to the Exercise Price or decrease in
the number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be made pursuant to this Section 12(iv). For purposes of
the foregoing, the “Assumed Payment Amount” with respect to any Repurchases shall mean the aggregate Market Price (in the case
of securities) and/or Fair Market Value (in the case of cash and/or any other property), as applicable, of the aggregate consideration
paid to effect such Repurchases.
(iv)

Change of Control Transactions. In case of any Change of Control Transaction or reclassification of
Common Stock (other than a reclassification of Common Stock subject to adjustment pursuant to Section 12(i)), notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained herein, (a) the Company shall notify the Warrantholder in writing of such Change of Control
Transaction or reclassification as promptly as practicable (but in no event later than 10 Business Days prior to the effectiveness
thereof), (b) the Warrant Shares shall immediately vest fully and become non-forfeitable and, subject to clause (c) below, become
immediately exercisable upon consummation of such Change of Control Transaction or reclassification and (c) solely in the event
of a Change of Control Transaction that is a Business Combination or a reclassification, the Warrantholder’s right to receive
Warrant Shares upon exercise of this Warrant shall be converted, effective upon the occurrence of such Business Combination or
reclassification, into the right to exercise this Warrant to acquire the number of shares of stock or other securities or property
(including cash) that the shares of Common Stock issuable (at the time of such Business Combination or reclassification) upon
exercise of this Warrant immediately prior to such Business Combination or reclassification would have been entitled to receive
upon consummation of such Business Combination or reclassification. In determining the kind and amount of stock, securities or
the property receivable upon exercise of this Warrant upon and following adjustment pursuant to this paragraph, if the holders of
Common Stock have the right to elect the kind or amount of consideration receivable upon consummation of such Business
Combination, then the Warrantholder shall have the right to make the same election upon exercise of this Warrant with respect to
the number of shares of stock or other securities or property which the Warrantholder shall receive upon exercise of this Warrant.
The Company, or the Person or Persons formed by the applicable Business Combination or reclassification, or that acquire(s) the
applicable shares of Common Stock, as the case may be, shall make lawful provisions to establish such rights and to provide for
such adjustments that, for events from and after such Business
(v)
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Combination or reclassification, shall be as nearly equivalent as possible to the rights and adjustments provided for herein, and the
Company shall not be a party to or permit any such Business Combination or reclassification to occur unless such provisions are
made as a part of the terms thereof.
Rounding of Calculations; Minimum Adjustments. All calculations under this Section 12 shall be made to
the nearest one-tenth (1/10th) of a cent or to the nearest one-hundredth (1/100th) of a share, as the case may be. Any provision of
this Section 12 to the contrary notwithstanding, no adjustment in the Exercise Price or the number of Warrant Shares into which
this Warrant is exercisable shall be made if the amount of such adjustment would be less than $0.01 or one-tenth (1/10th) of a share
of Common Stock, but any such amount shall be carried forward and an adjustment with respect thereto shall be made at the time
of and together with any subsequent adjustment which, together with such amount and any other amount or amounts so carried
forward, shall aggregate $0.01 or 1/10th of a share of Common Stock, or more.
(vi)

Timing of Issuance of Additional Securities Upon Certain Adjustments. In any case in which (a) the
provisions of this Section 12 shall require that an adjustment (the “Subject Adjustment”) shall become effective immediately after a
record date (the “Subject Record Date”) for an event and (b) the Warrantholder exercises this Warrant after the Subject Record Date
and before the consummation of such event, the Company may defer until the consummation of such event issuing to such
Warrantholder the incrementally additional shares of Common Stock or other property issuable upon such exercise by reason of the
Subject Adjustment; provided, however, that the Company upon request shall promptly deliver to such Warrantholder a due bill or
other appropriate instrument evidencing such Warrantholder’s right to receive such additional shares (or other property, as
applicable), upon the consummation of such event.
(vii)

Statement Regarding Adjustments. Whenever the Exercise Price or the Warrant Shares into which this
Warrant is exercisable shall be adjusted as provided in Section 12, the Company shall promptly prepare a statement showing in
reasonable detail the facts requiring such adjustment and the Exercise Price that shall be in effect and the Warrant Shares into which
this Warrant shall be exercisable after such adjustment, and cause a copy of such statement to be delivered to the Warrantholder as
promptly as practicable after the event giving rise to the adjustment.
(viii)

(ix)
Notice of Adjustment Event. In the event that the Company shall propose to take any action of the type
described in this Section 12 (but only if the action of the type described in this Section 12 would result in an adjustment in the
Exercise Price or the Warrant Shares into which this Warrant is exercisable or a change in the type of securities or property to be
delivered upon exercise of this Warrant), the Company shall provide written notice to the Warrantholder, which notice shall specify
the record date, if any, with respect to any such action and the approximate date on which such action is to take place. Such notice
shall also set forth the facts with respect thereto as shall be reasonably necessary to indicate the effect on the Exercise Price and the
number, kind or class of shares or other securities or property which shall be deliverable upon exercise of this Warrant. In the case
of any action which would require the fixing of a record date, such notice shall be given at least 10 days prior to the date so fixed.
In case of all other action, such notice shall be given at least 10 days prior to the taking of such proposed action unless the
Company reasonably determines in good faith that, given the nature of such action, the provision of such notice at least 10 days in
advance is not reasonably practicable from a timing perspective, in which case such notice shall be given as far in advance prior to
the taking of such proposed action as is reasonably practicable from a timing perspective.
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(x)
Adjustment Rules. Any adjustments pursuant to this Section 12 shall be made successively whenever an
event referred to herein shall occur. If an adjustment in Exercise Price made hereunder would reduce the Exercise Price to an
amount below par value of the Common Stock, then such adjustment in Exercise Price made hereunder shall reduce the Exercise
Price to the par value of the Common Stock.
(xi)
No Impairment. The Company shall not, by amendment of its certificate of incorporation, bylaws or any
other organizational document, or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue or sale of
securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms to be observed or
performed hereunder by the Company, but shall at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all the provisions of this
Warrant. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Company shall not take or permit to be taken any action which
would (a) increase the par value of any shares of Common Stock receivable upon the exercise of this Warrant above the Exercise
Price then in effect or (b) entitle the Warrantholder to an adjustment under this Section 12 if the total number of shares of Common
Stock issuable after such action upon exercise of this Warrant in full (disregarding whether or not this Warrant is exercisable by its
terms at such time), together with all shares of Common Stock then outstanding and all shares of Common Stock then issuable
upon the exercise in full of any and all outstanding Equity Interests (disregarding whether or not any such Equity Interests are
exercisable by their terms at such time) would exceed the total number of shares of Common Stock then authorized by its
certificate of incorporation.
(xii)
Proceedings Prior to Any Action Requiring Adjustment. As a condition precedent to the taking of any
action which would require an adjustment pursuant to this Section 12, the Company shall take any and all action which may be
necessary, including obtaining regulatory or other governmental, New York Stock Exchange or other applicable securities
exchange, corporate or stockholder approvals or exemptions, in order that the Company may thereafter validly and legally issue as
fully paid and nonassessable all shares of Common Stock, or all other securities or other property, that the Warrantholder is entitled
to receive upon exercise of this Warrant pursuant to this Section 12.

13.

Beneficial Ownership Limitation.

(i)
Notwithstanding anything in this Warrant to the contrary, the Company shall not honor any exercise of this
Warrant, and a Warrantholder shall not have the right to exercise any portion of this Warrant, to the extent that, after giving effect to
an attempted exercise set forth on an applicable Notice of Exercise, such Warrantholder (together with such Warrantholder’s
Affiliates, and any other Person whose beneficial ownership of Common Stock would be aggregated with the Warrantholder’s for
purposes of Section 13(d) or Section 16 of the Exchange Act, and any other applicable regulations of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “Commission”), including any “group” of which the Warrantholder is a member (the foregoing,
“Attribution Parties”)) would beneficially own a number of shares of Common Stock in excess of the Beneficial Ownership
Limitation. Except as set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, for purposes of the foregoing sentence, the number of shares
of Common Stock beneficially owned by such Warrantholder and its Attribution Parties shall include the number of Warrant Shares
issuable under the Notice of Exercise with respect to which such determination is being made, but shall exclude the number of
shares of Common Stock which are issuable upon (a) exercise of the remaining, unexercised portion of any Warrant beneficially
owned by such Warrantholder or any of its Attribution Parties, and (b) exercise or conversion of the unexercised or unconverted
portion of any other securities of the Company (including any warrants) beneficially owned by such Warrantholder or any of its
Attribution Parties that are subject to a limitation on conversion or exercise similar to the limitation contained herein. Except as set
forth in the immediately preceding sentence, for purposes of
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this Section 13, beneficial ownership shall be calculated in accordance with Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and any other
applicable regulations of the Commission. In addition, for purposes hereof, “group” has the meaning set forth in Section 13(d) of
the Exchange Act and the applicable regulations of the Commission. For purposes of this Section 13, in determining the number of
outstanding shares of Common Stock, a Warrantholder may rely on the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock as stated in
the most recent of the following: (x) the Company’s most recent periodic or annual filing with the Commission, as the case may be,
(y) a more recent public announcement by the Company that is filed with the Commission, or (z) a more recent notice by the
Company or the Company’s transfer agent to the Warrantholder setting forth the number of shares of Common Stock then
outstanding. Upon the written request of a Warrantholder (which may be by email), the Company shall, within three (3) Trading
Days thereof, confirm in writing to such Warrantholder (which may be via email) the number of shares of Common Stock then
outstanding. In any case, the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be determined after giving effect to any actual
conversion or exercise of securities of the Company, including exercise of this Warrant, by such Warrantholder or its Attribution
Parties since the date as of which such number of outstanding shares of Common Stock was last publicly reported or confirmed to
the Warrantholder. The Company shall be entitled to rely on representations made to it by the Warrantholder in any Notice of
Exercise regarding its Beneficial Ownership Limitation. The Warrantholder acknowledges that the Warrantholder is solely
responsible for any schedules or statements required to be filed by it in accordance with Section 13(d) or Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act.
(ii)
The “Beneficial Ownership Limitation” shall initially be 4.999% of the number of shares of the Common
Stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to the issuance of shares of Common Stock pursuant to such Notice of Exercise
(to the extent permitted pursuant to this Section 13); provided, however, that by written notice to the Company, which will not be
effective until the 61st day after such notice is given by the Warrantholder to the Company, the Warrantholder may waive or amend
the provisions of this Section 13 to change the Beneficial Ownership Limitation to any other number, and the provisions of
this Section 13 shall continue to apply. Upon any such waiver or amendment to the Beneficial Ownership Limitation, the Beneficial
Ownership Limitation may not be further waived or amended by the Warrantholder without first providing the minimum written
notice required by the immediately preceding sentence. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time following notice of a Change of
Control Transaction under Section 12(v) with respect to a Change of Control Transaction that is pursuant to any tender offer or
exchange offer (by the Company or another Person (other than the Warrantholder or any Affiliate of the Warrantholder)), the
Warrantholder may waive or amend the Beneficial Ownership Limitation effective immediately upon written notice to the
Company and may reinstitute a Beneficial Ownership Limitation at any time thereafter effective immediately upon written notice to
the Company.
(iii)
Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 13, none of the provisions of this Section 13 shall restrict
in any way the number of shares of Common Stock which the Warrantholder may receive or beneficially own in order to determine
the amount of securities or other consideration that the Warrantholder may receive in the event of a Change of Control Transaction
as contemplated in Section 12 of this Warrant.

14.
Governing Law and Jurisdiction. This Warrant shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in
accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without regard to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule
(whether of the State of New York or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction
other than the State of New York. In addition, each of the parties (a) submits to the personal jurisdiction and venue of the
United States District Court for the Southern District of New York or any New York State court sitting in the
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Borough of Manhattan, City of New York and appellate courts having jurisdiction of appeals from any of the foregoing (the
“Chosen Courts”), in the event any dispute (whether in contract, tort or otherwise) arises out of this Warrant or the
transactions contemplated hereby, (b) agrees that it shall not attempt to deny or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion
or other request for leave from any such court, and (c) agrees that it shall not bring any claim, action or proceeding relating
to this Warrant or the transactions contemplated hereby in any court other than the Chosen Courts. Each party agrees that
service of process upon such party in any such claim, action or proceeding shall be effective if notice is given in accordance
with the provisions of this Warrant.
15.

Binding Effect. This Warrant shall be binding upon any successors or assigns of the Company.

16.
Amendments. This Warrant may be amended and the observance of any term of this Warrant may be waived only
with the written consent of the Company and the Warrantholder.
17.
Notices. Any notice, request, instruction or other document to be given hereunder by any party to the other shall
be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (a) if sent by registered or certified mail in the United States return
receipt requested, upon receipt, (b) if sent by nationally recognized overnight air courier, one Business Day after mailing, (c) if sent
by email or facsimile, with a copy mailed on the same day in the manner provided in clauses (a) or (b) of this Section 17 when
transmitted and receipt is confirmed, or (d) if otherwise personally delivered, when delivered. All notices hereunder shall be
delivered as set forth below, or pursuant to such other instructions as may be designated in writing by the party to receive such
notice.
If to the Company, to:
Name:
StarTek, Inc.
Address: 8200 E. Maplewood Ave., Suite 100
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
Email:
Doug.Tackett@startek.com
Attn:
Doug Tackett
with a copy to (which copy alone shall not constitute notice):
Name:
Jenner & Block LLP
Address: 353 N. Clark Street
Chicago, IL 60654-3456
Fax:
(312) 840-8711
Email:
tmonson@jenner.com
Attn:
Thomas A. Monson
and
Name:
Jenner & Block LLP
Address: 919 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Fax:
(212) 909-0882
Email:
mglass@jenner.com
Attn:
Martin C. Glass
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If to the Warrantholder, to:
Name:

Amazon.com NV Investment Holdings LLC
c/o Amazon.com, Inc.
Address: 410 Terry Avenue North
Seattle, WA 98109-5210
Fax:
(206) 266-7010
Attn:
General Counsel
with a copy to (which copy alone shall not constitute notice):
Name:
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
Address: 1888 Century Park East, Suite 2100
Los Angeles, CA 90067
Fax:
(212) 558-1600
Email:
krautheimere@sullcrom.com
Attn:
Eric M. Krautheimer
and
Name:
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
Address: 125 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004
Fax:
(212) 558-1600
Email:
veeraraghavank@sullcrom.com
Attn:
Krishna Veeraraghavan
18.
Entire Agreement. This Warrant and the forms and schedules attached hereto, the Transaction Agreement, the
other Transaction Documents (as defined in the Transaction Agreement), the Commercial Arrangements in effect as of the
execution of this Warrant and the Confidentiality Agreement (as defined in the Transaction Agreement) constitute the entire
agreement, and supersede all other prior agreements, understandings, representations and warranties, both written and oral, between
the parties, with respect to the subject matter hereof.
19.
Specific Performance. The parties agree that failure of any party to perform its agreements and covenants
hereunder, including a party’s failure to take all actions as are necessary on such party’s part in accordance with the terms and
conditions of this Warrant to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, will cause irreparable injury to the other party, for
which monetary damages, even if available, will not be an adequate remedy. It is agreed that the parties shall be entitled to
equitable relief including injunctive relief and specific performance of the terms hereof, without the requirement of posting a bond
or other security, and each party hereby consents to the issuance of injunctive relief by any court of competent jurisdiction to
compel performance of a party’s obligations and to the granting by any court of the remedy of specific performance of such party’s
obligations hereunder, this being in addition to any other remedies to which the parties are entitled at law or equity.
20.
Limitation of Liability. No provision hereof, in the absence of any affirmative action by the Warrantholder to
exercise this Warrant to purchase Warrant Shares, and no enumeration herein of the rights or privileges of Warrantholder, shall give
rise to any liability of the Warrantholder for the purchase price of any Common Stock or as a stockholder of the Company, whether
such liability is asserted by the
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Company or by creditors of the Company.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be duly executed by a duly authorized officer.
Dated: January 23, 2018

STARTEK, INC.
By:/s/ Don Norsworthy
Name: Don Norsworthy
Title: CFO

Acknowledged and Agreed

AMAZON.COM NV INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LLC
By:/s/ Alex Ceballos Encarnacion
Name: Alex Ceballos Encarnacion
Title: Vice President
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Annex A
[Form of Notice of Vesting Event]
Date:
TO:

Amazon.com, Inc.

RE:

Notice of Vesting Event

Reference is made to that certain Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated as of January 23, 2018 (the “Warrant”), issued
to Amazon.com NV Investment Holdings LLC representing a warrant to purchase 4,000,000 shares of common stock of StarTek,
Inc. (the “Company”). Capitalized terms used herein without definition are used as defined in the Warrant.
The undersigned hereby delivers notice to you that a Vesting Event has occurred under the terms of the Warrant.
A.

Vesting Event. The following Vesting Event has occurred on or around __________________, 20__:
_____ Revenue to the Company and its Affiliates totaling at least $______ million in the aggregate has been
generated in connection with the Commercial Arrangements

B.

Vested Warrant Shares. After giving effect to the Vesting Event referenced in Paragraph A above, the aggregate
number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrant that have vested under the terms of the Warrant is:
____________________________

C.

Exercised Warrant Shares. The aggregate number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrant that have
been exercised as of the date hereof is:
____________________________

D.

Purchase Price of Exercised Warrant Shares. The aggregate purchase price of the Warrant Shares that have been
exercised as of the date hereof is:
____________________________

E.

Unexercised Warrant Shares. After giving effect to the Vesting Event referenced in Paragraph A above, the
aggregate number of Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of the Warrant that have vested but remain unexercised
under the Warrant is:
____________________________
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STARTEK, INC.

By: _____________________________________
Name: __________________________________
Title:____________________________________
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Annex B
[Form of Notice of Exercise]
Date:
TO: StarTek, Inc.
RE: Election to Purchase Common Stock
The undersigned, pursuant to the provisions set forth in the attached Warrant, hereby agrees to subscribe for and purchase
the number of shares of Common Stock set forth below covered by such Warrant. The undersigned, in accordance with Section 3 of
the Warrant, hereby agrees to pay the aggregate Exercise Price for such shares of Common Stock. A new warrant evidencing the
remaining shares of Common Stock covered by such Warrant, but not yet subscribed for and purchased, if any, should be issued in
the name of the Warrantholder.
Number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which the Warrant is being exercised (including shares to be withheld as
payment of the Exercise Price pursuant to Section 3(i) of the Warrant, if any):
______________________________________
Method of Payment of Exercise Price (note if cashless exercise or cash exercise pursuant to Section 3(ii) of the Warrant):
___________________________________
Aggregate Exercise Price: _______________________________
Holder:
By:
Name:

Title:
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Schedule 1
Exception to Vesting upon a Change of Control Transaction
For the first six months following the date of the Transaction Agreement only with respect to a single transaction or series
of related transactions, a Business Combination or other negotiated transaction approved by the Board of Directors shall not
constitute a Change of Control Transaction so long as (1) the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such Business
Combination or other negotiated transaction continue to hold no less than 40% of the fully diluted Common Stock after the
consummation of such Business Combination or other negotiated transaction, (2) the Common Stock continues to be traded on the
New York Stock Exchange and (3) unless otherwise agreed in writing by Amazon and the Company, the Public Float of the
Company remains no less than 40% of the outstanding Common Stock. With respect to any Business Combination or other
negotiated transaction approved by the Board of Directors that satisfies the exception set forth in the foregoing sentence, the second
sentence to the definition of Fair Market Value will not apply. For the avoidance of doubt, if an exception occurs pursuant to the
first sentence of this Schedule 1, any subsequent event or transaction resulting in (i) the Common Stock no longer being traded on
the New York Stock Exchange, (ii) unless otherwise agreed in writing by Amazon and the Company, the Public Float of the
Company being less than 40% of the outstanding Common Stock, or (iii) any Person acquiring or beneficially owning, directly or
indirectly, 60% or more of the outstanding Equity Interests in the Company, will constitute a Change of Control Transaction.
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Schedule 2
Vesting Events
Each of the following shall constitute a “Vesting Event.”
1.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

2.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

3.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

4.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

5.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

6.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

7.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

8.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

9.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

10.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

11.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].
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12.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

13.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

14.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***]

15.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

16.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

17.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

18.

With respect to [***] Warrant Shares, when the aggregate gross revenue of the Company or any of its Affiliates from
Amazon or any of its Affiliates on or following the date of this Warrant in connection with the Commercial Arrangements
equals or exceeds $[***].

For the avoidance of doubt, no additional Warrant Shares will vest once the total number of Warrant Shares authorized
under Section 2 of the Warrant have vested.
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ANNEX A:

Form of Warrant

This TRANSACTION AGREEMENT, dated as of January 23, 2018 (this “Agreement”), is by and between StarTek, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Amazon.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Amazon”).
RECITALS:
WHEREAS, as of the date of this Agreement, the Company and/or any of its Affiliates have entered into and intend to
enter into certain commercial arrangements with Amazon and/or any of its Affiliates under which the Company and/or its Affiliates
may from time to time provide services to Amazon and/or its Affiliates, including but not limited to the Amended and Restated
Master Services Agreement, dated as of September 23, 2015, by and between the Company and AMZN wvcs LLC (the
“Commercial Arrangements”);
WHEREAS, in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the
Company desires to issue to Amazon.com NV Investment Holdings LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Amazon that is
disregarded as separate from Amazon for U.S. Federal income tax purposes (“NV Investment Holdings”) and NV Investment
Holdings desires to acquire from the Company, at the Closing, a warrant to purchase a specified number of shares of the
Company’s common stock, $ 0.01 par value per share (the “Common Stock”); and
WHEREAS, each of the parties wishes to set forth in this Agreement certain terms and conditions regarding, among other
things, NV Investment Holdings’ ownership of the Warrant and Warrant Shares (as defined below), as applicable.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements
set forth herein, and intending to be legally bound, the parties agree as set forth herein.
ARTICLE 1
WARRANT ISSUANCE; CLOSING
1.1
Warrant Issuance. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, the Company shall issue
to NV Investment Holdings, and NV Investment Holdings shall acquire from the Company, at the Closing, a warrant to purchase up
to an aggregate of 4,000,000 fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock (the “Warrant Shares”), subject to adjustment
in accordance with its terms, in the form attached hereto as Annex A (the “Warrant”). The issuance of the Warrant by the Company
and the acquisition of the Warrant by NV Investment Holdings are referred to herein as the “Warrant Issuance”.

Closing. The closing of the Warrant Issuance (the “Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Sullivan &
Cromwell LLP, 1888 Century Park East, Suite 2100, Los Angeles, CA 90067, immediately following the execution and delivery of
this Agreement. At the Closing, the Company shall deliver to Amazon:
(a)
the Warrant, as evidenced by a duly and validly executed warrant certificate dated as of the date hereof and
bearing appropriate legends as hereinafter provided for; and
(b)
a certificate executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company, dated as of the date of Closing,
certifying resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) rendering any potentially applicable Anti-Takeover
Provisions inapplicable to this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and
approving NV Investment Holdings
1.2

becoming an “interested stockholder” pursuant to Section 203(a)(1) of the Delaware General Corporation Law.
1.3
Interpretation. When a reference is made in this Agreement to “Recitals,” “Articles,” “Sections,” “Annexes,”
“Schedules” or “Exhibits” such reference shall be to a Recital, Article or Section of, or Annex, Schedule or Exhibit to, this
Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The terms defined in the singular have a comparable meaning when used in the plural, and
vice versa. References to “herein,” “hereof,” “hereunder” and the like refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular
section or provision, unless the context requires otherwise. References to parties refer to the parties to this Agreement. The table
of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and are not part of this Agreement.
Whenever the words “include,” “includes” or “including” are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed followed by the words
“without limitation.” No rule of construction against the draftsperson shall be applied in connection with the interpretation or
enforcement of this Agreement, as this Agreement is the product of negotiation between sophisticated parties advised by counsel.
Any reference to a wholly owned subsidiary of a person shall mean such subsidiary is directly or indirectly wholly owned by such
person. All references to “$” or “dollars” mean the lawful currency of the United States of America. Except as expressly stated in
this Agreement, all references to any statute, rule or regulation are to the statute, rule or regulation as amended, modified,
supplemented or replaced from time to time (and, in the case of statutes, include any rules and regulations promulgated under the
statute) and to any section of any statute, rule or regulation include any successor to the section. The term “Business Day” means
any day, other than a Saturday, a Sunday or any other day on which commercial banks in the State of New York are authorized or
required by Applicable Law to be closed. With respect to the Warrant and Warrant Shares, such term shall include any shares of
Common Stock or other securities of the Company received by NV Investment Holdings as a result of any stock split, stock
dividend or distribution, other subdivision, reorganization, reclassification or similar capital transaction.

ARTICLE 2
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
Non-Reliance; Disclosure

2.1

“Material Adverse Effect” means any change, effect, event, development, circumstance or occurrence
(each, an “Effect”) that, taken individually or when taken together with all other applicable Effects, has been, is or would
reasonably be, expected to be materially adverse to (i) the business, assets, condition (financial or otherwise) or results of
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (ii) the ability of the Company to complete the transactions
contemplated by the Transaction Documents or to perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents; provided, however,
that in no event shall any Effect, alone or in combination, be deemed to constitute, or be taken into account in determining whether
there has been, is or would be, a Material Adverse Effect to the extent resulting from: (A) any change in general economic, market
or political conditions; (B) any change in generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) or Applicable
Law to the extent such change is generally applicable and not specifically directed at the Company or its subsidiaries; (C) any
actual or threatened act of war (whether or not declared), armed hostilities, sabotage or terrorism, or any actual or threatened
material escalation or worsening of any such events, or any national disaster or any national or international calamity; (D) any
failure, in and of itself, to meet internal or published projections, forecasts, targets or revenue or earnings predictions for any
a.

period, as well as any change, in and of itself, by the Company in any projections, forecasts, targets or revenue or earnings
predictions for any period (provided that the underlying causes of such failures (to the extent not otherwise falling within one of the
other exceptions in this proviso) may constitute or be taken into account in determining whether there has been, is, or would be, a
Material Adverse Effect); or (E) any change in the price or trading volume of the Common Stock (provided that the underlying
causes of such change (to the extent not otherwise falling within one of the other exceptions in this proviso) may constitute or be
taken into account in determining whether there has been, is or would be, a Material Adverse Effect); provided, further, however,
that any Effect referred to in clauses (A) through (C) may be taken into account in determining whether or not there has been, is, or
would be, a Material Adverse Effect if such Effect has a disproportionate adverse effect on the Company and its subsidiaries, taken
as a whole, as compared to other similarly situated participants in the industry in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate.
b.
“Previously Disclosed” means information set forth or incorporated in the SEC Reports (in each case
excluding any disclosures set forth in any risk factor section and in any section relating to forward-looking or safe harbor
statements), to the extent such SEC Reports are filed or furnished at least five (5) Business Days prior to the execution and delivery
of this Agreement.
c.
Each party acknowledges that it is not relying upon any representation or warranty of the other party,
express or implied, not set forth in the Transaction Documents. Amazon acknowledges that it has had an opportunity to conduct
such review and analysis of the business, assets, condition, operations and prospects of the Company and its subsidiaries, including
an opportunity to ask such questions of management and to review such information maintained by the Company and its
subsidiaries, in each case as it considers sufficient for the purpose of consummating the transactions contemplated by the
Transaction Documents. Amazon further acknowledges that it has had such an opportunity to consult with its own counsel,
financial and tax advisers and other professional advisers as it believes is sufficient for purposes of the transactions contemplated
by the other Transaction Documents. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Transaction Documents” refers collectively to this
Agreement, the Warrant, and any other agreement entered into by and among the parties and/or their Affiliates on the date hereof in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, in each case, as amended, modified or supplemented from time to
time in accordance with their respective terms.

Representations and Warranties of the Company Except as Previously Disclosed or as set forth in the
correspondingly numbered section of the Disclosure Schedules, the Company represents and warrants as of the date of this
Agreement and, in the case of the representation in the last sentence of Section 2.2(c), as of the date of each issuance of Warrant
Shares, to Amazon that:
2.2

a.
Organization and Authority. The Company (i) has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a
corporation in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with full corporate power and authority to own its properties
and conduct its business in all material respects as currently conducted, and, except as would not constitute a Material Adverse
Effect, has been and is duly qualified as a foreign corporation for the transaction of business and is in good standing under the laws
of each other jurisdiction in which the ownership or leasing of property or the conduct of its business requires such qualification.
The Company has made available to Amazon complete and correct copies of the Company’s certificate of incorporation and
bylaws, as of the date of this Agreement, and each as so delivered is in full force and effect.

Capitalization. The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 32,000,000 shares of Common
Stock of which, as of the date hereof, 16,194,378 shares were issued and outstanding.
b.

The Company has (i) 2,363,139 shares of Common Stock subject to issuance pursuant to outstanding stock options and other equity
compensation awards of the Company, (ii) 230,479 shares of Common Stock available for future grant under the Company’s 2008
Equity Incentive Plan and (iii) 60,187 shares of Common Stock available for future issuance under the Company’s Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. The outstanding shares of Common Stock have been, and the shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to any
Company Stock Plan will be, duly authorized and validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and subject to no preemptive rights
(and were not issued in violation of any preemptive rights, the Company’s certificate of incorporation, or any Applicable Law).
Except as set forth above or pursuant to the Warrant, there are no (A) shares of capital stock or other equity interests or voting
securities of the Company authorized, reserved for issuance, issued or outstanding, (B) options, warrants, calls, preemptive rights,
subscription or other rights, instruments, agreements, arrangements or commitments of any character, obligating the Company or
any of its subsidiaries to issue, transfer or sell or cause to be issued, transferred or sold any shares of capital stock or other equity
interest or voting security in the Company or any securities or instruments convertible into or exchangeable for such shares of
capital stock or other equity interests or voting securities, or obligating the Company or any of its subsidiaries to grant, extend or
enter into any such option, warrant, call, preemptive right, subscription or other right, instrument, agreement, arrangement or
commitment, (C) outstanding contractual obligations of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise
acquire any capital stock or other equity interest or voting securities of the Company, or (D) issued or outstanding performance
awards, units, rights to receive any capital stock or other equity interest or voting securities of the Company on a deferred basis, or
rights to purchase or receive any capital stock or equity interest or voting securities issued or granted by the Company to any
current or former director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company. No subsidiary of the Company owns any shares of
capital stock or other equity interest or voting securities of the Company. There are no voting trusts or other agreements or
understandings to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party with respect to the voting of the capital stock or other
equity interest or voting securities of the Company. All options granted and shares reserved or issued pursuant to the Company’s
2008 Equity Incentive Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan and any executive incentive plan (collectively, the “Company Stock
Plans”) have been granted, reserved and issued in all material respects in full compliance with their respective Company stock plan
and Applicable Law. The issuance of the Warrant and the Warrant Shares will not result in any adjustment to the conversion price
or exercise price of any securities of the Company that are convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, shares of Common
Stock. As of the date of this Agreement, assuming the issuance of the Warrant Shares, the number of Warrant Shares equals 17.7%
of the outstanding shares of Common Stock on a “fully diluted basis.”
c.
The Warrant and Warrant Shares. The Warrant has been duly authorized by the Company and constitutes a
valid, legal and binding obligation of the Company in accordance with its terms, except as the same may be limited by the
Bankruptcy Exceptions. The Warrant Shares have been duly authorized and reserved for issuance upon exercise of the Warrant and,
when so issued, paid for and delivered upon due exercise of the Warrant, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and
free and clear of any liens or encumbrances, other than liens or encumbrances created by the Transaction Documents, arising as a
matter of Applicable Law or created by or at the direction of Amazon or any of its Affiliates.
d.
Authorization, Enforceability.
i.
The Company has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents, as applicable, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and to carry out its obligations
hereunder and thereunder, except with respect to the issuance of Warrant Shares in an amount in excess of 3,222,681 (the
“Excess Warrant Shares”), which is subject to the Requisite Stockholder Approval. The execution, delivery and

performance by the Company of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate
action on the part of the Company, and, subject to the Company’s receipt of Requisite Stockholder Approval for the
issuance of the Excess Warrant Shares, no further approval or authorization is required on the part of the Company. This
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other
parties hereto and thereto, are valid and binding obligations of the Company, enforceable against the Company, in
accordance with their respective terms, except as the same may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and general equitable
principles, regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding at law or in equity (“Bankruptcy
Exceptions”).
ii.
The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the other Transaction
Documents, as applicable, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and compliance by
the Company with any of the provisions hereof and thereof, will not (A) violate, conflict with, or result in a breach of any
provision of, or constitute a default (or an event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default)
under, or result in the termination of, or accelerate the performance required by, or result in a right of termination or
acceleration of, or result in the creation of, any lien, security interest, charge or encumbrance upon any of the properties or
assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries under any of the terms, conditions or provisions of (x) its certificate of
incorporation (or analogous organizational documents), or (y) any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, license,
lease, agreement or other instrument or obligation to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which it
or any of its subsidiaries may be bound, or to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of the properties or assets
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is subject; (B) subject to compliance with the statutes and regulations referred to
in the next paragraph, violate any Applicable Law or Order applicable to the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of
their respective properties or assets except, in the case of clauses (A)(y) and (B), for those occurrences that would not
constitute a Material Adverse Effect; (C) result in any payment (including severance, unemployment compensation,
forgiveness of indebtedness or otherwise) becoming due to any director or any employee of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries under any employment, compensation or benefit plan, program, policy, agreement or arrangement that is
sponsored, maintained or contributed to by the Company or any of its subsidiaries (each, a “Company Benefit Plan”) or
otherwise; (D) increase any benefits otherwise payable under any Company Benefit Plan; (E) result in any acceleration of
the time of payment or vesting of any such benefits; (F) require the funding or acceleration of funding of any trust or other
funding vehicle; or (G) constitute a “change in control,” “change of control” or other similar term under any Company
Benefit Plan; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not be deemed to include payments or other benefits under a
Company Benefit Plan that (a) gives effect to the Company’s performance of the Transaction Documents insofar as that
performance impacts the Company’s overall results of operations, and (b) are made to any individual whose compensation
is based in part on performance related to a specific territory that is impacted by the Company’s performance of the
Transaction Documents.
Other than (A) such notices, filings, exemptions, reviews, authorizations, consents or approvals as have
been made or obtained as of the date hereof, and (B) notices, filings, exemptions, reviews, authorizations, consents or
approvals as may be required under, and other applicable requirements of (1) any Antitrust Laws, to the extent applicable,
(2) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), (3) the Securities Act of 1933, as
iii.

amended (the “Securities Act”), and (4) the New York Stock Exchange, no notice to, filing with, exemption or review by,
or authorization, consent or approval of, any federal, national, state, local, municipal, international or multinational
government or political subdivision thereof, governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency, taxing or
regulatory authority, judicial or administrative body, official, tribunal or other instrumentality of any government, whether
federal, state or local, domestic or foreign, or arbitrator or SRO (each, a “Governmental Entity”) is required to be made or
obtained by the Company or any of its subsidiaries in connection with the consummation by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries of the Warrant Issuance and the other transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Transaction
Documents, except for any such notices, filings, exemptions, reviews, authorizations, consents and approvals the failure of
which to make or obtain would not constitute a Material Adverse Effect. For purposes of this Agreement, “Antitrust Laws”
means the HSR Act, the Sherman Act, as amended, the Clayton Act, as amended, the Federal Trade Commission Act, as
amended, and any other federal, state, local, domestic, foreign or supranational laws that are designed to prohibit, restrict
or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or that provide for review of foreign
investment
e.

Company Financial Statements; Internal Controls.

i.
Each of the consolidated financial statements included in the SEC Reports (A) complied as to form, as of
their respective dates of filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”), in all material respects
with the applicable accounting requirements and with the rules and regulations of the Commission, (B) were prepared in
accordance with GAAP, in all material respects, applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be
indicated in such financial statements or in the notes thereto and subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal
year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnote disclosure), and (C) fairly present, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position and the consolidated results of operations and cash flows (and changes in financial position,
if any) of the Company and its subsidiaries as of the date and for the periods referred to in such financial statements except
to the extent such financial statements have been modified or superseded by later SEC Reports, and except, in the case of
the unaudited statements, as permitted by Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act and pursuant to Sections
13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and for normal year end audit adjustments which would not be material in amount or
effect.
ii.
Neither the Company nor any of the Company’s subsidiaries is a party to, or has any commitment to
become a party to, any joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership or any similar agreement or arrangement, where the
result, purpose or effect of such agreement or arrangement is to avoid disclosure of any material transaction involving, or
material liabilities of, the Company or any of its subsidiaries in the SEC Reports (including the financial statements
contained therein).
iii.
The Company has designed and maintains a system of internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) sufficient to provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability
of financial reporting. The Company (A) has designed and maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules, regulations and forms, and is
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management as appropriate to allow timely decisions

regarding required disclosure, and (B) has disclosed, based on its most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Company’s outside auditors and the Audit Committee of the Board (x) all significant deficiencies and
material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting that would reasonably be
expected to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and (y)
any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting, all of which information described in clauses (x) and (y) above has
been disclosed by the Company to Amazon prior to the date hereof. Any material change in internal control over financial
reporting required to be disclosed in any SEC Report has been so disclosed.
iv.
Since December 31, 2016, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has received any material
complaint, allegation, assertion or claim regarding the accounting or auditing practices, procedures, methodologies or
methods of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or their respective internal accounting controls.
v.
Each of the principal executive officer of the Company and the principal financial officer of the Company
(or each former principal executive officer of the Company and each former principal financial officer of the Company, as
applicable) has made all certifications required by Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Exchange Act and Sections 302 and
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (“SOX”), with respect to the SEC Reports, and the statements
contained in such certifications were true and complete on the date such certifications were made. For purposes of this
Agreement, “principal executive officer” and “principal financial officer” shall have the meanings given to such terms in
SOX.
f.
g.

No Material Adverse Effect. Since September 30, 2017, no Material Adverse Effect has occurred.
Reports.

i.
Since December 31, 2016, the Company has complied in all material respects with the filing requirements
of Sections 13(a), 14(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and of the Securities Act.
ii.
The SEC Reports, when they became effective or were filed with the Commission as the case may be,
complied in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and SOX as applicable, and
none of such documents, when they became effective or were filed with the Commission, as the case may be, contained an
untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, except to the extent such
statements have been modified or superseded by later SEC Reports filed or furnished and publicly available prior to the date
of this Agreement.

Litigation and Liabilities. Since December 31, 2016, there have been, and there are, no (a) civil, criminal or
administrative actions, suits, claims, hearings, arbitrations, investigations or other proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened against the Company or any of its subsidiaries that (i) relate to the Warrant or Warrant Shares, (ii) challenge
the validity or enforceability of the Company’s obligations under this Agreement or the Transaction Documents to which the
Company is or will be a party or (iii) would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be likely to have a Material Adverse
Effect or (b) obligations or liabilities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, except for those that have not had, or would not,
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be likely to have, a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries is a party to or subject
h.

to the provisions of any material judgment, order, writ, injunction, decree or award of any Governmental Entity.
i.
Anti-Takeover Provisions. The actions taken by the Board to approve this Agreement, the Transaction
Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties of
Amazon set forth in Section 2.3(c), constitute all the action necessary to render inapplicable to this Agreement, the Transaction
Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby the provisions of any potentially applicable anti-takeover, control
share, fair price, moratorium, interested shareholder or similar Applicable Law (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Section 203
of the Delaware General Corporation Law) and any potentially applicable provision of the Company’s certificate of incorporation
or bylaws (collectively, the “Anti-Takeover Provisions”). The Company is not a party to any stockholder rights plan or “poison
pill” agreement.
j.
Related Party Transactions. Except for compensation arrangements with respect to which all required
disclosures have been made in the SEC Reports, no stockholder, officer or director of the Company or immediate family member
thereof (a) is presently a party or has a direct or indirect interest in any Person (other than publicly traded securities) in any party to
any agreement with the Company, (b) owns any direct or any indirect, interest in any assets of the Company or (c) has any cause of
action or other claim against, or owes any amounts to, the Company except for claims of employees in the ordinary course of
business, including for accrued vacation pay or for accrued benefits under a Company Benefit Plan. There are no outstanding notes
payable to, accounts receivable from or advances by the Company to, and the Company is not otherwise a creditor of, any
stockholder, director or officer or any Affiliate of such stockholder, director or officer.
k.
Registration Rights. The Company has not granted to any Person the right to request or require the
Company to register any securities issued by the Company other than the rights granted to Amazon pursuant to Article VI of this
Agreement.
l.
Certain Business Practices. Except as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have,
individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, the Company, its subsidiaries and, to the knowledge of the Company,
their respective directors, officers, employees, consultants and agents in each case acting on behalf of the Company have complied
at all times since December 31, 2016, and are in compliance, with (A) the provisions of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of
1977, as amended (15 U.S.C. § 78dd1, et seq.) (“FCPA”), and (B) the provisions of all anti-bribery, anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering Applicable Laws of each jurisdiction in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate and in which any agent thereof
is conducting or has conducted business involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Except as has not had, and would not
reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, none of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries and/or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ respective directors, officers,
employees, consultants and agents in each case acting on behalf of the Company have paid, offered or promised to pay, or
authorized or ratified the payment, directly or indirectly, of any monies or anything of value to any national, provincial, municipal
or other Government Official or any political party or candidate for political office for the purpose of influencing any act or
decision of such official or of any Governmental Entity to obtain or retain business, or direct business to any person or to secure
any other improper benefit or advantage in each case in violation in any material respect of the FCPA and any Applicable Laws
described in clause (B) of the immediately preceding sentence. As used in this Agreement, the term “Government Official” means
any official, officer, employee, or representative of, or any Person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of, any
Governmental Entity, and includes any official or employee of any entity directly or indirectly owned or controlled by any
Governmental Entity, and any officer or employee of a public international organization, as well as any Person acting in an official
capacity for or on behalf of any such Governmental Entity, or

for or on behalf of any such public international organization. Except as has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have,
individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, the Company and its subsidiaries (x) have instituted policies and
procedures reasonably designed to ensure compliance with the FCPA and other anti-bribery, anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering Applicable Laws in each jurisdiction in which the Company or any of its subsidiaries operate and (y) have not revoked
such policies and procedures.
m.
Brokers; Fees and Expenses. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other person is entitled to
any broker’s, finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission, or the reimbursement of expenses, in connection with
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents based upon arrangements made by or on
behalf of the Company.
2.3
Representations and Warranties of Amazon. Amazon hereby represents and warrants as of the date of this
Agreement to the Company that:
a.
Organization. Amazon has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing
under the laws of the State of Delaware, with the corporate power and authority to own its properties and conduct its business in all
material respects as currently conducted.
b.

Authorization, Enforceability.

Amazon and each of its subsidiaries that is a party to any other Transaction Document have the corporate or
analogous power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a
party, to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and to carry out its obligations hereunder and
thereunder. The execution, delivery and performance by Amazon, and by each of its subsidiaries that is a party to any other
Transaction Document, as applicable, of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or
analogous action on its, or such subsidiary’s or part, as applicable, and no further approval or authorization is required on its
part, or such subsidiary’s part, as applicable. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, assuming the due
authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto, are valid and binding obligations of Amazon,
and such subsidiary, as applicable, enforceable against it, and such subsidiary, as applicable, in accordance with their
respective terms, except as the same may be limited by Bankruptcy Exceptions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, the exercise of the Warrant may require further board of director (or analogous) approvals or
authorizations on the part of Amazon or such subsidiary, as applicable (the “Exercise Approval”).
ii.
The execution, delivery and performance by Amazon, or any such subsidiary, as applicable, of this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it, or any such subsidiary is a party and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and compliance by it, and such subsidiary, as applicable, with any of the
provisions hereof and thereof, will not (A) violate, conflict with, or result in a breach of any provision of, or constitute a
default (or an event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default) under, or result in the
termination of, or accelerate the performance required by, or result in a right of termination or acceleration of, or result in
the creation of, any lien, security interest, charge or encumbrance upon any of its properties or assets under any of the
terms, conditions or provisions of (x) subject to Exercise Approval, its, or such subsidiary’s, as applicable, organizational
documents or (y) any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, license,
i.

lease, agreement or other instrument or obligation to which it, or such subsidiary, as applicable, is a party or by which it, or
such subsidiary, as applicable, may be bound, or to which it, or such subsidiary, as applicable, or any of its, or such
subsidiary’s, as applicable, properties or assets is subject, or (B) subject to compliance with the statutes and regulations
referred to in the next paragraph, violate any Applicable Law or Order applicable to it, or such subsidiary, as applicable, or
any of its, or such subsidiary’s, as applicable, properties or assets except, in the case of clauses (A)(y) and (B), for those
occurrences that, individually or in the aggregate, have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, a material
adverse effect on the ability of Amazon to complete the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents or to
perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents.
(iii) Other than (A) such notices, filings, exemptions, reviews, authorizations, consents or approvals as have been
made or obtained as of the date hereof, and (B) notices, filings, exemptions, reviews, authorizations, consents or approvals
as may be required under, and other applicable requirements of (1) any Antitrust Laws, to the extent applicable, (2) the
Exchange Act and (3) the Securities Act, no notice to, filing with, exemption or review by, or authorization, consent or
approval of, any Governmental Entity is required to be made or obtained by it or any of its subsidiaries in connection with
the consummation by Amazon or any of its subsidiaries of the Warrant Issuance and the other transactions contemplated
hereby and by the other Transaction Documents, except for any such notices, filings, exemptions, reviews, authorizations,
consents and approvals the failure of which to make or obtain have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have,
individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on the ability of Amazon to complete the transactions
contemplated by the Transaction Documents or to perform its obligations under the Transaction Documents.
Ownership. Other than pursuant to this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, Amazon is not
the Beneficial Owner of (i) any shares of Common Stock or (ii) any securities or other instruments representing the right to acquire
shares of Common Stock.
c.

Brokers; Fees and Expenses. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other person is entitled to
any broker’s, finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission, or the reimbursement of expenses, in connection with
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents based upon arrangements made by or on
behalf of Amazon.
d.

Survival. The representations and warranties in this Agreement shall survive for twelve (12) months following the
Closing; provided that the representation in the last sentence of Section 2.2(c) shall survive until the six (6) month anniversary of
the date that the Warrant is exercised in full.
2.4

ARTICLE 3
COVENANTS
Efforts.

3.1

Subject to the terms and conditions hereof (including the remainder of this Section 3.1) and the other
Transaction Documents, each party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do,
or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or desirable under Applicable Law to carry out the provisions hereof and thereof
and give effect to the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, each of
the parties shall (i) subject to the provisions of this Section 3.1, including Section 3.1(d), use its
a.

commercially reasonable efforts to obtain as promptly as reasonably practicable and advisable (as determined in good faith by
Amazon after consultation with the Company in accordance with the first sentence of Section 3.1(d) and subject, in the case of the
Requisite Stockholder Approval, to the provisions of Section 3.4) all exemptions, authorizations, consents or approvals from, and
to make all filings with and to give all notices to, all third parties, including any Governmental Entities, required in connection with
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall
include providing, as promptly as reasonably practicable and advisable, such information to any Governmental Entity as such
Governmental Entity may request in connection therewith, and (ii) cooperate fully with the other party in promptly seeking to
obtain all such exemptions, authorizations, consents or approvals and to make all such filings and give such notices.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and only to the extent required by Applicable Law
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Antitrust Law), (i) as promptly as practicable after written notice from Amazon, and in
any event no later than in accordance with established regulatory timeframes, the parties shall file any Notification and Report
Forms required under the HSR Act with the Federal Trade Commission and the United States Department of Justice and (ii) as
promptly as practicable after written notice from Amazon, the parties shall file, make or give, as applicable, all other filings,
requests or notices required under any other Antitrust Laws, in each case with respect to the issuance of the Warrant Shares (the
“Initial Filing Transaction”) (the filings, requests and notices described in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii), collectively, the “Initial
Antitrust Filings”). In addition, following the receipt of the Initial Antitrust Clearance, to the extent required by Applicable Law
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Antitrust Law) in connection with any further issuance of Warrant Shares (in each case,
whether in full or in part), the parties shall file, make or give, as applicable, as promptly as reasonably practicable and advisable (as
determined in good faith by Amazon after consultation with the Company in accordance with the first sentence of Section 3.1(d)),
any further required filings, requests or notices required under any Antitrust Laws, including the HSR Act. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, each party shall supply as promptly as reasonably practicable to the appropriate Governmental Entities
any information and documentary material that may be required pursuant to the HSR Act or any other Antitrust Laws. For purposes
of this Agreement, the term “Initial Antitrust Clearance” as of any time means (x) prior to such time, the expiration or termination
of the waiting period under the HSR Act and the receipt of all exemptions, authorizations, consents or approvals, the making of all
filings and the giving of all notices, and the expiration of all waiting periods, pursuant to any other Antitrust Laws, in each case to
the extent required with respect to the Initial Filing Transaction, and (y) the absence at such time of any Applicable Law or Order
issued by any court of competent jurisdiction or other legal restraint or prohibition under any Antitrust Law, in each case that has
the effect of preventing the consummation of the Initial Filing Transaction.
b.

c.
Subject to the terms and conditions hereof (including the remainder of this Section 3.1) and the other
Transaction Documents, and only to the extent required under the Antitrust Laws, each of the parties shall use its commercially
reasonable efforts to avoid or eliminate each and every impediment under any Antitrust Laws that may be asserted by any
Governmental Entity, so as to enable the parties to give effect to the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Transaction
Documents in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof; provided, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained
herein or in any of the other Transaction Documents, nothing in this Section 3.1 shall require, or be construed to require, any party
or any of its Affiliates to agree to (and no party or any of its Affiliates shall agree to, without the prior written consent of the other
parties): (i) sell, hold separate, divest, discontinue or limit (or any conditions relating to, or changes or restrictions in, the operation
of) any assets, businesses or interests of it or its Affiliates (irrespective of whether or not such assets, businesses or interests are
related to, are the subject matter of or could be affected by the

transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents); (ii) without limiting clause (i) in any respect, any conditions relating to,
or changes or restrictions in, the operations of any such assets, businesses or interests that would reasonably be expected to
adversely impact (x) the business of, or the financial, business or strategic benefits of the transactions contemplated hereby or by
any of the other Transaction Documents to it or its Affiliates or (y) any other assets, businesses or interests of it or its Affiliates;
(iii) without limiting clause (i) in any respect, any modification or waiver of the terms and conditions of this Agreement or any of
the other Transaction Documents that would reasonably be expected to adversely impact (x) the business of, or financial, business
or strategic benefits of the transactions contemplated hereby or by any of the other Transaction Documents to it or its Affiliates, or
(y) any other assets, businesses or interests of it or its Affiliates; or (iv) without limiting clause (i) in any respect, take any action
that would materially impair the value to Amazon of the transactions contemplated hereby.
d.
Amazon shall have the principal responsibility for devising and implementing the strategy (including with
respect to the timing of filings) for obtaining any exemptions, authorizations, consents or approvals required under the HSR Act or
any other Antitrust Laws in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Transaction Documents;
provided, however, that Amazon shall consult in advance with the Company regarding the overall antitrust strategy. Each of the
parties shall promptly notify the other party of, and if in writing furnish the other with copies of (or, in the case of oral
communications, advise the other of), any substantive communication that it or any of its Affiliates receives from any
Governmental Entity, whether written or oral, relating to the matters that are the subject of this Agreement or any of the other
Transaction Documents and, to the extent reasonably practicable, permit the other party to review in advance any proposed
substantive written communication by such party to any Governmental Entity and consider in good faith the other party’s
reasonable comments on any such proposed substantive written communications prior to their submission. No party shall, and each
party shall cause its Affiliates not to, participate or agree to participate in any substantive meeting or communication with any
Governmental Entity in respect of the subject matter of the Transaction Documents, including on a “no names” or hypothetical
basis, unless (to the extent practicable) it or they consult with the other party in advance and, to the extent practicable and permitted
by such Governmental Entity, give the other party the opportunity to jointly prepare for, attend and participate in such meeting or
communication. The parties shall (and shall cause their Affiliates to) coordinate and cooperate fully with each other in exchanging
such information and providing such assistance as the other party may reasonably request in connection with the matters described
in this Section 3.1, including (x) furnishing to each other all information reasonably requested to determine the jurisdictions in
which a filing or submission under any Antitrust Law is required or advisable, (y) furnishing to each other all information required
for any filing or submission under any Antitrust Law and (z) keeping each other reasonably informed with respect to the status of
each exemption, authorization, consent, approval, filing and notice under any Antitrust Law, in each case, in connection with the
matters that are the subject of this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents. The parties shall provide each other with
copies of all substantive correspondence, filings or communications between them or any of their Affiliates or Representatives, on
the one hand, and any Governmental Entity or members of its staff, on the other hand, relating to the matters that are the subject of
this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents; provided that such material may be redacted as necessary to (1) comply
with contractual arrangements, (2) address good faith legal privilege or confidentiality concerns and (3) comply with Applicable
Law.

Subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, including in this Section 3.1, in the event that any
arbitral, administrative, judicial or analogous action, claim or proceeding is instituted (or threatened to be instituted) by a
Governmental Entity or any other party relating to or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or by any of the
other Transaction Documents (“Transaction
e.

Litigation”), neither party shall be required to contest and resist any such Transaction Litigation or to seek to have vacated, lifted,
reversed or overturned any judgment, ruling, order, writ, injunction or decree, whether temporary, preliminary or permanent, that is
in effect and that prohibits, prevents or restricts consummation or implementation of the transactions contemplated hereby or by
any of the other Transaction Documents. Each party shall keep the other party reasonably informed with respect to any Transaction
Litigation unless doing so would reasonably be likely to jeopardize any privilege of such party regarding any such Transaction
Litigation (subject to such party using commercially reasonable efforts to, and cooperating in good faith with the other party in,
developing and implementing reasonable alternative arrangements to provide such other party with such information). Subject to
the immediately preceding sentence, each party shall promptly advise the other party orally and in writing in connection with, and
shall consult with each other with respect to, any Transaction Litigation and shall in good faith give consideration to each other’s
advice with respect to such Transaction Litigation.
f.
The Company shall be liable for and promptly indemnify Amazon for all losses, claims, damages,
liabilities, costs, expenses (including reasonable expenses of investigation and reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses), judgments,
fines, penalties, charges and amounts paid in settlement (collectively, the “Losses”) incurred by Amazon or its Affiliates that arise
out of or relate to any Transaction Litigation. In any case in which any such indemnity is sought by Amazon, Amazon shall
promptly deliver a written notice of its claim for indemnification (a “Claim Notice”) to the Company, and the Company shall have
fifteen (15) days (or such lesser number of days set forth in the Claim Notice as may be required by court proceeding in the event
of a litigated matter) after receipt of the Claim Notice (the “Notice Period”) to notify Amazon that it desires to defend Amazon in
the Transaction Litigation. In the event that the Company notifies Amazon within the Notice Period that it desires to defend
Amazon in the Transaction Litigation, the Company shall have the right to defend Amazon by appropriate proceedings at its
expense, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to Amazon. If the Company elects to assume such defense, Amazon may participate
in such defense at its own cost and expense; provided, however, that if, in the reasonable judgment of Amazon, a conflict of interest
exists which renders it inadvisable for one firm to represent Amazon and the Company, then Amazon may employ separate counsel
at the expense of the Company, and, on its written notification of that employment, the Company will not have the right to assume
or continue the defense of that action on behalf of Amazon. The Company shall not, without the prior written consent of Amazon
(such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), settle, compromise or offer to settle or compromise any
Transaction Litigation on a basis that would result in (i) the imposition of a consent order, injunction or decree that would restrict
the future activity or conduct of Amazon or any of its Affiliates, (ii) a finding or admission of a violation of Applicable Law or
violation of the rights of any Person by Amazon or any of its Affiliates, (iii) a finding or admission that would have an adverse
effect to no more than a de minimis extent on other claims made or threatened against Amazon or any of its Affiliates, (iv) any
monetary liability of Amazon that will not be promptly paid or reimbursed by the Company or (v) any non-monetary condition or
obligation being imposed on Amazon or any of its Affiliates that would restrict the future activity or conduct of Amazon or any of
its Affiliates.
g.
As promptly as practicable following the date hereof, the Company shall adopt such amendments and take
such further actions and do or cause to be done all things necessary, proper or advisable under Applicable Law, to prevent the
execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby from
constituting a “change in control,” “change of control” or other similar term under any Company Benefit Plan.
h.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, from and after the earlier of (i) the exercise of the Warrant
in full and (ii) the expiration, termination or cancellation of the Warrant without

the Warrant having been exercised in full, no party shall have any further obligations under this Section 3.1; provided, that this
Section 3.1(h) shall in no way relieve any party with respect to any breach by such party of this Section 3.1 prior to such time.
3.2

Public Announcements

a.
The parties acknowledge that the Company’s initial announcement of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to customers, suppliers, investors and employees and otherwise (the “Initial
Announcement”) has been agreed by the parties. After the transmission of the Initial Announcement, except as required by
Applicable Law or by the rules or requirements of any stock exchange on which the securities of a party are listed, no party shall
make, or cause to be made, or permit any of its Affiliates to make, any press release or public announcement or other similar
communications in respect of the Transaction Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby without prior written consent
(not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) of the other party, to the extent such release, announcement or
communication relates to the transactions contemplated hereby or by any of the other Transaction Documents. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, no party shall be required to receive the consent of the other party to any release, announcement or communication
(including any filing required to be made under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act) to the extent such release, announcement
or communication includes information (i) with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby or by any of the other Transaction
Documents that is consistent with the Initial Announcement; (ii) that is consistent with releases, announcements or other
communications previously consented to by the other party in accordance with this Section 3.2, (iii) that is required to be disclosed
under GAAP; (iv) that has previously been released by either of the parties hereto in respect of the transactions contemplated
hereby or the Transaction Documents without any violation of the terms of this Agreement; or (v) as may be required in connection
with any Form 4, Schedule 13D, Schedule 13G, Form 8-K, Form 10-Q, Form 10-K, Schedule 14A or other disclosure required by
the Commission or other Governmental Entity to be made by Amazon or the Company in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, to the extent any disclosure (including communications
with investors and analysts) relates to the Transaction Documents or any transaction contemplated thereby and contains any
information inconsistent with the Initial Announcement or releases, announcements or other communications previously consented
to by the other party in accordance with this Section 3.2 or that has previously been released by either of the parties hereto in
respect of the transactions contemplated hereby or the Transaction Documents without any violation of the terms of this
Agreement, such disclosure shall be subject to the prior consent of the other party (unless it is required to be in such form under
Applicable Law), which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
b.
Without limiting the foregoing, in recognition of the importance to the Company and Amazon of taking
appropriate steps to maintain the confidentiality of agreements between the parties from the parties’ customers, competitors and
suppliers, in the event that the Company is legally required to file or otherwise submit any agreement to which Amazon is a party
(each a “Disclosable Agreement”) or any excerpt from, summary of or information relating to any Disclosable Agreement with or
to the Commission or any other regulatory body or stock exchange (each, a “Disclosure Agency”) the filing or submission of which
involves or could result in public disclosure of such Disclosable Agreement or excerpt therefrom, summary thereof or information
relating thereto, the Company will (1) promptly notify Amazon of such requirement to file or otherwise submit the Disclosable
Agreement or any excerpt therefrom, summary thereof or information relating thereto and any applicable deadline for making such
filing or submission, (2) provide Amazon with a reasonable opportunity to request (i) a redaction of all information in the
Disclosable Agreement or excerpt therefrom, summary thereof or information relating

thereto, as requested by Amazon (in addition to any redactions proposed by the Company) prior to filing or submitting such
Disclosable Agreement, excerpt therefrom, summary thereof or information relating thereto, and (ii) the submission of one or more
confidential treatment requests in support of such redactions with such arguments as requested by Amazon, including in response to
any comments or requests for information issued by the Commission or the applicable Disclosure Agency, to which, in each case,
the Company shall agree absent a reasonable basis for objection (and shall provide Amazon prompt notice of any such objection,
the basis therefor and a reasonable opportunity to consider and discuss such objection with the Company), (3) provide Amazon
(i) with copies of any comments and all other communications received from the Commission or the applicable Disclosure Agency
with respect to the Disclosable Agreement or confidential treatment thereof (including a reasonable summary of any oral
communications or other comments received other than in writing) as promptly as reasonably practicable and (ii) with the
Company’s proposed response to such comments at least three (3) Business Days before such response is submitted to the
Commission or the applicable Disclosure Agency, and (4) provide Amazon with a reasonable opportunity to propose revisions
within such three (3) Business Day-period to such proposed response as requested by Amazon, and which revisions the Company
shall make absent a reasonable basis for objection (and shall provide Amazon prompt notice of any such objection, the basis
therefor and a reasonable opportunity to consider and discuss such objection with the Company), and, as applicable, use its
commercially reasonable efforts in responding to any such comments in order to pursue assurance that confidential treatment will
be granted. The Company will not file this Agreement, any Disclosable Agreement, any excerpt therefrom, summary or portion
thereof or information relating thereto with any Governmental Entity or regulatory body, including the Commission or any
Disclosure Agency, or disclose any other Confidential Information in any manner, except to the extent (i) permitted above, or
(ii) the Company determines in good faith based on the written advice of outside counsel that making such filing or submission
without adhering to the requirements set forth above is necessary to comply with Applicable Law. Notwithstanding anything in
Section 8.1 of this Agreement to the contrary, the provisions of this Section 3.2(b) will survive for so long as any Commercial
Arrangements remain in effect.
Expenses. Unless otherwise provided in any Transaction Document, each of the parties shall bear and pay all
costs and expenses incurred by it or on its behalf in connection with the transactions contemplated under the Transaction
Documents, including fees and expenses of its own financial or other consultants, investment bankers, accountants and counsel.
3.3

3.4

Stockholder Approval.

a.
No later than the next meeting (whether annual or special) of the stockholders of the Company (the
“Company Stockholders”) after the date hereof, the Company shall convene and hold a meeting of the Company Stockholders (the
“Company Stockholder Meeting”) to consider and vote on the issuance of the Warrant in respect of any Warrant Shares in excess of
3,222,681 shares, pursuant to the applicable rules of the New York Stock Exchange, including but not limited to, New York Stock
Exchange Rule 312.03(c), for the avoidance of doubt, without giving effect to any “cashless” or “net” exercise provisions therein
(the “Requisite Stockholder Approval”); provided that the parties acknowledge that such meeting may be postponed or adjourned
in accordance with the Company’s bylaws or as otherwise required by Applicable Law if (x) there is an insufficient number of
shares of Common Stock present or represented by a proxy at the Company Stockholder Meeting to conduct business at the
Company Stockholder Meeting, (y) the Company is required to postpone or adjourn the Company Stockholder Meeting by
Applicable Law or a request from the Commission or its staff, or (z) the Company determines in good faith that it is necessary or
appropriate to postpone or adjourn the Company Stockholder Meeting in order to give the Company Stockholders sufficient time to
evaluate any information or disclosure that

the Company has sent or otherwise made available to them. If, despite the Company’s reasonable best efforts the Requisite
Stockholder Approval is not obtained at or prior to the Company Stockholder Meeting, the Company shall at Amazon’s request
cause an additional Company Stockholder Meeting to be held every twelve (12) months thereafter until such Requisite Stockholder
Approval is obtained or the Warrant is no longer outstanding.
b.
The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to obtain the Requisite Stockholder Approval. Without
limiting the foregoing, the Board shall (x) recommend that the Company Stockholders vote in favor of the Requisite Stockholder
Approval (the “Company Board Recommendation”) (and not withdraw or modify in any adverse respect such Company Board
Recommendation unless the Board determines in good faith (after consultation with outside legal counsel and financial advisors)
that the failure to take such action would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties to the holders of Common Stock under Applicable
Law, (y) solicit proxies in favor of the Requisite Stockholder Approval in accordance with this Section 3.4(b), and (z) obtain
commitments from each of the directors and executive officers of the Company to vote in favor of the Requisite Stockholder
Approval. In connection with the Company Stockholder Meeting, the Company shall promptly prepare (and Amazon shall
reasonably cooperate with the Company to prepare) and file with the Commission a preliminary proxy statement, shall use its
reasonable best efforts to respond to any comments of the Commission or its staff and to cause a definitive proxy statement related
to such meeting to be mailed to the Company Stockholders as promptly as practicable after clearance thereof by the Commission.
The Company shall notify Amazon promptly of the receipt of any comments from the Commission or its staff with respect to the
proxy statement and of any request by the Commission or its staff for amendments or supplements to such proxy statement or for
additional information and shall supply Amazon with copies of all correspondence between the Company or any of its
Representatives, on the one hand, and the Commission or its staff, on the other hand, with respect to such proxy statement. If at any
time prior to the Company Stockholder Meeting there shall occur any event that is required to be set forth in an amendment or
supplement to the proxy statement, the Company shall as promptly as reasonably practicable prepare and mail to the Company
Stockholders such an amendment or supplement. Each of the parties shall promptly correct any information provided by it or on its
behalf for use in the proxy statement if and to the extent that such information shall have become false or misleading in any
material respect, and the Company shall as promptly as reasonably practicable prepare and furnish to the Company Stockholders an
amendment or supplement to correct such information to the extent required by Applicable Laws. The Company shall consult with
Amazon prior to filing any proxy statement, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or responding to any comments from the
Commission or its staff with respect thereto, and provide Amazon with a reasonable opportunity to comment thereon, and consider
in good faith any comments proposed by Amazon. If the Board withdraws, changes, or qualifies in any manner adverse to Amazon,
the Company Board Recommendation or fails to include the Company Board Recommendation in the proxy statement when
disseminated to the Company Stockholders, Amazon shall have the right, at its option, to require the Company to negotiate in good
faith with Amazon to amend the terms of the Warrant and this Agreement in order to ensure that Amazon obtains all of the benefits
intended to be conferred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.
c.
Amazon shall furnish the Company all information reasonably requested by the Company concerning itself,
its Affiliates, directors, officers, stockholders and such other matters as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection
with the proxy statement in connection with the Company Stockholder Meeting.
d.
From and after the date of this Agreement, the Company shall use reasonable best efforts to require all
beneficial owners of Common Stock in excess of 15% of the Common Stock

outstanding (each, a “Significant Stockholder”), within the earlier of ten (10) Business Days after (x) such Person becomes a
Significant Stockholder and (y) the date hereof if such Person is a Significant Stockholder on the date hereof, to deliver to the
Company a voting agreement in support of the transactions contemplated hereby.
Tax Treatment. No later than ninety (90) days after the Warrant Issuance, Amazon shall provide the Company
with a valuation of the Warrant for tax purposes, taking into account the vesting schedule and any relevant economic assumptions
or inputs with respect to such Warrant as determined by Amazon. Such valuation shall be binding on Amazon and the Company for
all U.S. tax purposes. Duff & Phelps Corporation will be engaged by Amazon to determine the Warrant valuation and to produce a
narrative valuation report. Amazon will provide such narrative report to the Company provided the Company agrees to execute a
Notice and Acknowledgment substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A prior to receipt of any information prepared on
Amazon’s behalf pursuant to this Section 3.5. Amazon and the Company agree to treat the Warrant issuance (i) as a closed, taxable
transaction occurring on the date of the Warrant Issuance, rather than as an open transaction, for U.S. tax purposes, and (ii) not as a
transaction in connection with the performance of services within the meaning of Section 83 of the Code. Neither Amazon nor the
Company shall take any position for tax purposes that is inconsistent with the foregoing, unless required by Applicable Law.
Without limiting the foregoing, Amazon agrees to provide the Company with a draft of the valuation of the Warrant prior to its
finalization for review, it being understood that neither Amazon nor Duff & Phelps Corporation shall be under any obligation to
accept comments or input, if any, from the Company.
3.5

ARTICLE IV
ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS
Acquisition for Investment. Amazon acknowledges that the issuance of the Warrant and the Warrant Shares has
not been registered under the Securities Act or under any state securities laws. Amazon (i) acknowledges that it is acquiring the
Warrant and the Warrant Shares pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act solely for its own account for
investment with no present intention to distribute them to any person in violation of the Securities Act or any other applicable state
securities laws, (ii) agrees that it shall not (and shall not permit its Affiliates to) sell or otherwise dispose of the Warrant or the
Warrant Shares, except in compliance with the registration requirements or exemption provisions of the Securities Act and any
applicable state securities laws, (iii) acknowledges that it has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters and
in investments of this type that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the Warrant Issuance and of making an informed
investment decision, and has conducted a review of the business and affairs of the Company that it considers sufficient and
reasonable for purposes of consummating the Warrant Issuance, (iv) acknowledges that it is able to bear the economic risk of the
Warrant Issuance and is able to afford a complete loss of such investment and (v) acknowledges that it is an “accredited investor”
(as that term is defined by Rule 501 under the Securities Act).
4.1

Legend. Amazon agrees that all certificates or other instruments representing the Warrant and the Warrant Shares
shall bear any legend as required by the “blue sky” laws of any state and a restrictive legend substantially to the following effect:
“THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS INSTRUMENT HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE AND MAY NOT BE
TRANSFERRED, SOLD OR
4.2

OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER
SUCH ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS OR PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM
REGISTRATION UNDER SUCH ACT OR SUCH LAWS. HEDGING TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THESE
SECURITIES MAY NOT BE CONDUCTED UNLESS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT.
THIS INSTRUMENT IS ISSUED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER AND
OTHER PROVISIONS OF A TRANSACTION AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF JANUARY 23, 2018, BY AND
BETWEEN THE ISSUER OF THESE SECURITIES AND AMAZON.COM, INC., A DELAWARE CORPORATION, A
COPY OF WHICH IS ON FILE WITH THE ISSUER. THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS INSTRUMENT
MAY NOT BE SOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT IN COMPLIANCE WITH SAID AGREEMENT.
ANY SALE OR OTHER TRANSFER NOT IN COMPLIANCE WITH SAID AGREEMENT WILL BE VOID.”
In the event that any Warrant Shares become registered under the Securities Act or the Company is presented with an opinion of
counsel reasonably satisfactory, in form and substance, to the Company that the Warrant Shares are eligible to be transferred
without restriction in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act, the Company shall issue new certificates or other
instruments representing such Warrant Shares which shall not contain such portion of the above legend that is no longer applicable;
provided that the holder of such Warrant Shares surrenders to the Company the previously issued certificates or other instruments.
4.3
Anti-Takeover Provisions. The Company shall not take any action that would prevent Amazon from exercising
any of its rights under this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents, or any of the transactions contemplated hereby
or thereby (a “Burdensome Action”), including by causing this Agreement or any of the other Transaction Documents, or any of the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, to be subject to any requirements imposed by any Anti-Takeover Provisions or subject
in any manner to any “poison pill” or similar shareholder rights plan, in each case the result of which would be to cause a
Burdensome Action to occur, and shall take all necessary steps within its control to exempt (or ensure the continued exemption of)
the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents from any applicable Anti-Takeover Provisions, as now or hereafter in
effect.

Transfer Restrictions.

4.4
a.

Other than solely in the case of a Permitted Transfer, NV Investment Holdings shall not Transfer:

the Warrant at any time;
any Warrant Shares to any Person that, as of the time of entry into the agreement governing the Transfer is,
to the actual knowledge of Amazon’s executive officers (with no obligation of inquiry, other than to (i) review the Section
13(d) and Section 13(g) filings made with respect to the Common Stock and (ii) to obtain a written representation from the
purchaser to the effect that such purchaser is not the Beneficial Owner of more than 10% of the Common Stock), the
Beneficial Owner of more than 10% of the Common Stock; provided that this Section 4.4(a)(ii) shall not apply to any open
market sale of Common Stock through a brokerage transaction effected over a United States national securities exchange or
any sale of Common Stock pursuant to a bona fide Underwritten Offering; provided, further, that the Company may
i.

ii.

instruct the underwriter(s) of any such Underwritten Offering to exclude any Person that has filed a Schedule 13D or
Schedule 13G with respect to the Common Stock; or
iii.
Warrant Shares representing more than 10% of the outstanding Company Common Stock, as calculated
based on the Company’s then current public filings, in any single transaction; provided that this Section 4.4(a)(iii) shall not
apply to any open market sale of Company Common Stock through a brokerage transaction effected over a United States
national securities exchange or any sale of Company Common Stock pursuant to a bona fide Underwritten Offering.
“Permitted Transfers” means, in each case so long as such Transfer is in accordance with Applicable Law
and the provisions of the Company’s certificate of incorporation and bylaws:
b.

i.
a Transfer of the Warrant to Amazon or a wholly owned subsidiary of Amazon, so long as such Transferee,
to the extent it has not already done so, executes a customary joinder to this Agreement, in form and substance reasonably
acceptable to the Company, in which such Transferee agrees to be subject to all covenants and agreements of Amazon under
this Agreement and makes all the representations and warranties and/or acknowledgements set forth in Section 2.3
(although the representation and warranty in Section 2.3(a) shall be made with respect to the applicable jurisdiction of
incorporation and to the extent the concept is applicable in that jurisdiction) and Section 4.1;
ii.
a Transfer of the Warrant in connection with an Acquisition Transaction approved by the Board (including
if the Board (A) recommends that its stockholders tender in response to a tender or exchange offer that, if consummated,
would constitute an Acquisition Transaction, or (B) does not recommend that its stockholders reject any such tender or
exchange offer within the ten (10) Business Day period specified in Rule 14e-2(a) under the Exchange Act);
iii.
a Transfer of the Warrant if required by, or reasonably necessary in order for, Amazon to obtain
Governmental Approval for any acquisition (whether direct or indirect, including by way of merger, share exchange, share
purchase, consolidation or any similar transaction), provided that such acquisition is not being undertaken by Amazon for
the purpose of evading or avoiding the transfer restrictions imposed by this Section 4.4);
iv.
a Transfer of the Warrant to the extent required under Applicable Law; or
v.
a Transfer of the Warrant with the prior written consent of the Company.

Any Transfer or attempted Transfer of the Warrant in violation of this Section 4.4 shall, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, be null and void ab initio, and the Company shall not, and shall instruct its transfer agent and other third parties
not to, record or recognize any such purported transaction on the share register or other books and records of the Company.
c.

Right of Notice. If at any time the Company proposes to enter into any Acquisition Transaction with any Person
or Group (excluding Amazon or any of its Affiliates), the Company shall promptly, and in any event no later than fifteen (15)
calendar days prior to entering into any definitive agreement regarding such Acquisition Transaction, provide written notice to
Amazon, which notice shall contain all terms of such proposed Acquisition Transaction as well as all information or draft
documentation which may impact Amazon in its capacity as a holder of the Warrant.
4.5

ARTICLE 5
GOVERNANCE
Information Rights.

5.1
a.

During the term of this Agreement, the Company shall prepare and provide, or cause to be prepared and

provided, to Amazon:
within ten (10) days after the end of each fiscal quarter the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock
at the end of such fiscal quarter calculated on both an undiluted basis and a fully diluted basis without regard to exercise or
conversion prices of derivative securities;
ii.
within the time periods applicable to the Company under Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, all
interim and annual financial statements required to be contained in a filing with the Commission on Forms 10-K and 10-Q;
and
iii.
if the Company is at any time not subject to Section 13(a) or 15(d) under the Exchange Act, the
information set forth on Schedule 5.1(a);
provided, however, that the requirements of this paragraph (a) shall be deemed to be satisfied to the extent such information is
publicly filed on EDGAR within the time periods specified above.
i.

b.
During the term of this Agreement, the Company shall consider and respond promptly and in good faith to
reasonable requests for information, to the extent already existing or that can be prepared without excessive cost or management
time, regarding the Company and its subsidiaries from Amazon in its capacity as a stockholder of the Company. Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, the Company and its subsidiaries shall not be required to provide any such information if (i) the
Company determines that such information is competitively sensitive, (ii) the Company determines in good faith that providing
such information would adversely affect the Company (taking into account the nature of the request and the facts and
circumstances at such time) other than to a de minimis extent or (iii) providing such information (A) would reasonably be expected
to jeopardize an attorney-client privilege or cause a loss of attorney work product protection, (B) would violate a confidentiality
obligation to any person in effect on the date of this Agreement or (C) would, based on the written advice of the Company’s outside
legal counsel, violate any Applicable Law; provided, that, with respect to clauses (i)-(iii), the Company uses reasonable efforts, and
cooperates in good faith with Amazon, to develop and implement reasonable alternative arrangements to provide Amazon (and its
Representatives) with the intended benefits of this Section 5.1.

In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, during the term of this Agreement, the Company shall,
and shall cause its subsidiaries to, use commercially reasonable efforts to prepare and provide, or to cause to be prepared and
provided, including, if requested and reasonably available, in electronic data format, to Amazon, or to assist Amazon with
preparing (at the expense of Amazon), in a reasonably timely fashion following a request by Amazon any (i) financial information
or other data relating to the Company and its subsidiaries and (ii) any other relevant information or data, in each case to the extent
necessary, as reasonably determined in good faith by Amazon for Amazon to (x) comply with GAAP or to comply with its
reporting, filing, accounting or other obligations under Applicable Law or (y) apply the equity method of accounting, in the event
Amazon is required to account for its investment in the Company under the equity method of accounting under GAAP; provided,
however, that any requests with respect to tax matters shall be addressed by Section 5.2 and not by this Section 5.1. The Company
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its and its subsidiaries’
c.

Representatives to cooperate in good faith with Amazon in connection with the foregoing; provided, however, that notwithstanding
anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall Amazon or its Affiliates disclose (including by reflecting such
information on their financial statements) any financial information or other financial data provided to Amazon pursuant to this
Section 5.1 prior to the Company first publicly disclosing such information in its ordinary course of business, other than pursuant to
the terms of Section 5.1(d)(i), Section 5.1(d)(ii) or Section 5.1(d)(iv). Amazon shall promptly, upon request by the Company,
reimburse the Company for all reasonable documented out of pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries in connection with any actions taken by the Company or any of its subsidiaries pursuant to this Section 5.1(c).
In furtherance of and not in limitation of any other similar agreement Amazon or any of its Representatives
may have with the Company or its subsidiaries, Amazon hereby agrees that all Confidential Information in its possession obtained
solely pursuant to this Section 5.1 with respect to the Company shall be kept confidential by it and shall not be disclosed or used by
it in any manner whatsoever, except as permitted by this Section 5.1(d). For the avoidance of doubt, any confidential information
received by either party in connection with any of the Commercial Arrangements shall be governed by the terms of any applicable
agreement related to such Commercial Arrangements. Any Confidential Information may be disclosed or used:
d.

i.
by Amazon (x) to any of its Affiliates or (y) to its or its Affiliate’s respective directors, managers, officers,
employees and authorized Representatives (including attorneys, accountants, consultants, bankers and financial advisors
thereof) (each of the Persons described in clauses (x) and (y), collectively, the “Representatives” of Amazon), in each case,
solely if and to the extent any such Person needs to be provided such Confidential Information to assist Amazon or its
Affiliates in evaluating or reviewing its existing investment, or, with respect to the exercise of the Warrant, its prospective
investment, in the Company, including in connection with the disposition thereof or voting shares of Common Stock. Each
Representative shall be deemed to be bound by the provisions of this Section 5.1(d) and Amazon shall be responsible for
any breach of this Section 5.1(d) (or such other agreement or obligation, as applicable) by any of its Representatives;
ii.
by Amazon or any of its Representatives to the extent the Company consents in writing;
iii.
by Amazon or any of its Representatives to a potential Transferee (so long as such Transfer is permitted
hereunder); provided, that such Transferee agrees to be bound by the provisions of this Section 5.1(d) (or a confidentiality
agreement having restrictions substantially similar to this Section 5.1(d)); or
iv.
by Amazon or any of its Representatives to the extent that Amazon or such Representative has been
advised by its counsel that such disclosure is required to be made by it under Applicable Law or by a Governmental Entity;
provided, that prior to making such disclosure, such Person uses commercially reasonable efforts to preserve the
confidentiality of the Confidential Information to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, including, to the extent
practicable and permitted by Applicable Law, consulting with the Company regarding such disclosure and, if reasonably
requested by the Company, assisting the Company, at the Company’s expense, in seeking a protective order to prevent the
requested disclosure; provided, further, that Amazon or such Representative, as the case may be, uses commercially
reasonable efforts to disclose only that portion of the Confidential Information as is requested by the applicable
Governmental Entity or as is, based on the advice of its counsel, legally required or compelled; and provided, further, that
the parties hereto expressly agree that notwithstanding anything in the Confidentiality Agreement or any other
confidentiality agreement between or among the

Company, Amazon or its Affiliates or Representatives, to the contrary, any Confidential Information that is permitted to be
disclosed or used in any manner pursuant to this Agreement can be so disclosed or used.
Tax Reporting Requirements.

5.2

a.
The Company will provide Amazon with any information reasonably requested by Amazon and within the
Company’s possession or that can be provided with the use of reasonable efforts, to allow Amazon to comply with Applicable Law
related to taxes or to avail itself of any provision of Applicable Law related to taxes.
b.

The Company shall maintain its status as a domestic corporation for U.S. Federal income tax purposes.

c.
The Company shall make due inquiry with a Tax Advisor selected by it on at least an annual basis
regarding the Company’s obligation to comply with the reporting requirements under Sections 6038, 6038B, and 6046 of the U.S.
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (or any successor thereto) (the “Code”), and the Company shall comply with any such
applicable requirements. To the extent that Amazon is subject to the same reporting requirements, the Company shall file on
Amazon’s behalf. The Company shall also provide Amazon with any filings under such sections for Amazon’s review fortyfive (45) days prior to the due date for filing (including extensions). To the extent that the Company does not have a filing
requirement under such sections, the Company shall provide such information to Amazon as may be necessary to fulfill Amazon’s
obligations thereunder as a result of the Warrant Issuance or the acquisition of Warrant Shares hereunder.
5.3

Standstill Provisions.

a.
Amazon agrees that from the date of this Agreement until an Amazon Standstill Termination Event (such
period, the “Standstill Period”), without the prior written approval of the Board, Amazon shall not, directly or indirectly, and shall
cause its subsidiaries not to:
i.
acquire, agree to acquire, propose or offer to acquire, by purchase or otherwise, Equity Securities or
Derivative Instruments or debt securities of the Company, other than:
1.
Warrant Shares acquired by Amazon in accordance with this Agreement;
2.
as a result of any stock split, stock dividend or distribution, other subdivision, reorganization,
reclassification or similar capital transaction involving Equity Securities of the Company; or
3.
pursuant to and in accordance with Section 4.4(b)(i);
ii.
make, or in any way participate or engage in, any “solicitation” of “proxies” (as such terms are used in the
proxy rules of the Commission) (whether or not relating to the election or removal of directors) to vote any Voting
Securities, or disclose how Amazon intends to vote its Warrant Shares on any contested election of directors or any
contested proposal relating to an Acquisition Proposal unless such disclosure is determined by Amazon in good faith, based
on the advice of its legal counsel, to be reasonably required by Applicable Law;
iii.
call, or seek to call, a meeting of the stockholders of the Company or initiate any stockholder proposal for
action by stockholders of the Company;
iv.
nominate or seek to nominate, directly or indirectly, any person to the Board;

v.
deposit any Voting Securities in a voting trust or similar contract or agreement or subject any Voting
Securities to any voting agreement, pooling arrangement or similar arrangement, or grant any proxy with respect to any
Voting Securities (in each case, other than to the Company or a Person specified by the Company in a proxy card (paper or
electronic) provided to stockholders of the Company by or on behalf of the Company);
vi.
make any public announcement with respect to, enter, agree to enter, propose or offer to enter into any
merger, business combination, recapitalization, restructuring, change in control transaction or other similar extraordinary
transaction involving the securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or purchase of a material portion of the assets,
properties or Equity Securities of the Company, other than acquisitions of Equity Securities as follows:
1.
Warrant Shares acquired by Amazon in accordance with this Agreement;
2.
as a result of any stock split, stock dividend or distribution, other subdivision, reorganization,
reclassification or similar capital transaction involving Equity Securities of the Company;
3.
pursuant to and in accordance with Section 4.4(b)(i); or
4.
Equity Securities of the Company representing less than 5% of the outstanding shares of Common
Stock held by a Person acquired by Amazon or its Affiliates; provided that such Equity Securities of the Company
were acquired by such acquired Person prior to it entering into an agreement with Amazon to be acquired and not in
contemplation of, or in connection with, Amazon’s acquisition of such Person and Amazon agrees to dispose of
those Equity Securities and to reasonably cooperate with the Company to establish a reasonable time table and other
reasonable parameters for so doing so as to minimize the impact of such disposition on the trading market for the
Common Stock; provided that in connection with such disposition, Amazon shall not be required to take any action
that would be likely to adversely affect the value of the Equity Securities;
vii.
otherwise act, alone or in concert with others, to seek to control or influence the management or the
policies of the Company (for the avoidance of doubt, excluding any such act to the extent in its capacity as a commercial
counterparty, customer, supplier, industry participant or the like);
viii.
take any action that would reasonably be expected to require the Company to make a public
announcement regarding any of the events described above;
ix.
advise or knowingly assist or knowingly encourage or enter into any discussions, negotiations, agreements
or arrangements with any other Persons in connection with the foregoing;
x.
form, join or in any way participate in a Group (other than with its subsidiary that is bound by the
restrictions of this Section 5.3(a) or a Group that consists solely of Amazon and/or any of its Affiliates), with respect to any
Voting Securities or otherwise in connection with any of the foregoing; or
xi.
publicly disclose any intention, plan or proposal with respect to any of the foregoing.

For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 5.3 shall not prohibit Amazon from exercising any rights or taking any action under the
Commercial Arrangements. Amazon shall not be deemed in breach of this Section 5.3 if Amazon or any of its subsidiaries acquires
Equity Securities, Derivative Instruments or debt securities of the Company in an amount representing less than two percent (2%)
of such outstanding Equity Securities, Derivative Instruments or debt securities, and promptly after receiving written notice from
the Company that such Equity Securities, Derivative Instruments or debt securities were acquired in contravention of this Section
5.3, sells or otherwise disposes of such Equity Securities, Derivative Instruments or debt securities. In addition, Amazon shall not,
directly or indirectly, and shall not permit any of its subsidiaries, directly or indirectly, to, contest the validity of this Section 5.3 or,
subject to

Section 5.3(b), seek a waiver, amendment or release of any provisions of this Section 5.3 (including this sentence) (whether by
legal action or otherwise).
b.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in any of the other Transaction Documents,
including Section 5.3(a) hereof, Amazon shall not be prohibited or restricted from making and submitting to the Company and/or
the Board, any Acquisition Proposal that is not intended to require the Company to disclose such proposal, or any confidential
request for the Company and/or the Board to waive, amend or provide a release of any provision of this Section 5.3 (whether or not
in connection with such Acquisition Proposal); provided that any such Acquisition Proposal and/or confidential request shall by its
terms terminate if it is publicly disclosed or announced by Amazon (except in the event that such public disclosure is required by
Applicable Law) without the prior approval of the Board. If the Company (through the Board or otherwise) shall have commenced
a process to solicit Acquisition Proposals from third parties, then the Company will promptly notify Amazon of such determination
and any information provided to Amazon in connection with such notice, including, without limitation, the fact that the Company
has provided such notice to Amazon, shall be kept confidential by Amazon, except to the extent information is permitted to be
disclosed or used by Section 5.1(d).

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the provisions of this Section 5.3 shall become void and of
no further force and effect upon (i) the public announcement by the Company that it has entered into a definitive agreement with a
Person other than Amazon or any of its Affiliates for a transaction involving a Business Combination or (ii) if any Person other
than Amazon or any of its Affiliates commences a tender or exchange offer which, if consummated, would constitute a Business
Combination; provided, however, that with respect to clauses (i) and (ii) of this sentence, Amazon shall not have materially
breached any of the provisions of this Section 5.3.
c.

d.
An “Amazon Standstill Termination Event” shall be deemed to occur if, as of the end of any Business Day
following the date of this Agreement, Amazon and its Affiliates Beneficially Own shares of Common Stock collectively
representing less than ten percent (10%) of the Common Stock; provided, however, that if the Beneficial Ownership of Amazon
and its Affiliates collectively represents at least ten percent (10%) of the Common Stock at any time within one year following such
occurrence, then the provisions of this Section 5.3 and of Section 5.4 shall automatically again become applicable to Amazon.

If the Company or any of its Affiliates is or becomes party to any agreement, arrangement or undertaking
(or any amendment or waiver thereof) relating to its securities that contains any provision that is more favorable to the other party
to such agreement than this Section 5.3 (a “More Favorable Agreement”), including (without limitation) with respect to the nature
and scope of the restrictions on such party, the duration of such restrictions and any exceptions to such nature, scope or duration,
the Company shall promptly provide Amazon notice thereof and a copy of such provision (which need not identify such other
party), and upon such notice this Agreement shall be deemed to be amended to conform this Section 5.3, as applicable, with such
more favorable provision. The Company represents and warrants that it has not entered into any More Favorable Agreement as of
the date hereof.
e.

5.4

Voting Obligation.

a.
At all times during the Standstill Period, Amazon shall be entitled to vote (including, if applicable, through
the execution of one or more written consents if stockholders of the Company are requested to vote through the execution of an
action by written consent in lieu of any such annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Company) the shares of Common
Stock owned by it or

its Affiliates or over which it or its Affiliates have the ability to vote, up to 19.9% of the Company’s outstanding shares of Common
Stock (the “Voting Threshold”), in its sole and absolute discretion; provided that if at any time Amazon and its Affiliates
collectively have the ability to vote more than 19.9% of the Company’s outstanding shares of Common Stock, then in connection
with each meeting of the Company’s stockholders Amazon shall cause all of the shares of Common Stock in excess of the Voting
Threshold owned by it or any of its Affiliates or over which it or any of its Affiliates have the ability to vote to be present for
purposes of determining quorum at such meeting. At all times during the Standstill Period, Amazon shall cause the shares of
Common Stock owned by it or any of its Affiliates or over which it or any of its Affiliates have the ability to vote in excess of the
Voting Threshold to be voted (including, if applicable, through the execution of one or more written consents if stockholders of the
Company are requested to vote through the execution of an action by written consent in lieu of any such annual or special meeting
of stockholders of the Company) in accordance with the recommendation of the Board, including without limitation, in favor of all
those persons nominated to serve as directors of the Company by the Board or its Nominating and Governance Committee.
b.
At any time Amazon or any of its Affiliates own shares of Common Stock for which they have the ability
to vote and Amazon is subject to the voting requirements of Section 5.4(a), Amazon hereby appoints the Company, including
without limitation its Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board and any other designee of the Company or of such
officer, and each of them individually, its proxy and attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, to vote or
act by written consent during the term of this Agreement with respect to shares of Common Stock in excess of the Voting Threshold
over which Amazon or any of its Affiliates have the ability to vote, to be counted for purposes of determining quorum at any
meeting of stockholders and to be voted in accordance with Section 5.4(a). This proxy and power of attorney is given to secure the
performance of the obligations of Amazon under this Agreement. Amazon shall take such further action or execute such other
instruments as may be necessary to effectuate the intent of this proxy; this proxy and power of attorney granted by Amazon shall be
irrevocable during the term of this Agreement (but subject to Section 5.4(a)), shall be deemed to be coupled with an interest
sufficient under Applicable Law to support an irrevocable proxy and shall revoke any and all prior proxies granted by Amazon with
respect to shares of Common Stock. The power of attorney granted by Amazon herein is a durable power of attorney and shall
survive the dissolution or bankruptcy of Amazon.
5.5
Survival. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, this Article V shall survive termination of this Agreement
pursuant to Section 8.1, and will continue until the date that the Beneficial Ownership of Amazon, in the aggregate, of the Common
Stock is less than two percent (2%), on a “fully diluted basis”; provided, that Section 5.2 shall survive with respect to the taxable
year in which such date occurs.

ARTICLE VI
REGISTRATION
6.1

Demand Registrations.

a.
Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, solely during any period that the Company is then ineligible
under Applicable Law to register Registrable Securities on a registration statement on Form S-3 or any successor form thereto
(“Form S-3”), or if the Company is so eligible but has failed to comply with its obligations under Section 6.3 any Demand
Shareholders (“Requesting

Shareholders”) shall be entitled to make no more than four (4) written requests of the Company (each, a “Demand”) for registration
under the Securities Act of an amount of Registrable Securities then held by such Requesting Shareholders that equals or is greater
than the Registrable Amount (a “Demand Registration” and such registration statement, a “Demand Registration Statement”).
Thereupon, the Company shall, subject to the terms of this Agreement, file the registration statement no later than 30 days after
receipt of a Demand and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to effect the registration as promptly as practicable under the
Securities Act of:
i.
the Registrable Securities which the Company has been so requested to register by the Requesting
Shareholders for disposition in accordance with the intended method of disposition stated in such Demand;
ii.
all other Registrable Securities which the Company has been requested to register pursuant to
Section 6.1(b), but subject to Section 6.1(g); and
iii.
all shares of Common Stock which the Company may elect to register in connection with any offering of
Registrable Securities pursuant to this Section 6.1, but subject to Section 6.1(g);
all to the extent necessary to permit the disposition (in accordance with the intended methods thereof) of the Registrable Securities
and the additional shares of Common Stock, if any, to be so registered.
b.
A Demand shall specify: (i) the aggregate number of Registrable Securities requested to be registered in
such Demand Registration, (ii) the intended method of disposition in connection with such Demand Registration, to the extent then
known, and (iii) the identity of the Requesting Shareholder(s). Within five (5) days after receipt of a Demand, the Company shall
give written notice of such Demand to all other holders of Registrable Securities. The Company shall include in the Demand
Registration covered by such Demand all Registrable Securities with respect to which the Company has received a written request
for inclusion therein within five (5) days after the Company’s notice required by this paragraph has been given, provided that if
such five (5) day period ends on a day that is not a Business Day, such period shall be deemed to end on the next succeeding
Business Day. Each such written request shall comply with the requirements of a Demand as set forth in this Section 6.1(b).
c.
A Demand Registration shall not be deemed to have been effected (i) unless the Demand Registration
Statement with respect thereto has become effective and has remained effective for a period of at least one hundred five (105) days
or such shorter period in which all Registrable Securities included in such Demand Registration have actually been sold or
otherwise disposed of thereunder (provided, that such period shall be extended for a period of time equal to the period the holders
of Registrable Securities refrain from selling any securities included in such registration statement at the request of the Company or
the lead managing underwriter(s) pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement) or (ii) if, after it has become effective, such
Demand Registration becomes subject, prior to one hundred five (105) days after effectiveness, to any stop order, injunction or
other order or requirement of the Commission or other Governmental Entity, other than by reason of any act or omission by the
applicable Selling Shareholders.
d.
Demand Registrations shall be on such appropriate registration form of the Commission as shall be selected
by the Company and reasonably acceptable to the Requesting Shareholders.
e.
The Company shall not be obligated to (i) subject to Section 6.1(c), maintain the effectiveness of a
registration statement under the Securities Act filed pursuant to a Demand Registration for a period longer than one hundred five
(105) days or (ii) effect any Demand Registration (A) within ninety (90) days of a “firm commitment” Underwritten Offering in
which all Demand Shareholders were

offered “piggyback” rights pursuant to Section 6.2 (subject to Section 6.2(b)) and at least fifty percent (50%) of the number of
Registrable Securities requested by such Demand Shareholders to be included in such Demand Registration were included,
(B) within ninety (90) days of the completion of any other Demand Registration (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any
Underwritten Offering pursuant to any Shelf Registration Statement), (C) within ninety (90) days of the completion of any other
Underwritten Offering by the Company or any shorter period during which the Company has agreed not to effect a registration or
public offering of securities (in each case only to the extent that the Company has undertaken contractually to the underwriters of
such Underwritten Offering not to effect any registration or public offering of securities), (D) if, in the Company’s reasonable
judgment, it is not feasible for the Company to proceed with the Demand Registration because of the unavailability of audited or
other required financial statements of the Company or any other Person; provided, that the Company shall use its commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain such financial statements as promptly as practicable.
f.
The Company shall be entitled to (i) postpone (upon written notice to the Demand Shareholders) the filing
or the effectiveness of a registration statement for any Demand Registration, (ii) cause any Demand Registration Statement to be
withdrawn and its effectiveness terminated and (iii) suspend the use of the prospectus forming the part of any registration
statement, in each case in the event of a Blackout Period until the expiration of the applicable Blackout Period. In the event of a
Blackout Period under clause (ii) of the definition thereof, the Company shall deliver to the Demand Shareholders requesting
registration a certificate signed by either the chief executive officer or the chief financial officer of the Company certifying that, in
the good faith judgment of the Company, the conditions described in clause (ii) of the definition of Blackout Period are met. Such
certificate shall contain an approximation of the anticipated delay. Upon notice by the Company to the Demand Shareholders of any
such determination, each Demand Shareholder covenants that, subject to Applicable Law, it shall keep the fact of any such notice
strictly confidential, and, in the case of a Blackout Period pursuant to clause (ii)(y) of the definition of Blackout Period, promptly
halt any offer, sale, trading or other Transfer by it or any of its Affiliates of any Registrable Securities for the duration of the
Blackout Period set forth in such notice (or until such Blackout Period shall be earlier terminated in writing by the Company) and
promptly halt any use, publication, dissemination or distribution of the Demand Registration Statement, each prospectus included
therein, and any amendment or supplement thereto by it and any of its Affiliates for the duration of the Blackout Period set forth in
such notice (or until such Blackout Period shall be earlier terminated in writing by the Company) and, if so directed in writing by
the Company, will deliver to the Company any copies then in the Demand Shareholder’s possession of the prospectus covering
such Registrable Securities that was in effect at the time of receipt of such notice.
g.
If, in connection with a Demand Registration that involves an Underwritten Offering, the lead managing
underwriter(s) advise(s) the Company that, in its (their) good faith opinion, the inclusion of all of the securities sought to be
registered in connection with such Demand Registration would adversely affect the success thereof, then the Company shall include
in such registration statement only such securities as the Company is advised by such lead managing underwriter(s) can be sold
without such adverse effect as follows and in the following order of priority: (i) first, up to the number of Registrable Securities
requested to be included in such Demand Registration by the Demand Shareholders, which, in the opinion of the lead managing
underwriter(s), can be sold without adversely affecting the success thereof, pro rata among such Demand Shareholders on the basis
of the number of such Registrable Securities requested to be included by such Demand Shareholders; (ii) second, securities the
Company proposes to sell; and (iii) third, all other securities of the Company duly requested to be included in such registration
statement, pro rata on the basis of the amount of such other securities requested to be included or such other allocation method
determined by the Company.

h.
Any time that a Demand Registration involves an Underwritten Offering, the Requesting Shareholder(s)
shall select the investment banker(s) and manager(s) that will serve as managing underwriters (including which such managing
underwriters will serve as lead or co-lead) and underwriters with respect to the offering of such Registrable Securities; provided,
that such investment banker(s) and manager(s) shall be reasonably acceptable to the Company (such acceptance not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
6.2

Piggyback Registrations.

a.
Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, whenever the Company proposes to register any Common Stock
(or any other securities that are of the same class or series as any Registrable Securities that are not shares of Common Stock) under
the Securities Act (other than a registration by the Company (i) on Form S-4 or any successor form thereto, (ii) on Form S-8 or any
successor form thereto, (iii) pursuant to Section 6.3, or (iv) pursuant to Section 6.1) (a “Piggyback Registration”), whether for its
own account or for the account of others, the Company shall give all Demand Shareholders prompt written notice thereof (but not
less than ten (10) Business Days prior to the filing by the Company with the Commission of any registration statement with respect
thereto). Such notice (a “Piggyback Notice”) shall specify the number of shares of Common Stock (or other securities, as
applicable) proposed to be registered, the proposed date of filing of such registration statement with the Commission, the proposed
means of distribution and the proposed managing underwriter(s) (if any) and a good faith estimate by the Company of the proposed
minimum offering price of such shares of Common Stock (or other securities, as applicable), in each case to the extent then known.
Subject to Section 6.2(b), the Company shall include in each such Piggyback Registration all Registrable Securities held by
Demand Shareholders (a “Piggyback Seller”) with respect to which the Company has received written requests (which written
requests shall specify the number of Registrable Securities requested to be disposed of by such Piggyback Seller) for inclusion
therein within ten (10) days after such Piggyback Notice is received by such Piggyback Seller.
b.
If, in connection with a Piggyback Registration that involves an Underwritten Offering, the lead managing
underwriter(s) advise(s) the Company that, in its opinion, the inclusion of all the securities sought to be included in such Piggyback
Registration by (w) the Company, (x) other Persons who have sought to have shares of Common Stock registered in such
Piggyback Registration pursuant to rights to demand (other than pursuant to so-called “piggyback” or other incidental or
participation registration rights) such registration (such Persons being “Other Demanding Sellers”), (y) the Piggyback Sellers and
(z) any other proposed sellers of shares of Common Stock (such Persons being “Other Proposed Sellers”), as the case may be,
would materially and adversely affect the success thereof, then the Company shall include in the registration statement applicable
to such Piggyback Registration only such securities as the Company is so advised by such lead managing underwriter(s) can be
sold without such an effect, as follows and in the following order of priority:
i.
if the Piggyback Registration relates to an offering for the Company’s own account, then (A) first, such
number of shares of Common Stock (or other securities, as applicable) to be sold by the Company as the Company, in its
reasonable judgment, shall have determined, (B) second, Registrable Securities of Piggyback Sellers, pro rata on the basis
of the number of Registrable Securities proposed to be sold by such Piggyback Sellers, (C) third, shares of Common Stock
sought to be registered by Other Demanding Sellers, pro rata on the basis of the number of shares of Common Stock
proposed to be sold by such Other Demanding Sellers and (D) fourth, other shares of Common Stock proposed to be sold by
any Other Proposed Sellers; or

ii.
if the Piggyback Registration relates to an offering other than for the Company’s own account, then
(A) first, such number of shares of Common Stock (or other securities, as applicable) sought to be registered by each Other
Demanding Seller pro rata in proportion to the number of securities sought to be registered by all such Other Demanding
Sellers, (B) second, Registrable Securities of Piggyback Sellers, pro rata on the basis of the number of Registrable
Securities proposed to be sold by such Piggyback Sellers, (C) third, shares of Common Stock to be sold by the Company
and (D) fourth, other shares of Common Stock proposed to be sold by any Other Proposed Sellers.

For clarity, in connection with any Underwritten Offering under this Section 6.2 for the Company’s
account, the Company shall not be required to include the Registrable Securities of a Piggyback Seller in the Underwritten Offering
unless such Piggyback Seller accepts the terms of the underwriting as agreed upon between the Company and the lead managing
underwriter(s), which shall be selected by the Company.
c.

If, at any time after giving written notice of its intention to register any shares of Common Stock (or other
securities, as applicable) as set forth in this Section 6.2 and prior to the time the registration statement filed in connection with such
Piggyback Registration is declared effective, the Company shall determine for any reason not to register such shares of Common
Stock (or other securities, as applicable), the Company may, at its election, give written notice of such determination to the
Piggyback Sellers within five (5) Business Days thereof and thereupon shall be relieved of its obligation to register any Registrable
Securities in connection with such particular withdrawn or abandoned Piggyback Registration; provided, that, if permitted pursuant
to Section 6.1, the Demand Shareholders may continue the registration as a Demand Registration pursuant to the terms of
Section 6.1.
d.

6.3

Shelf Registration Statement.

a.
Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, and further subject to the availability of Form S-3 to the
Company, any of the Demand Shareholders may by written notice delivered to the Company (the “Shelf Notice”) require the
Company to file as soon as reasonably practicable, and to use commercially reasonable efforts to cause to be declared effective by
the Commission as soon as reasonably practicable after such filing date, a Form S-3, providing for an offering to be made on a
continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act relating to the offer and sale, from time to time, of an amount of
Registrable Securities then held by such Demand Shareholders that equals or is greater than the Registrable Amount (the “Shelf
Registration Statement”). To the extent the Company is a well-known seasoned issuer (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities
Act), the Company shall file the Shelf Registration Statement in the form of an automatic shelf registration statement (as defined in
Rule 405 under the Securities Act) or any successor form thereto. If registering a number of Registrable Securities, the Company
shall pay the registration fee for all Registrable Securities to be registered pursuant to an automatic shelf registration statement at
the time of filing of the automatic shelf registration statement and shall not elect to pay any portion of the registration fee on a
deferred basis. The Company may also amend an existing registration statement on Form S-3, including by post-effective
amendment, in order to fulfill its obligations hereunder.
b.
Within five (5) days after receipt of a Shelf Notice pursuant to Section 6.3(a), the Company will deliver
written notice thereof to all other holders of Registrable Securities. Each other holder of Registrable Securities may elect to
participate with respect to its Registrable Securities in the Shelf Registration Statement in accordance with the plan and method of
distribution set forth, or to be set forth, in such Shelf Registration Statement by delivering to the Company a written request to so

participate within five (5) days after the Shelf Notice is received by any such holder of Registrable Securities.
c.
Subject to Section 6.3(d), the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to keep the Shelf
Registration Statement continuously effective until the date on which all Registrable Securities covered by the Shelf Registration
Statement have been sold thereunder in accordance with the plan and method of distribution disclosed in the prospectus included in
the Shelf Registration Statement, or otherwise cease to be Registrable Securities.
d.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Company shall be entitled, from
time to time, by providing written notice to the holders of Registrable Securities who elected to participate in the Shelf Registration
Statement, to require such holders of Registrable Securities to suspend the use of the prospectus for sales of Registrable Securities
under the Shelf Registration Statement during any Blackout Period. In the event of a Blackout Period under clause (ii) of the
definition thereof, the Company shall deliver to the Demand Shareholders requesting registration a certificate signed by either the
chief executive officer or the chief financial officer of the Company certifying that, in the good faith judgment of the Company, the
conditions described in clause (ii) of the definition of Blackout Period are met. Such certificate shall contain an approximation of
the anticipated delay. Upon notice by the Company to the Demand Shareholders of any such determination, each Demand
Shareholder covenants that it shall, subject to Applicable Law, keep the fact of any such notice strictly confidential, and, in the case
of a Blackout Period pursuant to clause (ii)(y) of the definition of Blackout Period, promptly halt any offer, sale, trading or other
Transfer by it or any of its Affiliates of any Registrable Securities for the duration of the Blackout Period set forth in such notice (or
until such Blackout Period shall be earlier terminated in writing by the Company) and promptly halt any use, publication,
dissemination or distribution of the Shelf Registration Statement, each prospectus included therein, and any amendment or
supplement thereto by it and any of its Affiliates for the duration of the Blackout Period set forth in such notice (or until such
Blackout Period shall be earlier terminated in writing by the Company) and, if so directed in writing by the Company, will deliver
to the Company any copies then in the Demand Shareholder’s possession of the prospectus covering such Registrable Securities
that was in effect at the time of receipt of such notice.
e.
After the expiration of any Blackout Period and without any further request from a holder of Registrable
Securities, the Company, to the extent necessary, shall as promptly as reasonably practicable prepare a post-effective amendment or
supplement to the Shelf Registration Statement or the prospectus, or any document incorporated therein by reference, or file any
other required document so that, as thereafter delivered to purchasers of the Registrable Securities included therein, the prospectus
will not include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in
the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

At any time that a Shelf Registration Statement is effective, if any Demand Shareholder delivers a notice to
the Company (a “Take-Down Notice”) stating that it intends to sell all of part of its Registrable Securities included by it on the
Shelf Registration Statement (a “Shelf Offering”), then the Company shall amend or supplement the Shelf Registration Statement
as may be necessary in order to enable such Registrable Securities to be distributed pursuant to the Shelf Offering (taking into
account, solely in connection with a Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering, the inclusion of Registrable Securities by any other
holders pursuant to this Section 6.3). In connection with any Shelf Offering that is an Underwritten Offering and where the plan of
distribution set forth in the applicable Take-Down Notice includes a customary “road show” (including an “electronic road show”)
or other substantial marketing effort by the Company and the underwriters (a “Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering”):
f.

i.
such proposing Demand Shareholder(s) shall also deliver the Take-Down Notice to all other Demand
Shareholders included on the Shelf Registration Statement and permit each such holder to include its Registrable Securities
included on the Shelf Registration Statement in the Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering if such holder notifies the
proposing Demand Shareholder(s) and the Company within two (2) Business Days after delivery of the Take-Down Notice
to such holder; and
ii.
if the lead managing underwriter(s) advises the Company and the proposing Demand Shareholder(s) that,
in its opinion, the inclusion of all of the securities sought to be sold in connection with such Marketed Underwritten Shelf
Offering would materially and adversely affect the success thereof, then there shall be included in such Marketed
Underwritten Shelf Offering only such securities as the proposing Demand Shareholder(s) is advised by such lead managing
underwriter(s) can be sold without such adverse effect, and such number of Registrable Securities shall be allocated in the
same manner as described in Section 6.1(g). Except as otherwise expressly specified in this Section 6.3, any Marketed
Underwritten Shelf Offering shall be subject to the same requirements, limitations and other provisions of this Article VI as
would be applicable to a Demand Registration (i.e., as if such Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering were a Demand
Registration), including Section 6.1(e)(ii) and Section 6.1(g).
g.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if the requesting Demand Shareholder wishes to
engage in a block sale (including a block sale off of a Shelf Registration Statement or an effective automatic shelf registration
statement, or in connection with the registration of the Registrable Securities under an automatic shelf registration statement for
purposes of effectuating a block sale), then notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provisions hereunder, no Demand
Shareholder shall be entitled to receive any notice of or have its Registrable Securities included in such block sale.

Any time that a Shelf Offering involves a Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering, the Requesting
Shareholder(s) shall select the investment banker(s) and manager(s) that will serve as managing underwriters (including which such
managing underwriters will serve as lead or co-lead) and underwriters with respect to the offering of such Registrable Securities;
provided, that such investment banker(s) and manager(s) shall be reasonably acceptable to the Company (such acceptance not to be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).
h.

6.4
Withdrawal Rights. Any holder of Registrable Securities having notified or directed the Company to include any
or all of its Registrable Securities in a registration statement under the Securities Act shall have the right to withdraw any such
notice or direction with respect to any or all of the Registrable Securities designated by it for registration by giving written notice to
such effect to the Company prior to the effective date of such registration statement. In the event of any such withdrawal, the
Company shall not include such Registrable Securities in the applicable registration and such Registrable Securities shall continue
to be Registrable Securities for all purposes of this Agreement (subject to the other terms and conditions of this Agreement). No
such withdrawal shall affect the obligations of the Company with respect to the Registrable Securities not so withdrawn; provided,
however, that in the case of a Demand Registration, if such withdrawal shall reduce the number of Registrable Securities sought to
be included in such registration below the Registrable Amount, then the Company shall as promptly as practicable give each
Demand Shareholder seeking to register Registrable Securities notice to such effect and, within five (5) days following the mailing
of such notice, such Demand Shareholder still seeking registration shall, by written notice to the Company, elect to register
additional Registrable Securities to satisfy the Registrable Amount or elect that such registration statement not be filed or, if
theretofore filed, be withdrawn. During such five (5) day period, the Company shall not file such registration statement if not
theretofore filed or, if such registration statement has been

theretofore filed, the Company shall not seek, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent, the effectiveness thereof.
No Demand Registration withdrawn pursuant to this Section 6.4 shall count against the number of Demands which may have been
made under Section 6.1(a) hereof.
Hedging Transactions

6.5

a.
The provisions of this Agreement relating to the registration, offer and sale of Registrable Securities shall
apply also to (i) any transaction which Transfers some or all of the economic risk of ownership of Registrable Securities, including
any forward contract, equity swap, put or call, put or call equivalent position, collar, margin loan, sale of exchangeable security or
similar transaction (including the registration, offer and sale under the Securities Act of Registrable Securities pledged to the
counterparty to such transaction or of securities of the same class as the underlying Registrable Securities by the counterparty to
such transaction in connection therewith), and that the counterparty to such transaction shall be selected in the sole discretion of the
Demand Shareholders and (ii) any derivative transactions in which a broker-dealer, other financial institution or unaffiliated Person
(each, a “Hedging Counterparty”) may sell Registrable Securities covered by any prospectus and the applicable prospectus
supplement including short sale transactions using Registrable Securities pledged by a Demand Shareholder or borrowed from the
Demand Shareholder or others and Registrable Securities loaned, pledged or hypothecated to any such party (each, a “Hedging
Transaction”); provided that the Demand Shareholder’s legal counsel has determined in its reasonable judgment (after good-faith
consultation with counsel of the Company) that it is reasonably necessary to register under the Securities Act such Hedging
Transaction. Any written information regarding the Hedging Transaction provided to the Company by a Hedging Counterparty for
inclusion in any registration statement, prospectus or free writing prospectus filed pursuant to this Section 6.5 shall, for purposes of
Section 6.10(b), be deemed to be written information provided by a Selling Shareholder for purposes of Section 6.10(b).

If in connection with a Hedging Transaction, a Hedging Counterparty or any Affiliate thereof is (or may
reasonably be considered) an underwriter or selling stockholder, then such Hedging Counterparty shall be required to provide
customary indemnities to the Company regarding the plan of distribution and related matters.
b.

Holdback Agreements.

6.6

Amazon shall enter into customary agreements restricting the sale or distribution of Equity Securities of the
Company (including sales pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act) to the extent required by the lead managing
underwriter(s) with respect to an applicable Underwritten Offering in which Amazon participates during the period commencing on
the date of the request (which shall be no earlier than fourteen (14) days prior to the expected “pricing” of such Underwritten
Offering) and continuing for not more than ninety (90) days after the date of the “final” prospectus (or “final” prospectus
supplement if the Underwritten Offering is made pursuant to a Shelf Registration Statement), pursuant to which such Underwritten
Offering shall be made. The Company shall not include Registrable Securities of any other Demand Shareholder in such an
Underwritten Offering unless such other Demand Shareholder enters into a customary agreement restricting the sale or distribution
of Equity Securities of the Company (including sales pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act) if requested by the lead
managing underwriter(s).
a.

b.
If any Demand Registration or Shelf Offering involves an Underwritten Offering, the Company will not
effect any sale or distribution of shares of Common Stock (or securities convertible

into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of Common Stock) (other than a registration statement on Form S-4, Form S-8 or
any successor forms thereto) for its own account, within sixty (60) days (plus an extension period as may be proposed by the lead
managing underwriter(s) for such Underwritten Offering to address FINRA regulations regarding the publication of research, or
such shorter periods as the lead managing underwriter(s) may agree with the Company), after the effective date of such registration
except as may otherwise be agreed between the Company and the lead managing underwriter(s) of such Underwritten Offering.
Registration Procedures.

6.7

If and whenever the Company is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to effect the registration of
any Registrable Securities under the Securities Act as provided in Section 6.1, Section 6.2 or Section 6.3, the Company shall as
expeditiously as reasonably practicable:
a.

prepare and file with the Commission a registration statement to effect such registration in accordance with
the intended method or methods of distribution of such securities and thereafter use commercially reasonable efforts to
cause such registration statement to become and remain effective pursuant to the terms of this Article VI; provided,
however, that the Company may discontinue any registration of its securities which are not Registrable Securities at any
time prior to the effective date of the registration statement relating thereto; provided, further, that before filing such
registration statement or any amendments thereto, the Company will furnish to the Demand Shareholders which are
including Registrable Securities in such registration (“Selling Shareholders”), their counsel and the lead managing
underwriter(s), if any, copies of all such documents proposed to be filed, which documents will be subject to the review and
reasonable comment of such counsel, and other documents reasonably requested by such counsel, including any comment
letter from the Commission, and, if requested by such counsel, provide such counsel reasonable opportunity to participate in
the preparation of such registration statement and each prospectus included therein and such other opportunities to conduct
a reasonable investigation within the meaning of the Securities Act, including reasonable access to the Company’s books
and records, officers, accountants and other advisors. The Company shall not file any such registration statement or
prospectus or any amendments or supplements thereto with respect to a Demand Registration to which the holders of a
majority of Registrable Securities held by the Requesting Shareholder(s), their counsel or the lead managing underwriter(s),
if any, shall reasonably object, in writing, on a timely basis, unless, in the opinion of the Company, such filing is necessary
to comply with Applicable Law;
ii.
except in the case of a Shelf Registration Statement, prepare and file with the Commission such
amendments, including post-effective amendments, and supplements to such registration statement and the prospectus used
in connection therewith as may be necessary to keep such registration statement effective pursuant to the terms of this
Article VI, and comply in all material respects with the provisions of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of all
securities covered by such registration statement;
iii.
in the case of a Shelf Registration Statement, prepare and file with the Commission such amendments,
including post-effective amendments, and supplements to such Shelf Registration Statement and the prospectus used in
connection therewith as may be necessary to keep such Shelf Registration Statement effective and to comply in all material
respects with the provision of the Securities Act with respect to the disposition of the Registrable Securities subject thereto
for a period ending on the date on which all the Registrable Securities held by the Demand Shareholders cease to be
Registrable Securities;
i.

iv.
if requested by the lead managing underwriter(s), if any, or the holders of a majority of the then
outstanding Registrable Securities being sold in connection with an Underwritten Offering, promptly include in a prospectus
supplement or post-effective amendment such information as the lead managing underwriter(s), if any, and such holders
may reasonably request in order to permit the intended method of distribution of such securities and make all required
filings of such prospectus supplement or such post-effective amendment as soon as reasonably practicable after the
Company has received such request; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to take any actions under
this Section 6.7(a)(iv) that are not, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, in compliance with Applicable Law;
v.
furnish to the Selling Shareholders and each underwriter, if any, of the securities being sold by such Selling
Shareholders such number of conformed copies of such registration statement and of each amendment and supplement
thereto, such number of copies of the prospectus contained in such registration statement (including each preliminary
prospectus and any summary prospectus) and each free writing prospectus (as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act) (a
“Free Writing Prospectus”) utilized in connection therewith and any other prospectus filed under Rule 424 under the
Securities Act, in conformity with the requirements of the Securities Act, and such other documents as such Selling
Shareholders and underwriter, if any, may reasonably request in order to facilitate the public sale or other disposition of the
Registrable Securities owned by such Selling Shareholders;
vi.
use commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify or cooperate with the Selling Shareholders, the
underwriters, if any, and their respective counsel in connection with the registration or qualification (or exemption from
such registration or qualification) of such Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement under such other
securities laws or “blue sky” laws of such jurisdictions as the Selling Shareholders and any underwriter of the securities
being sold by such Selling Shareholders shall reasonably request, and to keep each such registration or qualification (or
exemption therefrom) effective during the period such registration statement is required to be kept effective and take any
other action which may be necessary or reasonably advisable to enable such Selling Shareholders and underwriters to
consummate the disposition in such jurisdictions of the Registrable Securities owned by such Selling Shareholders, except
that the Company shall not for any such purpose be required to (A) qualify generally to do business as a foreign corporation
in any jurisdiction wherein it would not but for the requirements of this clause (vi) be obligated to be so qualified,
(B) subject itself to taxation in any such jurisdiction or (C) file a general consent to service of process in any such
jurisdiction;
vii.
use commercially reasonable efforts to cause such Registrable Securities (if such Registrable Securities
are shares of Common Stock) to be listed on each securities exchange on which shares of Common Stock are then listed;
viii.
use commercially reasonable efforts to provide and cause to be maintained a transfer agent and registrar
for all Registrable Securities covered by such registration statement from and after a date not later than the effective date of
such registration statement;
ix.
enter into such agreements (including an underwriting agreement) in form, scope and substance as is
customary in underwritten offerings of shares of Common Stock by the Company and use its commercially reasonable
efforts to take all such other actions reasonably requested by the holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities being
sold in connection therewith (including those reasonably requested by the lead managing underwriter(s), if any) to expedite
or facilitate the disposition of such Registrable Securities, and in such connection, whether or not an underwriting
agreement is entered into and whether or not the registration is an Underwritten Offering (A) make such representations and
warranties to the holders of such Registrable Securities and the underwriters, if any, with respect to the business of the
Company and its subsidiaries, and the registration statement, prospectus and documents, if any, incorporated

or deemed to be incorporated by reference therein, in each case, in form, substance and scope as are customarily made by
issuers in underwritten offerings, and, if true, confirm the same if and when requested, (B) if any underwriting agreement
has been entered into, the same shall contain customary indemnification provisions and procedures with respect to all
parties to be indemnified pursuant to Section 6.10, except as otherwise agreed by the holders of a majority of the
Registrable Securities being sold and (C) deliver such documents and certificates as reasonably requested by the holders of
a majority of the Registrable Securities being sold, their counsel and the lead managing underwriter(s), if any, to evidence
the continued validity of the representations and warranties made pursuant to sub-clause (A) above and to evidence
compliance with any customary conditions contained in the underwriting agreement or other agreement entered into by the
Company. The above shall be done at each closing under such underwriting or similar agreement, or as and to the extent
required thereunder;
x.
in connection with an Underwritten Offering, use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain for the
underwriter(s) (A) opinions of counsel for the Company, covering the matters customarily covered in opinions requested in
underwritten offerings and such other matters as may be reasonably requested by such underwriters and (B) ”comfort”
letters and updates thereof (or, in the case of any such Person which does not satisfy the conditions for receipt of a
“comfort” letter specified in Statement on Auditing Standards No. 72, an “agreed upon procedures” letter) signed by the
independent public accountants who have certified the Company’s financial statements included in such registration
statement, covering the matters customarily covered in “comfort” letters in connection with underwritten offerings;
xi.
make available for inspection by the Selling Shareholders, any underwriter participating in any disposition
pursuant to any registration statement, and any attorney, accountant or other agent or Representative retained in connection
with such offering by such Selling Shareholders or underwriter (collectively, the “Inspectors”), financial and other records,
pertinent corporate documents and properties of the Company (collectively, the “Records”), as shall be reasonably
necessary, or as shall otherwise be reasonably requested, to enable them to exercise their due diligence responsibility, and
cause the officers, directors and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries to supply all information in each case
reasonably requested by any such Representative, underwriter, attorney, agent or accountant in connection with such
registration statement; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to provide any information under this
Section 6.7(a)(xi) if (A) the Company believes, after consultation with counsel for the Company, that to do so would cause
the Company to forfeit an attorney-client privilege that was applicable to such information or (B) either (1) the Company
has requested and been granted from the Commission confidential treatment of such information contained in any filing
with the Commission or documents provided supplementally or otherwise or (2) the Company reasonably determines in
good faith that such Records are confidential and so notifies the Inspectors in writing; unless prior to furnishing any such
information with respect to clause (1) or (2) such Selling Shareholder requesting such information enters into, and causes
each of its Inspectors to enter into, a confidentiality agreement on terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to the
Company; provided, further, that each Selling Shareholder agrees that it will, upon learning that disclosure of such Records
is sought in a court of competent jurisdiction or by another Governmental Entity, give notice to the Company and allow the
Company, at its expense, to undertake appropriate action seeking to prevent disclosure of the Records deemed confidential;
xii.
as promptly as practicable notify in writing the Selling Shareholders and the underwriters, if any, of the
following events: (A) the filing of the registration statement, any amendment thereto, the prospectus or any prospectus
supplement related thereto or post-effective amendment to the registration statement or any Free Writing Prospectus utilized
in connection therewith, and, with respect to the registration statement or any post-effective amendment thereto,

when the same has become effective; (B) any request by the Commission or any other Governmental Entity for amendments
or supplements to the registration statement or the prospectus or for additional information; (C) the issuance by the
Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the registration statement or the initiation of any proceedings
by any Person for that purpose; (D) the receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the suspension of the
qualification of any Registrable Securities for sale under the securities or “blue sky” laws of any jurisdiction or the initiation
or threat of any proceeding for such purpose; (E) if at any time the representations and warranties of the Company
contained in any mutual agreement (including any underwriting agreement) contemplated by Section 6.7(a)(ix) cease to be
true and correct in any material respect; and (F) upon the happening of any event that makes any statement made in such
registration statement or related prospectus or any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference
untrue in any material respect or that requires the making of any changes in such registration statement, prospectus or
documents so that, in the case of the registration statement, it will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, and that in
the case of the prospectus, it will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact
necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, and, at the request of any Selling Shareholder, promptly prepare and furnish to such Selling Shareholder a
reasonable number of copies of a supplement to or an amendment of such registration statement or prospectus as may be
necessary so that, as thereafter delivered to the purchasers of such Registrable Securities, such prospectus shall not include
an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
xiii.
use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the withdrawal of any order suspending the effectiveness of
such registration statement, or the lifting of any suspension of the qualification (or exemption from qualification) of any of
the Registrable Securities for sale in any jurisdiction at the earliest reasonable practicable date, except that, subject to the
requirements of Section 6.7(a)(vi), the Company shall not for any such purpose be required to (A) qualify generally to do
business as a foreign corporation in any jurisdiction wherein it would not but for the requirements of this clause (xiii) be
obligated to be so qualified, (B) subject itself to taxation in any such jurisdiction or (C) file a general consent to service of
process in any such jurisdiction;
xiv.
cooperate with the Selling Shareholders and the lead managing underwriter(s) to facilitate the timely
preparation and delivery of certificates (which shall not bear any restrictive legends unless required under Applicable Law)
representing securities sold under any registration statement, and enable such securities to be in such denominations and
registered in such names as the lead managing underwriter(s) or such Selling Shareholders may request and keep available
and make available to the Company’s transfer agent prior to the effectiveness of such registration statement a supply of such
certificates;
xv.
cooperate with each seller of Registrable Securities and each underwriter or agent participating in the
disposition of such Registrable Securities and their respective counsel in connection with any filings required to be made
with FINRA;
xvi.
have appropriate officers of the Company prepare and make presentations at a reasonable number of
“road shows” and before analysts and rating agencies, as the case may be, and other information meetings reasonably
organized by the underwriters, take other actions to obtain ratings for any Registrable Securities (if they are eligible to be
rated) and otherwise use its commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate as reasonably requested by the Selling
Shareholders and the underwriters in the offering, marketing or selling of the Registrable Securities; provided,

however, that the scheduling of any such “road shows” and other meetings shall not unduly interfere with the normal
operations of the business of the Company; and
xvii.
take all other actions reasonably requested by Amazon or the lead managing underwriter(s) to effect the
intent of this Agreement.
b.
The Company may require each Selling Shareholder and each underwriter, if any, to furnish the Company
in writing such information regarding each Selling Shareholder or underwriter and the distribution of such Registrable Securities as
the Company may from time to time reasonably request in writing to complete or amend the information required by such
registration statement.
c.
Each Selling Shareholder agrees that upon receipt of any notice from the Company of the happening of any
event of the kind described in clauses (B), (C), (D), (E) and (F) of Section 6.7(a)(xii), such Selling Shareholder shall forthwith
discontinue such Selling Shareholder’s disposition of Registrable Securities pursuant to the applicable registration statement and
prospectus relating thereto until such Selling Shareholder’s receipt of the copies of the supplemented or amended prospectus
contemplated by Section 6.7(a)(xii), or until it is advised in writing by the Company that the use of the applicable prospectus may
be resumed, and has received copies of any additional or supplemental filings that are incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by
reference in such prospectus; provided, however, that the Company shall extend the time periods under Section 6.1(c) with respect
to the length of time that the effectiveness of a registration statement must be maintained by the amount of time the holder is
required to discontinue disposition of such securities.

With a view to making available to the holders of Registrable Securities the benefits of Rule 144 under the
Securities Act and any other rule or regulation of the Commission that may at any time permit a holder to sell securities of the
Company to the public without registration, the Company shall:
i.
use commercially reasonable efforts to make and keep public information available, as those terms are
understood and defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act;
ii.
use commercially reasonable efforts to file with the Commission in a timely manner all reports and other
documents required of the Company under the Exchange Act, at any time when the Company is subject to such reporting
requirements; and
iii.
furnish to any holder of Registrable Securities, promptly upon request, a written statement by the
Company as to its compliance with the reporting requirements of Rule 144 under the Securities Act and of the Exchange
Act, a copy of the most recent annual or quarterly report of the Company, and such other reports and documents so filed or
furnished by the Company with the Commission as such holder may reasonably request in connection with the sale of
Registrable Securities without registration (in each case to the extent not readily publicly available).
d.

6.8
Registration Expenses. All fees and expenses incident to the Company’s performance of its obligations under this
Article VI, including (a) all registration and filing fees, including all fees and expenses of compliance with securities and “blue
sky” laws (including the reasonable and documented fees and disbursements of counsel for the underwriters in connection with
“blue sky” qualifications of the Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 6.7(a)(vi)) and all fees and expenses associated with
filings required to be made with FINRA (including, if applicable, the fees and expenses of any “qualified independent underwriter”
as such term is defined in FINRA Rule 5121, except in the event that Requesting Shareholders select the underwriters) (b) all
printing (including expenses of printing certificates for the Registrable Securities in a form eligible for deposit with the Depository
Trust Company and of printing prospectuses if the printing of prospectuses is requested by Amazon) and copying expenses, (c) all
messenger, telephone and delivery expenses, (d) all fees and expenses of the Company’s

independent certified public accountants and counsel (including with respect to “comfort” letters and opinions), (e) expenses of the
Company incurred in connection with any “road show”, other than any expense paid or payable by the underwriters and
(f) reasonable and documented fees and disbursements of one counsel for all holders of Registrable Securities whose Registrable
Securities are included in a registration statement, which counsel shall be selected by, in the case of a Demand Registration, the
Requesting Shareholders, in the case of a Shelf Offering, the Demand Shareholder(s) requesting such offering, or in the case of any
other registration, the holders of a majority of the Registrable Securities being sold in connection therewith, shall be borne solely
by the Company whether or not any registration statement is filed or becomes effective. In connection with the Company’s
performance of its obligations under this Article VI, the Company will pay its internal expenses (including all salaries and expenses
of its officers and employees performing legal or accounting duties and the expense of any annual audit) and the expenses and fees
for listing the securities to be registered on the primary securities exchange or over-the-counter market on which similar securities
issued by the Company are then listed or traded. Each Selling Shareholder shall pay its portion of all underwriting discounts and
commissions and transfer taxes, if any, relating to the sale of such Selling Shareholder’s Registrable Securities pursuant to any
registration.
Miscellaneous.

6.9

a.
Not less than five (5) Business Days before the expected filing date of each registration statement pursuant
to this Agreement, the Company shall notify each holder of Registrable Securities who has timely provided the requisite notice
hereunder entitling such holder to register Registrable Securities in such registration statement of the information, documents and
instruments from such holder that the Company or any underwriter reasonably requests in connection with such registration
statement, including a questionnaire, custody agreement, power of attorney, lock-up letter and underwriting agreement (the
“Requested Information”). If the Company has not received, on or before the second Business Day before the expected filing date,
the Requested Information from such holder, the Company may file the registration statement without including Registrable
Securities of such holder. The failure to so include in any registration statement the Registrable Securities of a holder of Registrable
Securities (with regard to that registration statement) shall not result in any liability on the part of the Company to such holder.

The Company shall not grant to any Person any demand, piggyback or shelf registration rights the terms of
which are senior to or conflict with the rights granted to Amazon hereunder without the prior written consent of Amazon. If
Amazon provides such consent, Amazon and the Company shall amend this Agreement to grant Amazon any such senior demand,
piggyback or shelf registration rights.
b.

6.10

Registration Indemnification.

a.
The Company agrees, without limitation as to time, to indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, each Selling Shareholder and its Affiliates and their respective officers, directors, members, stockholders,
employees, managers and partners and each Person who controls (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act and
Section 20 of the Exchange Act) such Selling Shareholder or such other indemnified Person and the officers, directors, members,
stockholders, employees, managers and partners of each such controlling Person, each underwriter, if any, and each Person who
controls (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act and Section 20 of the Exchange Act) such underwriter, from and
against all Losses, as incurred, arising out of, caused by, resulting from or relating to any untrue statement (or alleged untrue
statement) of a material fact contained in any registration statement, prospectus or preliminary prospectus or Free Writing
Prospectus or any

amendment or supplement thereto or any omission (or alleged omission) of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary
to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading and (without limitation of
the preceding portions of this Section 6.10(a)) will reimburse each such Selling Shareholder, each of its Affiliates, and each of their
respective officers, directors, members, stockholders, employees, managers and partners and each such Person who controls each
such Selling Shareholder and the officers, directors, members, stockholders, employees, managers, partners, accountants, attorneys
and agents of each such controlling Person, each such underwriter and each such Person who controls any such underwriter, for any
legal and any other expenses reasonably incurred in connection with investigating and defending or settling any such claim, Loss,
damage, liability or action, except insofar as the same are caused by any information furnished in writing to the Company by any
Selling Shareholder expressly for use therein.
b.
In connection with any registration statement in which a Selling Shareholder is participating, without
limitation as to time, each such Selling Shareholder shall, severally and not jointly, indemnify the Company, its directors, officers
and employees, and each Person who controls (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act and Section 20 of the
Exchange Act) the Company, from and against all Losses, as incurred, arising out of, caused by, resulting from or relating to any
untrue statement (or alleged untrue statement) of material fact contained in the registration statement, prospectus or preliminary
prospectus or Free Writing Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto or any omission (or alleged omission) of a material
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were
made, not misleading, and (without limitation of the preceding portions of this Section 6.10(b)) will reimburse the Company, its
directors, officers and employees and each Person who controls the Company (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities
Act and Section 20 of the Exchange Act) for any legal and any other expenses reasonably incurred in connection with investigating
and defending or settling any such claim, Loss, damage, liability or action, in each case solely to the extent, but only to the extent,
that such untrue statement or omission is made in such registration statement, prospectus or preliminary prospectus or Free Writing
Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the
Company by such Selling Shareholder for inclusion in such registration statement, prospectus or preliminary prospectus or Free
Writing Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Selling Shareholder shall be liable
under this Section 6.10(b) for amounts in excess of the gross proceeds (after deducting any underwriting discount or commission)
received by such holder in the offering giving rise to such liability.

Any Person entitled to indemnification hereunder shall give prompt written notice to the indemnifying
party of any claim with respect to which it seeks indemnification; provided, however, the failure to give such notice shall not
release the indemnifying party from its obligation, except to the extent that the indemnifying party has been actually and materially
prejudiced by such failure to provide such notice on a timely basis.
c.

d.
In any case in which any such action is brought against any indemnified party, and it notifies an
indemnifying party of the commencement thereof, the indemnifying party will be entitled to participate therein, and, to the extent
that it may wish, to assume the defense thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to such indemnified party, and after notice
from the indemnifying party to such indemnified party of its election so to assume the defense thereof and acknowledging the
obligations of the indemnifying party with respect to such proceeding, the indemnifying party will not (so long as it shall continue
to have the right to defend, contest, litigate and settle the matter in question in accordance with this paragraph) be liable to such
indemnified party hereunder for any legal or other expense subsequently incurred by such indemnified party in connection with the
defense thereof other than reasonable costs of

investigation, supervision and monitoring (unless (i) such indemnified party reasonably objects to such assumption on the grounds
that (A) there may be defenses available to it which are different from or in addition to the defenses available to such indemnifying
party or (B) such action involves, or is reasonably likely to have an effect beyond, the scope of matters that are subject to
indemnification pursuant to this Section 6.10, or (ii) the indemnifying party shall have failed within a reasonable period of time to
assume such defense and the indemnified party is or would reasonably be expected to be materially prejudiced by such delay, and
in either event the indemnified party shall be promptly reimbursed by the indemnifying party for the expenses incurred in
connection with retaining one separate legal counsel (for the avoidance of doubt, for all indemnified parties in connection
therewith)). For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any such assumption by an indemnifying party, the indemnified party shall
have the right to employ separate counsel in any such matter and participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of
such counsel shall be at the expense of such indemnified party except as provided in the previous sentence. An indemnifying party
shall not be liable for any settlement of an action or claim effected without its consent. No matter shall be settled by an
indemnifying party without the consent of the indemnified party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed), unless such settlement (x) includes as an unconditional term thereof the giving by the claimant or plaintiff to such
indemnified party of a release from all liability in respect to such claim or litigation, (y) does not include any statement as to or any
admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act by or on behalf of any indemnified party and (z) is settled solely for cash for which
the indemnified party would be entitled to indemnification hereunder.
e.
The indemnification provided for under this Agreement shall survive the Transfer of the Registrable
Securities and the termination of this Agreement.
f.
If recovery is not available under the foregoing indemnification provisions for any reason or reasons other
than as specified therein, any Person who would otherwise be entitled to indemnification by the terms thereof shall nevertheless be
entitled to contribution with respect to any Losses with respect to which such Person would be entitled to such indemnification but
for such reason or reasons, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying party, on the one
hand, and such indemnified party, on the other hand, in connection with the actions, statements or omissions that resulted in such
Losses as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the indemnifying party and of the indemnified
party shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or
the omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the indemnifying party or by the indemnified party, the
Persons’ relative knowledge and access to information concerning the matter with respect to which the claim was asserted, the
opportunity to correct and prevent any statement or omission, and other equitable considerations appropriate under the
circumstances. It is hereby agreed that it would not necessarily be equitable if the amount of such contribution were determined by
pro rata or per capita allocation. No Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the
Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any Person who was not found guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Selling Shareholder shall be required to make a contribution in excess of the amount received by
such Selling Shareholder from its sale of Registrable Securities in connection with the offering that gave rise to the contribution
obligation.
6.11
Free Writing Prospectuses. Amazon shall not use any “free writing prospectus” (as defined in Rule 405 under the
Securities Act) in connection with the sale of Registrable Securities pursuant to this Article VI without the prior written consent of
the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). Notwithstanding the foregoing, Amazon
may use any free writing prospectus prepared and distributed by the Company.

6.12
Termination of Registration Rights. The rights granted pursuant to this Article VI shall terminate, as to any
holder of Registrable Securities, on the earlier to occur of (a) the date on which all Registrable Securities held by such holder have
been disposed; (b) the date on which all Registrable Securities held by such holder may be sold without registration in compliance
with Rule 144 without regard to volume limitations or other restrictions on transfer thereunder.

ARTICLE VII
DEFINITIONS
7.1

Defined Terms. Capitalized terms when used in this Agreement have the following meanings:

“Acquisition Proposal” means any proposal, offer, inquiry, indication of interest, or expression of interest (whether binding
or nonbinding, and whether communicated to the Company, the Board or publicly announced to the Company’s stockholders or
otherwise) by any Person or Group relating to an Acquisition Transaction.
“Acquisition Transaction” means (a) any transaction or series of related transactions as a result of which any Person or
Group (excluding Amazon or any of its Affiliates) becomes the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 40% or more of the
outstanding Equity Securities (measured by either voting power or economic interests) of the Company, (b) any transaction or
series of related transactions in which the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such transaction or series of related
transactions cease to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, at least 60% of the outstanding Equity Securities (measured by either
voting power or economic interests) of the Company; provided that this clause (b) shall not apply if such transaction or series of
related transactions is an acquisition by the Company effected, in whole or in part, through the issuance of Equity Securities of the
Company, (c) any Business Combination, as a result of which at least 40% ownership of the Company is transferred to another
Person or Group (excluding Amazon or any of its Affiliates), (d) individuals who constitute the Continuing Directors, taken
together, ceasing for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board, (e) any sale or lease or exchange, transfer, license or
disposition of a business, deposits or assets that constitute 40% or more of the consolidated assets, business, revenues, net income,
assets or deposits of the Company or (f) any transaction or series of related transactions as a result of which the Common Stock is
no longer traded on the New York Stock Exchange or, unless otherwise agreed in writing between Amazon and the Company, the
Public Float of the Company constitutes less than 40% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company.
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any person, any other person (for all purposes hereunder, including any entities or
individuals) that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control
with, such first person. It is expressly agreed that, for purposes of this definition, none of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is
an Affiliate of Amazon or any of its subsidiaries (and vice versa).
“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
“Amazon” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.
“Amazon Standstill Termination Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(d).
“Anti-Takeover Provisions” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(i).

“Antitrust Laws” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(d)(iii).
“Applicable Law” means, with respect to any Person, any federal, national, state, local, municipal, international,
multinational or SRO statute, law, ordinance, secondary and subordinate legislation, directives, rule (including rules of common
law), regulation, ordinance, treaty, Order, permit, authorization or other requirement applicable to such Person, its assets,
properties, operations or business.
“Bankruptcy Exceptions” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(d)(i).
“Beneficial Owner”, “Beneficially Own” or “Beneficial Ownership” has the meaning assigned to such term in Rule 13d-3
under the Exchange Act, and a Person’s beneficial ownership of securities shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions of
such Rule (in each case, irrespective of whether or not such Rule is actually applicable in such circumstance); provided that, except
as otherwise specified herein, such calculations shall be made inclusive of all Warrant Shares subject to issuance pursuant to the
Warrant.
“Blackout Period” means (i) any regular quarterly period during which directors and executive officers of the Company are
not permitted to trade under the insider trading policy or similar policy of the Company then in effect and (ii) in the event that the
Company determines in good faith that a registration of securities would (x) reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect
or materially interfere with any bona fide material financing of the Company or any material transaction under consideration by the
Company or (y) require disclosure of information that has not been, and is not otherwise required to be, disclosed to the public, the
premature disclosure of which would adversely affect the Company in any material respect, a period of the shorter of the ending of
the condition creating a Blackout Period and up to ninety (90) days; provided, that a Blackout Period described in this clause
(ii) may not occur more than once in any period of six (6) consecutive months.
“Board” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2(b).
“Burdensome Action” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3.
“Business Combination” means a merger, consolidation, statutory share exchange, reorganization, recapitalization or similar
extraordinary transaction (which may include a reclassification) involving the Company.
“Business Day” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3.
“Chosen Courts” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.5.
“Claim Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(f).
“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2.
“Code” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2(c).
“Commercial Arrangements” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
“Commission” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(e)(i).
“Common Stock” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
“Company” has the meaning set forth in the preamble.

“Company Benefit Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(d)(ii).
“Company Board Recommendation” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(b).
“Company Stockholder Meeting” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(a).
“Company Stockholders” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(a).
“Company Stock Plans” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(b).
“Confidential Information” means all information (irrespective of the form of communication, and irrespective of whether
obtained prior to or after the date hereof) obtained by or on behalf of Amazon or its Representatives from the Company, its
Affiliates or their respective Representatives, through the Beneficial Ownership of Equity Securities or through the rights granted
pursuant hereto, other than information which (i) was or becomes generally available to the public other than as a result of a breach
of this Agreement by Amazon, its Affiliates or their respective Representatives, (ii) was or becomes available to Amazon, its
Affiliates or their respective Representatives from a source other than the Company, its Affiliates or their respective
Representatives, provided, that the source thereof is not known by Amazon or such of its Affiliates or their respective
Representatives to be bound by an obligation of confidentiality, or (iii) is independently developed by Amazon, its Affiliates or
their respective Representatives without the use of any such information that would otherwise be Confidential Information
hereunder.
“Confidentiality Agreement” means the Mutual Nondisclosure Agreement, dated as of July 18, 2017, by and between
Amazon and the Company, as amended.
“Continuing Directors” means the directors of the Company on the date hereof and each other director if, in each case, such
other director’s nomination for election to the Board is recommended by more than 50% of the Continuing Directors or more than
50% of the members of the Nominating and Governance Committee of the Board that are Continuing Directors.
“control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and
policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise. “Controlled” and “controlling”
shall be construed accordingly.
“conversion” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Equity Securities.
“convertible securities” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Equity Securities.
“Demand” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).
“Demand Registration” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).
“Demand Registration Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).
“Demand Shareholder” means NV Investment Holdings or any wholly owned subsidiary of Amazon, in either case that
holds Registrable Securities.
“Derivative Instruments” means any and all derivative securities (as defined under Rule 16a-1 under the Exchange Act) that
increase in value as the value of any Equity Securities of the Company increases, including a long convertible security, a long call
option and a short put option position, in each case, regardless of whether (x) such interest conveys any voting rights in such
security, (y) such interest is

required to be, or is capable of being, settled through delivery of such security or (z) other transactions hedge the economic effect
of such interest.
“Disclosable Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(b).
“Disclosure Agency” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(b).
“Disclosure Schedules” means the Disclosure Schedules delivered by the Company concurrently with the execution and
delivery of this Agreement.
“EDGAR” means the Commission’s Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis and Retrieval system or any successor system
thereto.
“Effect” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).
“Equity Securities” means any and all (i) shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of
capital stock or other voting securities of a corporation, and any and all equivalent or analogous ownership (or profit) or voting
interests in a Person (other than a corporation), (ii) securities convertible into or exchangeable for shares, interests, participations or
other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock or voting securities of (or other ownership or profit or voting interests in)
such Person, and (iii) any and all warrants, rights or options to purchase any of the foregoing, whether voting or nonvoting, and, in
each case, whether or not such shares, interests, participations, equivalents, securities, warrants, options, rights or other interests are
authorized or otherwise existing on any date of determination (clauses (ii) and (iii), collectively “convertible securities” and any
conversion, exchange or exercise of any convertible securities, a “conversion”).
“Excess Warrant Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(d)(i).
“Exchange Act” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(d)(iii).
“Exercise Approval” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(b)(i).
“FCPA” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(l).
“FINRA” means the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.
“Form S-3” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).
“Free Writing Prospectus” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a)(v).
“fully diluted basis” means as of any time of determination, the number of shares of Common Stock which would then be
outstanding, assuming the complete exercise, exchange or conversion of all then outstanding convertible securities, options, rights,
and warrants of the Company, including, for the avoidance of doubt, as of the date of this Agreement, the Warrant Shares.
“GAAP” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).
“Governmental Approval” means any authorization, consent, approval, waiver, exception, variance, order, exemption,
publication, filing, declaration, concession, grant, franchise, agreement, permission, permit, or license of, from or with any
Governmental Entity, the giving of notice to or registration with any Governmental Entity or any other action in respect of any
Governmental Entity.

“Governmental Entity” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(d)(iii).
“Government Official” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(l).
“Group” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act.
“Hedging Counterparty” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.5(a).
“Hedging Transaction” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.5(a).
“HSR Act” means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.
“Initial Announcement” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a).
“Initial Antitrust Clearance” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(b).
“Initial Antitrust Filings” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(b).
“Initial Filing Transaction” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(b).
“Inspectors” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a)(xi).
“Losses” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(f).
“Marketed Underwritten Shelf Offering” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(f).
“Material Adverse Effect” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).
“More Favorable Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(e).
“Notice Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(f).
“NV Investment Holdings” has the meaning set forth in the recitals.
“Order” means any judgment, decision, decree, order, settlement, injunction, writ, stipulation, determination or award
issued by any Governmental Entity.
“Other Demanding Sellers” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(b).
“Other Proposed Sellers” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(b).
“Permitted Transfers” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(b).
“Person” means an individual, company, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust, body corporate (wherever
located) or other entity, organization or unincorporated association, including any Governmental Entity.
“Piggyback Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(a).
“Piggyback Registration” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(a).
“Piggyback Seller” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(a).

“Previously Disclosed” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b).
“Public Float” means the outstanding Common Stock beneficially owned by stockholders of the Company other than (a)
any Person or group within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act beneficially owning more than ten percent (10%)
of all outstanding Common Stock, (b) directors or executive officers of the Company and any members of their immediate family
and (c) other Affiliates of the Company, with no share of Common Stock being counted more than once; provided, however, that
the Common Stock beneficially owned by any stockholder in excess of ten percent (10%) of the outstanding Common Stock as set
forth in the beneficial ownership table in the Company’s most recent proxy statement filed with the SEC and who continues to own
in excess of ten percent (10%) of the outstanding Common Stock as of the date of this Agreement shall be included in the definition
of Public Float for so long as such stockholder does not increase such stockholder’s beneficial ownership of Common Stock
through the acquisition of Equity Interests from or after the date of this Agreement in an aggregate amount that exceeds two percent
(2%) of all outstanding Common Stock. For the avoidance of doubt, in the calculation of Public Float, but not for purposes of
determining whether or not the shares of a Person beneficially owning in excess of ten percent (10%) of the outstanding Common
Stock are included in the calculation of Public Float, shares of Common Stock underlying stock options or other equity awards
issued to directors or executive officers shall not be treated as beneficially owned by such directors or executive officers unless and
until such options or other equity awards are exercised or settled.
“Records” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a)(xi).
“Registrable Amount” means an amount of Registrable Securities having an aggregate value of at least $5 million (based on
the anticipated offering price (as reasonably determined in good faith by the Company)), without regard to any underwriting
discount or commission, or such lesser amount of Registrable Securities as would result in the disposition of all of the Registrable
Securities Beneficially Owned by the applicable Requesting Shareholder(s); provided, that such lesser amount shall have an
aggregate value of at least $2 million (based on the anticipated offering price (as reasonably determined in good faith by the
Company)), without regard to any underwriting discount or commission.
“Registrable Securities” means any and all (i) Warrant or Warrant Share, (ii) other stock or securities that Amazon or its
subsidiaries may be entitled to receive, or will have received, pursuant to its ownership of the Warrant or Warrant Shares, in lieu of
or in addition to shares of Common Stock, and (iii) Equity Securities issued or issuable directly or indirectly with respect to the
securities referred to in the foregoing clause (i) or (ii) by way of conversion or exchange thereof or share dividend or share split or
in connection with a combination of shares, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation or
other reorganization. As to any particular securities constituting Registrable Securities, such securities shall cease to be Registrable
Securities when they (x) have been effectively registered or qualified for sale by prospectus filed under the Securities Act and
disposed of in accordance with the registration statement covering such securities, or (y) may be sold pursuant to Rule 144 without
regard to volume limitations or other restrictions on transfer thereunder. For purposes of this Agreement, a Person shall be deemed
to be a holder of Registrable Securities whenever such Person has the right to acquire directly or indirectly such Registrable
Securities (upon conversion or exercise in connection with a transfer of securities or otherwise, but disregarding any restrictions or
limitations upon the exercise of such right), whether or not such acquisition has actually been effected.
“Representatives” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(d)(i).
“Requested Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.9(a).

“Requesting Shareholders” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(a).
“Requisite Stockholder Approval” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(a).
“SEC Reports” means the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company’s
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2017, June 30, 2017 and September 30, 2017, or its other
reports, statements and forms (including exhibits and other information incorporated therein) filed with or furnished to the
Commission under Sections 13(a), 14(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, in each case after December 31, 2016.
“Securities Act” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(d)(iii).
“Selling Shareholders” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.7(a)(i).
“Shelf Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(a).
“Shelf Offering” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(f).
“Shelf Registration Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(a).
“Significant Stockholder” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.4(d).
“SOX” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(e)(v).
“SRO” means any (i) ”self-regulatory organization” as defined in Section 3(a)(26) of the Exchange Act, (ii) other United
States or foreign securities exchange, futures exchange, commodities exchange or contract market or (iii) other securities exchange.
“Standstill Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(a).
“subsidiary” means, with respect to such Person, any foreign or domestic entity, whether incorporated or unincorporated, of
which (i) such Person or any other subsidiary of such Person is a general partner, (ii) at least a majority of the voting power to elect
a majority of the directors or others performing similar functions with respect to such other entity is directly or indirectly owned or
controlled by such person or by any one or more of such person’s subsidiaries, or (iii) at least fifty percent (50%) of the equity
interests or which are is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such Person or by any one or more of such Person’s
subsidiaries.
“Take-Down Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.3(f).
“Tax Advisor” means a “Big Four” accounting firm that is selected by the Company.
“Transaction Documents” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(c).
“Transaction Litigation” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(e).
“Transfer” means (i) any direct or indirect offer, sale, lease, assignment, encumbrance, pledge, grant of a security interest,
hypothecation, disposition or other transfer (by operation of law or otherwise), either voluntary or involuntary, or entry into any
contract, option or other arrangement or understanding with respect to any offer, sale, lease, assignment, encumbrance, pledge,
hypothecation, disposition or other transfer (by operation of law or otherwise), of any capital stock or interest in any capital stock
or (ii) in respect of any capital stock or interest in any capital stock, the entry into any swap or any other

agreement, transaction or series of transactions that hedges or transfers, in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, the economic
consequence of ownership of such capital stock or interest in capital stock, whether any such swap, agreement, transaction or series
of transaction is to be settled by delivery of securities, in cash or otherwise.
“Transferee” means a Person to whom a Transfer is made or is proposed to be made.
“Underwritten Offering” means a sale of securities of the Company to an underwriter or underwriters for reoffering to the
public.
“Voting Securities” means shares of Common Stock of the Company and any other securities of the Company entitled to
vote generally in the election of directors of the Company.
“Voting Threshold” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4(a).
“Warrant” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.
“Warrant Issuance” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.
“Warrant Shares” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.

ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS
Termination of This Agreement; Other Triggers.

8.1
a.

This Agreement may be terminated at any time:

with the prior written consent of each of Amazon and the Company; or
ii.
if the Initial Antitrust Clearance shall not have been obtained on or prior to the date that is six (6) months
after the latest date of the Initial Antitrust Filings, by Amazon, provided that Amazon may not exercise the termination right
pursuant to this Section 8.1(a)(ii) if a breach by Amazon of any obligation, representation or warranty under this Agreement
has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the Initial Antitrust Clearance to have been obtained on or prior to the
date that is six (6) months after the latest date of the Initial Antitrust Filings; or
iii.
if the Requisite Stockholder Approval shall not have been obtained at the first annual meeting of the
Company Stockholders after the date of this Agreement, by Amazon with prior written notice delivered to the Company not
later than the ninetieth (90th) day after the date of such meeting (or the date to which such meeting is postponed or
adjourned in accordance with Section 3.4(a)).
i.

b.
In the event of termination of this Agreement as provided in this Section 8.1, this Agreement (other than
Section 1.3 (Interpretation), Article II (Representations and Warranties), Section 3.1(f), Section 3.2 (Public Announcements),
Section 3.3 (Expenses), Section 4.1 (Acquisition for Investment) (to the extent any Warrant Shares have been issued prior to
termination), Section 4.2 (Legend) (to the extent any Warrant Shares have been issued prior to termination), Article V
(Governance), Article VI (Registration) and this Article VIII, each of which shall survive any termination of this Agreement)

shall forthwith become void and there shall be no liability on the part of any party, except that nothing herein shall relieve any party
from liability for any breach of this Agreement prior to such termination.
Without affecting in any manner any prior exercise of the Warrant, in the event of termination of this
Agreement as provided in this Section 8.1, the unvested portion of the Warrant shall be canceled and terminated and shall forthwith
become void and the Company shall have no subsequent obligation to issue, and the Warrantholder (as defined in the Warrant) shall
have no subsequent right to acquire, any Warrant Shares pursuant to such canceled portion of the Warrant. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Warrant shall remain in full force and effect with respect to the vested portion thereof (exclusive of any portion with
respect to which Requisite Stockholder Approval was required but not obtained), and nothing in this Section 8.1 shall affect the
ability of the NV Investment Holdings to exercise such vested portion of the Warrant following termination of this Agreement.
c.

8.2
Amendment. No amendment of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless made in writing and
signed by a duly authorized officer of each party.
8.3
Waiver of Conditions. The conditions to any party’s obligation to consummate any transaction contemplated
herein are for the sole benefit of such party and may be waived by such party in whole or in part to the extent permitted by
Applicable Law. No waiver shall be effective unless it is in writing signed by a duly authorized officer of the waiving party that
makes express reference to the provision or provisions subject to such waiver.
8.4
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of separate counterparts, each such counterpart
being deemed to be an original instrument, and all such counterparts shall together constitute the same agreement. Executed
signature pages to this Agreement may be transmitted electronically by “pdf” file and such pdf files shall be deemed as sufficient as
if actual signature pages had been delivered.

Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. This Agreement shall be governed by,
and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without regard to any choice or conflict of law
provision or rule (whether of the State of New York or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any
jurisdiction other than the State of New York. In addition, each of the parties (a) expressly submits to the personal jurisdiction and
venue of the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York or any New York State court sitting in the Borough
of Manhattan, City of New York and appellate courts having jurisdiction of appeals from any of the foregoing (the “Chosen
Courts”), in the event any dispute (whether in contract, tort or otherwise) arises out of this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby, (b) expressly waives any claim of lack of personal jurisdiction or improper venue and any claims that such
courts are an inconvenient forum, and (c) agrees that it shall not bring any claim, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or
the transactions contemplated hereby in any court other than the Chosen Courts. Each party hereby irrevocably consents to the
service of process of any of the aforementioned courts in any such suit, action or proceeding by the mailing of copies thereof by
registered or certified mail or by overnight courier service, postage prepaid, to its address set forth in Section 8.6, such service to
become effective 10 days after such mailing. EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY
APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY CLAIM, ACTION OR
PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT
OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. EACH PARTY (i) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE,
AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE,
8.5

THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING
WAIVER AND (ii) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT, BY, AMONG
OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 8.5.
Notices. Any notice, request, instruction or other document to be given hereunder by any party to the other shall
be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (a) if sent by registered or certified mail in the United States return
receipt requested, upon receipt, (b) if sent by nationally recognized overnight air courier, one Business Day after mailing, (c) if sent
by email or facsimile transmission, with a copy mailed on the same day in the manner provided in clauses (a) or (b) of this
Section 8.6 when transmitted and receipt is confirmed, or (d) if otherwise actually personally delivered, when delivered. All notices
hereunder shall be delivered as set forth below, or pursuant to such other instructions as may be designated in writing by the party
to receive such notice.
8.6

If to the Company, to:
Name:
StarTek, Inc.
Address: 8200 E. Maplewood Ave., Suite 100
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
Email:
Doug Tackett
Attn:
Doug.Tackett@startek.com
with a copy to (which copy alone shall not constitute notice):
Name:
Jenner & Block LLP
Address: 353 N. Clark Street
Chicago, IL 60654-3456
Fax:
(312) 840-8711
Email:
tmonson@jenner.com
Attn:
Thomas A. Monson
and
Name:
Jenner & Block LLP
Address: 919 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Fax:
(212) 909-0882
Email:
mglass@jenner.com
Attn:
Martin C. Glass
and
if to Amazon, to:
Name:

Amazon.com NV Investment Holdings LLC
c/o Amazon.com, Inc.
Address: 410 Terry Avenue
North Seattle, WA 98109-5210
Fax:
206) 266-7010

Attn:

General Counsel

with a copy to (which copy alone shall not constitute notice):
Name:
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
Address: 1888 Century Park East, Suite 2100
Los Angeles, CA 90067
Fax:
(212) 558-1600
Email:
krautheimere@sullcrom.com
Attn:
Eric Krautheimer
and
Name:
Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
Address: 125 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004
Fax:
(212) 558-1600
Email:
veeraraghavank@sullcrom.com
Attn:
Krishna Veeraraghavan
8.7
Entire Agreement, Etc. This Agreement (including the Schedules, Exhibits and Annexes hereto) and the other
Transaction Documents, the Commercial Arrangements and the Confidentiality Agreement constitute the entire agreement, and
supersede all other prior agreements, understandings, representations and warranties, both written and oral, between the parties,
with respect to the subject matter hereof. No party shall take, or cause to be taken, including by entering into agreements or other
arrangements with provisions or obligations that conflict, or purport to conflict, with the terms of the Transaction Documents or any
of the transactions contemplated thereby, any action with either an intent or effect of impairing any such other person’s rights under
any of the Transaction Documents.
8.8
Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any right, remedy, obligation nor liability arising hereunder or by reason
hereof shall be assignable by any party without the prior written consent of the other party, and any attempt to assign any right,
remedy, obligation or liability hereunder without such consent shall be void, except that Amazon may transfer or assign, in whole
or from time to time in part, to one or more of its direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiaries, its rights and/or obligations under
this Agreement, but any such transfer or assignment shall not relieve Amazon of its obligations hereunder. Subject to the preceding
sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective
successors and assigns.
8.9
Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or a Transaction Document, or the application thereof to any
person or circumstance, is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining
provisions hereof, or the application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it has been held
invalid or unenforceable, shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated thereby, so
long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby is not affected in any manner materially
adverse to any party. Upon such determination, the parties shall negotiate in good faith in an effort to agree upon a suitable and
equitable substitute provision to effect the original intent of the parties.
8.10
No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to confer
upon any person other than the parties (and any wholly owned subsidiary of Amazon to which an assignment is made in accordance
with this Agreement) any benefits, rights, or remedies.

8.11
Specific Performance. The parties agree that failure of any party to perform its agreements and covenants
hereunder, including a party’s failure to take all actions as are necessary on such party’s part in accordance with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby, will cause irreparable injury to the other party,
for which monetary damages, even if available, will not be an adequate remedy. It is agreed that the parties shall be entitled to
equitable relief including injunctive relief and specific performance of the terms hereof, without the requirement of posting a bond
or other security, and each party hereby consents to the issuance of injunctive relief by any court of competent jurisdiction to
compel performance of a party’s obligations and to the granting by any court of the remedy of specific performance of such party’s
obligations hereunder, this being in addition to any other remedies to which the parties are entitled at law or equity.

***

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the duly authorized officers of the
parties as of the date first herein above written.
STARTEK, INC.
By: /s/ Don Norsworthy
Name: Don Norsworthy
Title: CFO
AMAZON.COM, INC.
By: /s/ Alex Ceballos Encarnacion
Name: Alex Ceballos Encarnacion
Title: Vice President

Schedule 5.1(a)
1. Basic Financial Information and Reporting.
A. As soon as practicable after the end of each fiscal year of the Company, and in any event within ninety (90) days
thereafter, the Company shall furnish Amazon with a balance sheet and equity capitalization table of the Company, as of the end of
such fiscal year, a statement of income, a statement of stockholders’ equity, and a statement of cash flows of the Company and
accompanying notes to the financial statements, for such year, all audited and prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently
applied (except as noted therein) and setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all in
reasonable detail. Such financial statements shall be accompanied by an audit report and opinion thereon by independent public
accountants of national standing selected by the Board.
B. The Company shall furnish Amazon as soon as practicable after the end of the first, second and third quarterly
accounting periods in each fiscal year of the Company, and in any event within forty-five (45) days thereafter, a balance sheet and
equity capitalization table of the Company as of the end of each such quarterly period, and a statement of income and a statement
of cash flows of the Company for such period and for the current fiscal year to date, prepared in accordance with GAAP
consistently applied (except as noted therein or as disclosed to the recipients thereof), with the exception that no notes need be
attached to such statements and year-end audit adjustments may not have been made. In order to facilitate Amazon’s compliance
with its public reporting requirements, the Company shall deliver the financial statements described in this Schedule 5.1(a) to
Amazon, together with a certification that, to the Company’s knowledge, (i) such interim financial statements are fairly stated, in all
material respects, in accordance with GAAP for the periods presented, applied on the same basis as the Company’s audited
financial statements as of and for the most recent fiscal year end, and reflect all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the
interim financial statements, subject to the exceptions noted on an exhibit to such certification and (ii) that the Company has made
available to Amazon the information required by Section 5.1 of this Agreement. In addition, to facilitate Amazon’s compliance
with its public reporting requirements, the Company shall engage a nationally recognized accounting firm to perform quarterly
review procedures that result in the issuance of an independent accountant’s review report on the Company’s quarterly and year-todate balance sheet and statement of operations for the periods ending March 31, June 30 and September 30, which reports shall be
delivered within 45 days after the end of the quarter for with the report pertains. In order to facilitate Amazon’s compliance with its
public reporting requirements, the Company’s chief financial officer and chief accounting officer shall participate in one or more
teleconferences with Representatives of Amazon each quarter to review the financial statements previously delivered and discuss
significant transactions reflected for the period of the financial statements.
C. All financial information and budgets required under clauses (A) and (B) above shall consist of consolidated financial
statements (consolidating the Company and its subsidiaries) unless GAAP provides otherwise.
D. As soon as reasonably practicable, and in any event within 15 days after the issuance of the report, the Company shall
furnish to Amazon any 409A valuation reports that it prepares or causes to be prepared.
2. Inspection Rights. Subject to Section 5.1(b) of this Agreement, Amazon shall have the right to visit and inspect any of
the properties of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries with its officers, and to

review such information as is reasonably requested all at such reasonable business times, with reasonable advance notice and as
often as may be reasonably requested.
3. Other Materials. As soon as practicable (or otherwise as provided herein), the Company shall furnish Amazon with
copies of the following documents:
A. Material documents filed with governmental agencies, including, without limitation, the Internal Revenue Service and
the SEC, or any other documents or information requested by Amazon or necessary to support Amazon’s tax, accounting and SEC
reports and filings, including providing by February 15th of each year such information as is necessary to support Amazon’s tax
reporting obligations.
B. Notices regarding any default on any material loan or lease to which the Company is a party.
C. In addition, the Company shall furnish Amazon advance notice of (i) any dividend or other distribution to be paid by
the Company to holders of the Common Stock or (ii) any non-functional currency investments or loans.

EXHIBIT A
[Must be signed by an authorized representative of the Company] NOTICE AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT
Dear Sir or Madam,
1.

Our client Amazon.com Services, Inc. (“Amazon”) has requested that Duff & Phelps, LLC (“Duff & Phelps”) allow
StarTek, Inc. (“Recipient”) to use and rely on the Services and have access to Duff & Phelps’ advice and deliverables
related thereto, including any draft or final report (collectively, the “Duff & Phelps Materials”), as if the Duff & Phelps
Materials had been prepared for the use and benefit of Recipient. Amazon has also authorized Duff & Phelps, upon
reasonable request by Recipient, to provide explanations in relation to Duff & Phelps’ valuation estimates and the Duff &
Phelps Materials. Duff & Phelps acknowledges and agrees that Recipient will utilize the Duff & Phelps Materials solely for
the purpose of complying with its income tax treatment obligations set forth in Section 3.5 of the Transaction Agreement,
dated January 23, 2018, between Recipient and an affiliate of Amazon, including Recipient’s reporting of amounts on its tax
returns consistent with Section 3.5 and the valuation provided by Duff & Phelps (the “Purpose”).

In consideration for Recipient receiving Duff & Phelps Materials, Recipient acknowledges and agrees that:
a. The purpose of the Duff & Phelps Materials is to assist Amazon’s management in their estimation of the fair market
value / fair value of the respective warrants as of the closing date of the transaction for financial reporting and tax
reporting purposes. The preparation of the Duff & Phelps Materials was not planned or executed in contemplation of the
considerations of Recipient. Items of specific interest to Recipient may not have been specifically addressed in the Duff
& Phelps Materials.
b. No one is authorized by Duff & Phelps whether expressly or otherwise to make representations or reach an agreement in
relation to the conditions upon which access to the Duff & Phelps Materials are granted to Recipient or representations,
which are inconsistent with or vary or add to the terms and conditions set out in this letter.
c. Duff & Phelps, its managing directors, employees, and agents neither warrant nor represent that the information in the
Duff & Phelps Materials nor contained in any oral explanation is sufficient or appropriate for Recipient’s Purpose.
d. The analysis and range of values presented in the Duff & Phelps Materials are based on information supplied by the
management of Amazon and other information obtained during the course of Duff & Phelps’ work, and Duff & Phelps
does not give any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of such information.
e. Duff & Phelps has not conducted an audit of the financial statements of Amazon and has not independently verified the
information provided by Amazon management.
Nothing contained herein shall impose upon Duff & Phelps any obligation to amend, supplement, revise or update the Duff &
Phelps Materials, or to advise Recipient of any such amendment, supplement, revision or update of the Duff & Phelps Materials
which Duff & Phelps might effect, subsequent to the date of the Duff & Phelps Materials.

2.

3.

Recipient agrees that none of Duff & Phelps, its managing directors, employees, or staff neither owe nor accept any duty to
Recipient, whether in contract or in tort (including without limitation, negligence and breach of statutory duty) or
howsoever otherwise arising, and shall not be liable, in respect of any loss damage or expense of whatsoever nature which
is caused by Recipient’s reliance upon the Duff & Phelps Materials or representations made in relation thereto or which is

otherwise consequent upon Recipient’s access to the Duff & Phelps Materials or receipt of such representations except for
the fraud or willful misconduct of Duff & Phelps. Recipient acknowledges and agrees that it will be responsible for any
damages suffered by Duff & Phelps as a result of its failure to comply with the terms of this letter.
4.

Recipient shall not use the Duff & Phelps Materials or any information provided by Duff & Phelps for any purpose other
than as stated herein.

5.

Recipient shall not allow access to the Duff & Phelps Materials, or give information obtained from the Duff & Phelps
Materials or from representations made by Duff & Phelps in relation thereto, to any other party except its affiliates, officers,
directors and employees and professional legal and tax advisers who need to know such information for the Purpose (it
being understood and agreed that each Recipient will advise such persons of the confidential nature of the Duff & Phelps
Materials and the applicable Recipient will instruct such persons to keep them confidential).

6.

Nothing included in the Duff & Phelps Materials or in any related correspondence or discussions is or should be relied upon
as a promise or representation as to the future.

7.

This letter sets out the entire understanding of the parties in relation to the conditions upon which access to the Duff &
Phelps Materials is granted to Recipient upon which representations in relation thereto are made and supplants all prior
representations, if any, made by Duff & Phelps in relation to the said conditions.
Please acknowledge your acceptance of the foregoing by signing and returning to us a copy of this letter.

Very truly yours,
AMAZON.COM, INC.
By: ____________________________
Name:
Title:

Accepted and Agreed to on this _____ day of ____, 20___ by:

STARTEK, INC.

By: ____________________________
Name:
Title:

ANNEX A
Form of Warrant
Warrant has been filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 10-Q for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2018

DISCLOSURE SCHEDULES
TO
TRANSACTION AGREEMENT
These Disclosure Schedules are made and given pursuant to that certain Transaction Agreement, dated as of January 23,
2018, by and between StarTek, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Amazon.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
Section 2.2(b)
Capitalization
1.

Investor Rights Agreement dated as of February 13, 2004 between StarTek, Inc., A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr. and Toni E. Stephenson.

2.

Amendment to Investor Rights Agreement dated as of February 1, 2014 between StarTek, Inc., A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr. and Toni E.
Stephenson.

3.

Settlement and Standstill Agreement dated May 5, 2011 by and among Privet Fund LP, Privet Fund Management LLC, Ryan Levenson,
Ben Rosenzweig, A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr., Toni E. Stephenson and StarTek, Inc.

4.

Nomination and Standstill Agreement dated March 19, 2015 by and among Engine Capital, L.P., Engine Jet Capital, L.P., P Engine
Ltd., Engine Capital Management, LLC, Engine Investments, LLC, Arnaud Ajdler and StarTek, Inc.
Section 2.2(j)

Related Party Transactions
1.

See the items listed with respect to Section 2.2(b).

EXHIBIT 31.1
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION
I, Chad A. Carlson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of StarTek, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 8, 2018

/s/ CHAD A. CARLSON
Chad A. Carlson
President and Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION
I, Don Norsworthy, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of StarTek, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 8, 2018

/s/ DON NORSWORTHY
Don Norsworthy
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS
In connection with the Quarterly Report of StarTek, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2018, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned individuals, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:
1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Registrant.

Date: May 8, 2018

/s/ CHAD A. CARLSON
Chad A. Carlson
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 8, 2018

/s/ DON NORSWORTHY
Don Norsworthy
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Corporation and will be
retained by the Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

